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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwaoabking statements” that involve risks and uncetta# as well as
assumptions that, if they never materialize or prime¢orrect, could cause our results to differ mallg from those expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Theesteents contained in this Annual Report on FornKfat are not purely
historical are forward-looking statements withie theaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act@33, as amended, or
Securities Act, and Section 21E of the SecuritieshEnge Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Aich $rward-looking
statements include any expectation of earninggmae or other financial items; any statements @flans, strategies and
objectives of management for future operationgofacthat may affect our operating results; statémeelated to adding
employees; statements related to potential berwdfitse acquisition of substantially all of the etssof Unicorn Media, Inc. and
certain of its subsidiaries; statements relatddtire capital expenditures; statements relatddttoe economic conditions or
performance; statements as to industry trends Hret matters that do not relate strictly to histakifacts or statements of
assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Fodalaoking statements are often identified by the aswords such as, but
not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “attinue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”thay,” “will,” “plan,”
“project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” and similar expressions or variations intenttedlentify forward-looking
statements. These statements are based on this belitassumptions of our management based omiafmm currently
available to management. Such forward-looking statés are subject to risks, uncertainties and athgortant factors that
could cause actual results and the timing of aeeaents to differ materially from future resuligpeessed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Factors that could eaarscontribute to such differences include, batreot limited to, those
identified below, and those discussed in the sadiiled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Parf this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and the risks discussed in our otheuBges and Exchange Commission, or SEC, filingstifermore, such
forward-looking statements speak only as of the déthis report. Except as required by law, weaitake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements to refleengés or circumstances after the date of such stattsmForward-looking
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K nmjuide statements about:

”ou ” o« ”ou ” w ” ” o, ” o

e our ability to achieve profitability;

e our competitive position and the effect of conipst in our industry;

e our ability to retain and attract new customers;

e our ability to penetrate existing markets andaliey new markets for our services;
* our ability to integrate Unicorn products withdéio Cloud,;

e our ability to retain or hire qualified accourgiand other personnel;

« our ability to protect our intellectual propedwyd operate our business without infringing upaittellectual property
rights of others;

« our ability to maintain the security and reliatyilof our systems;
e our estimates with regard to our future perforogaand total potential market opportunity;

* our estimates regarding our anticipated resiltperations, future revenue, capital requiremants our needs for
additional financing; and

e our goals and strategies.
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PART |

Item 1. Business
Overview

Brightcove Inc., or Brightcove, is a leading globabvider of cloud-based services for video. Briglve was incorporated
in Delaware in August 2004 and our headquarterinaB®ston, Massachusetts. Brightcove Video Clawd/ideo Cloud, our
flagship product released in 2006, is the worldading online video platform. As of December 31120ve had 6,318
customers in over 70 countries, including manyhefworld’s leading media, retail, technology anwhficial services
companies, as well as governments, educationautishs and non-profit organizations. In 2013, oustomers used Video
Cloud to deliver an average of approximately 96Bioni video streams per month, which we believen@re video streams per
month than any other professional solution.

Video Cloud enables our customers to publish asttidute video to Internet-connected devices quickbsily and in a
cost-effective and high-quality manner. Our inndxatechnology and intuitive user interface givetamers control over a
wide range of features and functionality needepluiolish and deliver a compelling user experientguiding content
management, format conversion, video player stylitigfributed caching, advertising insertion, confgrotection and
distribution to diverse device types and multiplebsites, including their own websites, partner wiebsnd social media sites.
Video Cloud also includes comprehensive analyties allow customers to understand and refine grggagement with end
users.

The Zencoder media processing service, or the ZEmc®ervice, is a cloud-based video encoding serfice Zencoder
Service provides our customers with high-qualigfiable encoding of live and on-demand video armss to highly-scalable
encoding power without having to pay for, manage scale expensive hardware and software.

On January 31, 2014, we acquired substantiallgfalie assets Unicorn Media, Inc. and certaino$itbsidiaries, or
Unicorn, a provider of cloud-based video ad insertechnology. The Unicorn Once service, re-braregeBrightcove Once, is
an innovative, cloud-based ad insertion and vididchéng service which addresses the limitationgradlitional online video ad
insertion technology. Brightcove Once, or Onceupes or eliminates the need for platform-specifitechnology and makes it
possible for customers to reliably deliver liveasrdemand video with dynamically customized prograngy and targeted
advertising to the maximum range of Internet-coteeclevices. We plan to continue to develop, opegatpport and promote
Once in its current form in the near term. We gl&m to integrate Once with our Video Cloud prodmegr time.

We generate revenue by offering our products ttoousrs on a subscription-based, software as acggmi SaaS, model.
Our revenue grew from $88.0 million in the year@&h@ecember 31, 2012 to $109.9 million in the ywated December 31,
2013. As of December 31, 2012, we had 6,367 cuswroéwhich 4,742 used our volume offerings ar@2%,used our
premium offerings. As of December 31, 2013, we 6&4.8 customers, of which 4,556 used our volumeriffjs and 1,762
used our premium offerings. To date, substantalllpf our revenue has been attributable to oue¥i€loud product. Our
consolidated net loss was $10.2 million for therymaded December 31, 2013 compared to $12.5 miltiothe year ended
December 31, 2012.

Our Solutions
Our solutions provide our customers with the follagvkey benefits:

e Comprehensive, highly configurable and scalabletsmhs. Video Cloud includes all of the features neags$o
publish and distribute video online to a broad mnfjinternet-connected devices in a high-qualignnmer. Once further
enables cloud-based video ad insertion for comtistitibuted to almost any Internet-connected devite Zencoder
Service includes all of the functionality necessargncode digital files and convert them into deviange of formats
a high-quality manner. In addition, our multi-tebarnchitecture enables us to deliver each of olutisms across our
customer base with a single version of our softviar@ach product, making it easier to scale olutsms as our
customer and end user base expands.
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Easy to use and low total cost of owners. Video Cloud, the Zencoder Service and Once \esigned to be intuitive
and easy to use, empowering anyone within an azgtian to distribute video online and encode didites. We
provide reliable, cost-effective, on-demand sohsito our customers, relieving them of the costetand resources
associated with in-house solutions and enablinmtteebe up and running quickly after signing with u

Open platform and extensive ecosystexideo Cloud’s open and extensible platform eaaldur customers to
customize standard features and functionality asilyeintegrate third-party technology to meet tlwvn specific
requirements and business objectives. We havetangxe ecosystem of technology and solution pestivehich we
refer to as the Brightcove Alliance. More than Bsjhtcove Alliance members have built solutionattrely upon, or
are already integrated with, our Video Cloud platfoThis ecosystem includes large technology serpioviders such
as Adobe and Google, many providers of niche teldigiycservices, creative agencies and digital dearaknt shops.
These integrated technologies provide our customithsenhanced flexibility, functionality and easkuse.

Help customers grow their audience and generatemag. Our customers use our products to achieve keinbss
objectives such as driving site traffic, increasingwer engagement on their sites, monetizing atniecreasing
conversion rates for transactions, increasing beavareness and expanding their audiences. VideadGod Once
provide our customers with video advertising feasusuch as tools for ad insertion and built-inergter and network
integrations, which help our customers generateriding revenue from their audience. We believeaustomers vie\
us as a strategic partner in part because ourdasimodel is not dependent on building our owneagdi or generating
our own advertising revenue. Our business inteadgs with our customers’ interests as we eactefiefiom the
success of our customers’ online strategy.

Ongoing customer-driven developmenthrough our account managers, customer supgamig, product managers ¢
regular outreach from senior leadership, we sddicit capture feedback from our customer base éorjoration into
ongoing enhancements to our solutions. We regufadyide our customers with enhancements to Videod; the
Zencoder Service and Once. Delivering cloud-basédiens allows us to serve additional customets Vifitle
incremental expense and to deploy innovations a&stl firactices quickly and efficiently to our exigticustomers.

Our Business Strengths

We believe that the following business strengtlifedintiate us from our competitors and are kegupsuccess:

We are the recognized online video platform maléader. In 2013, our customers used Video Cloud to éelan
average of approximately 963 million video stregrasmonth, which we believe is more video streasrsyonth than
any other professional solution. Frost & Sullivaveaded us the Global Market Share Leadership Awafdnline
Video Platforms in 2011 and 2012. In 2013, we wemdgnized by Forrester Research as having theehestprise
track record and partner and support ecosystentamgoetitive assessment of online video platforamnsl, we topped a
similar assessment of online video platforms andN€bBy ABI Research in 2012. In 2012 and 2013, weeve¢so
selected to the Deloitte Technology Fast 500 list.

We have a demonstrated track record of innovatiwh @chnology leadershipWe pioneered the commercialization of
online video platforms beginning with our first ¢oiser deployment in 2006. We have consistentlyasstd new
features and functionality that have added to amgtoved our core technology. For example, althoughnitially built
Video Cloud with a focus on delivering video to Pz Adobe Flash technology, with the emergencenadrtphones,
we quickly adapted our platform’s capabilities tmble multi-device delivery using both Adobe Flasid HTML5
technologies. Also, in April 2011, we were issudd.&. patent covering aspects of publishing anttibiging digital
media online. In addition, through the Unicorn saction, we acquired fourteen issued U.S. patenisaven issued
international patents covering various aspectsafdzbased stream delivery and ad insertion, anodingr things.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

We have established a global presend&'e have established a global presence, begimithgour first non-U.S.
customer in 2007, and continuing with the expansibour operations into Europe, Japan, Asia Paaifid the Middle
East. We built our solutions to be localized into@st any language and currently offer 24/7 custosngport
worldwide. Today, we have employees in nine coastrAs of December 31, 2013, organizations througtie world
used Video Cloud to reach viewers in approxima®d§ countries and territories.

We have high visibility and predictability in ounsiness We sell our subscription and support servicesuth
monthly, quarterly or annual contracts and recagnivenue ratably over the committed term. The rigjof our
revenue comes from annual contracts. Our existimgracts provide us with visibility into revenueatthas not yet been
recognized. We have also achieved an overall negudollar retention rate of at least 84% in eatthe last eight fisc:
quarters, including 97%, 103%, 91% and 84% fortlinee months ended March 31, 2013, June 30, 2@&ReMber 3(
2013 and December 31, 2013, respectively. Our basimodel and customer loyalty provide greateldeserecurring
revenue and predictability compared to traditiopakpetual-license business models.

We have customers of all sizes across multiplesimighs. We offer different editions of our products ¢aéd to meet
the needs of organizations of various sizes, framgd global enterprises to small and medium-sizesihlesses, across
industries. Our offerings range from self-serviestry-level editions to enterprise-level editiosed by multiple
departments in a single organization.

Our management team has experience building anhgcsoftware companies Our senior leadership team has built
innovative software platform businesses. Membeuofsenior leadership team have held senior ptpusiness and
technology roles at companies such as Adobe, All&MC, Lycos, Macromedia and Phase Forward.

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2013, we had 6,318 customeadl sizes in over 70 countries. We provide our 8ohs to many of the
world’s leading media, retail, technology and fio@hservices companies, as well as governmentgatidnal institutions and
non-profit organizations. Our target markets areaomfined to certain industries or geographiewasre focused on providing
solutions that can benefit any organization withedsite or digital content.

Our Products and Services

Video Cloud

Principal Features and Functionality

Uploading and Encoding Using Video Cloud, customers may upload videus r@lated metadata in various formats
for adaptive video encoding that maximizes qualitg minimizes file size. Video Cloud then autorradticenables the
content to be delivered to end users via a thimlyg@DN such as Akamai or Limelight Networks.

Content ManagementWhether a customer has a few short video clighausands of full-length episodes, Video
Cloud makes it easy to organize a media librardeds can be grouped together with drag-and-drofvaleror smart
playlists that automatically organize content. Gustrs can set rules for geographic access andudelsgd define
where and when their videos can be viewed.

Video Players Video Cloud allows for point-and-click styling@ configuration of video players that can refldnet
brand or design of the customer with tools for coszing colors and graphics. Our video players aistude a set of
standard features such as full-screen playbackinghtihrough social media and localized player oaat Developers
can also take advantage of a set of tools to coeatgletely custom video player experiences.

Multi-platform video experiencesWe have built Video Cloud to support numerousrafing systems, formats and
devices. In addition to web-based experiences,d/leud provides publishing and delivery serviaasdross-platform
devices including smartphones, tablets and
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Connected TVs. Our solution includes automatedadesietection and manages multiple renditions oftme video
encoded in different forms with optimized delivgmptocols for different target formats. Our natplayer SDKs exten
the native video player capabilities of Apple iQ®la&00gle Android devices with additional functittyaand
integrations that can accelerate the developmehigbfquality consumer experiences. These natisggrlSDKs have
built-in support for mixed video types and automdtiffering, and have been integrated with leadidgertising,
analytics, audience measurement and digital rigtsisagement providers.

Live Video Streamin. In addition to on-demand video distribution, ®@Cloud includes support for live video
broadcasts. Video Cloud accepts multiple streandifferent quality levels and delivers the renditiat attempts to
best match each viewer’s available bandwidth, geoeutilization and player size.

Distribution and Syndicatio. Video Cloud supports a blended distributiontstyg across the Internet, allowing
customers to distribute videos on their own webgitetner websites or video-sharing sites suchasivbe. These
tools help content owners to drive site trafficrimase brand awareness and expand their audience.

Social Media Customers can expand their audience by levegabmsocial network of their viewers. Through
integrated Video Cloud capabilities, users caneshateos through Facebook and other social meditnd¢ions.

Advertising and Monetizatic. Video Cloud can help customers grow and mongtieg audience with video
advertising features such as tools for ad insestaord built-in ad server and network integratidfideo Cloud includes
tools to support synchronized in-player advertisiith embedded link functionality and overlays farsistent
branding. Video Cloud also supports establishedwiald formats, and accommodates pre-, mid- andrplbstds with
tools to easily define insertion points.

Analytics. Video Cloud’s integrated video analytics presafdrmation to optimize and support customersimal
video publishing and distribution strategy. Repantdude audience metrics such as unique viewechtnology profile
details about operating systems and devices, agagement analytics such as viewed minutes and affaptes.
Online publishers can also choose to integrateamglytics solutions such as Adobe Omniture or Godglalytics into
their video experiences.

Editions

Video Cloud is offered to customers on a subsaipbased SaaS model in premium and volume editaandescribed
below, that include varying levels of functionalitysage entitlements and support. Our customersipaymonthly, quarterly or
annual subscription fee for access to Video Cldins model allows our customers to scale theirllef@nvestment and usage
based on the size and complexity of their needscuivieently offer Video Cloud in the following editis:

Video Cloud Express Express is an entry-level volume edition of \dd&oud designed for small and medium-sized
businesses or larger organizations looking to meusagaller projects. Customers may initiate a tidine and license
Express entirely online using a credit card. Mdsiuwr Express customers are on month-to-month sighemns. The
Express edition includes functionality for basiofeissional online video publishing but excludeseambed
customization and integration capabilities andaseligible for advanced adoh services. The Express edition limits
volume of video that can be published and the viship capacity for the content, but customers hhgeption of
purchasing additional capacity.

Video Cloud Pra Pro is a premium edition of Video Cloud desigmeth functionality needed to customize a
customer’s online video experience, advanced mpoaigin features and more capacity for content fibssand
viewership. Most of our Pro customers sign up famual or longer subscriptions. These customershaise access to a
broader range of add-on services as well as ated&gghtcove Alliance member products and services
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« Video Cloud Enterprise Enterprise is a premium edition of Video Clowsigined with all of the most advanced
features of Video Cloud, including certain capdieii necessary for large organizations running nveely properties,
advanced security features and advanced reposivices. Most of our Enterprise customers signan@hnual
subscriptions or for a longer period. Enterprismanhcludes significantly more capacity for largentent libraries.

Zencoder Service
Principal Features and Functionality

* File Suppori. The Zencoder Service accepts files in an extensinge of formats and codecs and supports vidgut
to a multitude of devices.

* Quality and Control The Zencoder Service includes tools to suppgtt fuality video output and to adjust and edit
video.

< Platform and Securit. The Zencoder Service is scalable, globally disted and includes advanced security features
designed to protect content.

e Account and Integratio. The Zencoder Service provides a simple API farasnlined integration, supports most major
transfer protocols and accelerated file transfacsallows users to manage their accounts and emggalds from an
intuitive, online dashboard.

Media processing for on-demand video transcodingrisewith an API request from a customer to thecoeler Service to
begin an encoding job, along with the locationha files to be encoded and any optional encodittjngs. The Zencoder
Service responds with an encoding job identifigatimmber to allow a customer to track the progoéske encoding. The
Zencoder Service then downloads the files and atstleem into as many applicable formats as theoousr has identified,
with each file being processed concurrently. Thecoeer Service uploads the resulting files to tuation identified by the
customer, such as a designated server, CDN orcatimh partner of the customer. The process entistivé Zencoder Service
sending a notification to the customer confirmihgttthe encoding is complete and the files have bpaded.

Media processing for live transcoding begins wittuatomer sending an API request and publishingMmRstream. The
Zencoder Service ingests the RTMP stream, conitddsnultiple bitrate streams in RTMP or HLS, gouablishes them to a
CDN location specified in the API call. As streabezome available for playback, the Zencoder Sersdcels HTTP
notifications with published bitrates and formats.

Editions

The Zencoder Service is offered to customers arbaciption-based SaaS model in premium and voleaiteons, as
described below, that include varying levels ofgesantitiements. Our customers pay us on a usage dmapay us a monthly or
annual subscription fee for access to the Zenc8derice. As with Video Cloud, this model allows @uistomers to scale their
level of investment and usage based on the size@nglexity of their needs.

We currently offer the Zencoder Service in thedwiing volume editions for on-demand video transogdPay-As-You-
Go, Launch, Traction and Growth. Pay-As-You-Goieditustomers pay fees based on the number of esraftoutput video
for video on demand transcoding. Launch, Tractioth @Growth edition customers pay a monthly subsonipfee that includes a
fixed number of minutes of output video per montith additional fees per minute of output video adthe number of
minutes included in the respective edition. Theuatd edition for live transcoding is a pay-as-yousffering based on the
number of monthly hours of transcoding.

The Zencoder Service is also available in premiurtegprise editions for both on-demand video tradswpand live
transcoding that includes a higher volume of esttignts and typically requires an annual or longbssription.
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Once
Principal Features and Functionality

Once is an innovative, cloud-based ad insertionvésheb stitching service which addresses the litioites of traditional
online video ad insertion technology. Once redurediminates the need for platform-specific achtemlogy and makes it
possible for customers to reliably deliver liveoordemand video with dynamically customized prograng and targeted
advertising to the maximum range of devices.

There are currently three Once offerings. OnceV@iides dynamic delivery and monetization for pramvideo-on-
demand content. OnceLIVE includes dynamic delivemgar ad replacement and ad insertion for livealcasts, events and
24/7 linear channels. OnceUX includes dynamic adrition, with associated rich client and interaethd capabilities delivered
via an AP| method.

Editions

Once is offered to customers on a subscription<&saS model, with varying levels of functionalitgage entitlements
and support based on the size and complexity aktbomer's needs.

Account Management

A crucial component of our sales strategy is owoant management organization. This organizatidodssed on ongoing
customer success and engagement, as well as rangfwealr customer contracts.

Professional Services

While our products are easy for customers to ugedeploy without any additional specialized sersjoge offer a range of
professional services for customers who seek cusition or assistance with their implementatiortsege professional
services are priced on a per project basis anddegbrojects such as content migrations from oteedors or in-house
solutions, video player enhancements and the oreafiweb pages optimized for video.

Support

All Video Cloud, Zencoder and Once editions recdiee basic support for technical and operatiosgiés. Our premium
editions generally include telephone support duriagmal business hours. We also offer 24/7 glodlaphone support to
customers paying for premium support packages.

Training

We offer free basic online training to all registgusers of Video Cloud. We also offer customizetjte training for
customers that is priced on a per engagement basis.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products primarily through our globakdt sales organization. Our sales team is orgalig the following
geographic regions: Americas, Europe and the Mi#idist, Asia Pacific and Japan. We further orgaoizesales force into
teams focused on selling to specific customer ggpbpsed on the size of our prospective custorsecs, as small, medium-
sized and enterprise, as well as vertical industrprovide a higher level of service and undeiditagp of our customers’
specific needs. A small but growing amount of salesgenerated through referral partners, chararéigrs and resellers. We
also sell some of our products online through oebsite.

We generate customer leads, accelerate sales opjpies and build brand awareness through our niak@rograms. Our
marketing programs target executives, technologyegsionals and senior business leaders. Likeales $eams, our marketing
team and programs are organized by geography, iaegam size and industry segment. Our principatkating programs
include:

e public relations and social media;
» online event marketing activities, direct ema#arch engine marketing and display advertisingéogs;

« field marketing events for customers and prospect






TABLE OF CONTENTS

e participation in, and sponsorship of, user caariees, trade shows and industry events;

« use of our website to provide product and orgaion information, as well as learning opporturstier potential
customers;

e cooperative marketing efforts with partners, intthg joint press announcements, joint trade shetwities, channel
marketing campaigns and joint seminars;

« telemarketing and lead generation representativesrespond to incoming leads to convert them i@ sales
opportunities; and

e customer programs, including user meetings amanoline customer community.

Operations

We operate data center facilities in the greatest@oarea, the greater Chicago area, Phoenix,\Wargand Amsterdam, and
also use third-party cloud computing platforms. Uperate our own servers for systems that manage-da¢d, business rules
and archival storage of media assets. We take tatyaiof geographically dispersed, third-party, dlcomputing capacity to
improve the responsiveness of our service and lowvork latency for our customers.

Media delivery to end users, including video, auditages, JavaScript and Adobe Flash componergsni®ed primarily
through our CDN providers, Akamai Technologies, llmc Akamai, and Limelight Networks, Inc., or Litight. We believe our
agreements with Akamai and Limelight are basedampetitive market terms and conditions, includiegvice level
commitments from these CDN providers.

We entered into our agreement with Akamai in J@gQ It enables us to use Akamai CDN services fiorown benefit and
to resell Akamai CDN services to our customersvierg geographic location in which we offer our puots. The current
expiration date of the agreement is December 314 .20

We entered into our agreement with Limelight in BtaR006. Our agreement with Limelight enables ussLimelight
CDN services for our own benefit and to resell Ligigt CDN services to our customers in every geplgi@location in which
we offer our products. The current expiration d#tthe agreement is March 31, 2014. We are engagexhewal discussions
with Limelight and believe the agreement will beeeed or the term of the agreement will be exteradgdn prior to March
31, 2014 or prior to the expiration of the sendoatinuation period described below.

Each agreement contains a service continuationgéoilowing expiration of the agreement which wadibve is sufficient
to enable transition to an alternative provideavoid material disruption to our business or to @ustomers. Our agreement
with Akamai provides that, upon termination for aegson, Akamai will continue to provide CDN seegdo our existing
customers for up to twelve months. Our agreemettt kimelight provides that, upon termination foryaseason, Limelight will
continue to provide CDN services for our benefitdp to six months.

Intellectual Property

We rely principally on a combination of trademapktent, copyright and trade secret laws in theddn8tates and other
jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedsiend contractual provisions to protect our prdarietechnology, confidential
information, business strategies and brands. Wehabeve that factors such as the technologicdlcaeative skills of our
employees and personnel coupled with the creafioew features, functionality and products are ef$akto establishing and
maintaining a technology leadership position. Wieeimto confidentiality and invention assignmegteements with our
employees and consultants and confidentiality agests with other third parties, and we rigorousintcol access to our
proprietary technology.

We have one issued patent and four patent apgliapending in the United States. Our issued patgrites in 2029 and
covers aspects of publishing and distributing digitedia online. We currently have patent applacgtipending in Europe,
Hong Kong and Japan, and we may seek coveragaliticadl jurisdictions to the extent we determinets coverage is
appropriate and cost-effective. Through the Unidesinsaction we acquired fourteen issued U.S. paterd seven issued
international patents covering aspects of cloucktiasream delivery and ad insertion, among othiegsh
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Our registered trademarks in the United Stateside!'BRIGHTCOVE”, “BRIGHTCOVE.COM” and our logo. Hse
trademarks are also registered in certain non-urBdictions, including the European Union. We nagoply for registrations
for these and other marks in additional jurisdictido the extent we determine such coverage iopppte and cost-effective.

We also have a registered trademark for “ZENCODERNhe United States, Canada and the European Union

Through the Unicorn transaction, we acquired cett@idemarks of Unicorn, including “UNICORN” and NCE”,
registered in the United States.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgylunauthorized parties may attempt to copy oaiakdnd use our
technology to develop products with the same fametiity as our solutions. Policing unauthorized oieur technology is
difficult and expensive. Our competitors could alstependently develop technologies equivalenuts,cand our intellectual
property rights may not be broad enough for uséwgnt competitors from selling products incorpimgthose technologies.

Competition

We compete with video-sharing sites such as You;Tubleouse solutions, online video platforms, mauliacessing
services and certain niche technology providerméof our actual and potential competitors may yommpetitive advantages
over us, such as larger marketing budgets, asasgjteater financial, technical and other resouies overall markets for
cloud-based solutions for media processing andighibh and distributing professional digital media fragmented, rapidly
evolving and highly competitive.

We expect that the competitive landscape will cleasgjour markets consolidate and mature. We believprincipal
competitive factors in our industry include theldaling:

e total cost of ownership;

e breadth and depth of product functionality;

e ability to innovate and respond to customer neapilly;

« level of resources and investment in sales, ntaudxeproduct and technology;
« ease of deployment and use of solutions;

< level of integration into existing workflows, cligurability, scalability and reliability;
e customer service;

e brand awareness and reputation;

< ability to integrate with third-party applicatismnd technologies;

e size and scale of provider; and

* size of customer base and level of user adoption.

The mix of factors relevant in any given situati@ries with regard to each prospective customerbglieve we compete
favorably with respect to all of these factors.

Some of our competitors have made or may make sitiguis or enter into partnerships or other striateglationships to
offer a more comprehensive service than we do.&hembinations may make it more difficult for usctimpete effectively,
including on the basis of price, sales and marggtimgrams, technology or service functionality. @¥pect these trends to
continue as organizations attempt to strengthenaintain their market positions.

Research and Development

We have focused our research and development®fiarexpanding the functionality and scalabilityoaf products and
enhancing their ease of use, as well as creatiwgoneduct offerings. We expect research and devedo expenses to increase
in absolute dollars as we intend to continue tall@ty release new features and functionality, expaur product offerings,
continue the localization of our products in
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various languages, upgrade and extend our serffizéngs, and develop new technologies. Over ting fierm, we believe that
research and development expenses as a perceftagerue will decrease, but will vary dependingmphe mix of revenue
from new and existing products, features and fometiity, as well as changes in the technology dliatproducts must support,
such as new operating systems or new Internet-coathelevices.

Our research and development expenses were $2Uidni$18.7 million and $15.3 million in 2013, 20%And 2011,
respectively, which included stock-based compeosakpenses of $1.2 million, $687,000 and $367,68Xpectively.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 347 employeeshafhw36 provided customer support services, 26igeal/professional
services, 95 were in research and developmentwe4d in sales and marketing and 49 were in geaachbdministrative
positions. Of these employees, 276 were locatéddrunited States and 71 were located outsidesobthited States. None of
our employees are represented by a labor unioowared by a collective bargaining agreement. Wesiciem our relationship
with our employees to be good.

Information about Segment and Geographic Revenue

Information about segment and geographic revensetiforth in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidat@thncial Statements
under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our website addresswenvw.brightcove.comOur Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those refiledsor furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) ofd)®f the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of changeugh the investor relations page of our intemabsite as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically $ileh material with, or furnish it to, the Secestiand Exchange Commission.
Alternatively, these reports may be accessed aBH{E&'s website abww.sec.gov

Iltem 1A.Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks describeldl and the other information in this Annual Repmr Form 10-K. Our
business, prospects, financial condition, or op@atesults could be harmed by any of these riaksyell as other risks not
currently known to us or that we currently considamaterial. If any of such risks and uncertaintsually occurs, our
business, financial condition or operating reswltsild differ materially from the plans, projectioasd other forward-looking
statements included in the section titled “ManagetiseDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemd Results of
Operations” and elsewhere in this report and in ather public filings. The trading price of our coman stock could decline
due to any of these risks, and, as a result, yoy lose all or part of your investment.

We have a history of losses, we expect to contitwugcur losses and we may not achieve or sustaiofitability in the
future.

We have incurred significant losses in each figealr since our inception in 2004. We experiencedresolidated net loss of
$17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2@ldgnsolidated net loss of $12.5 million for tleayended December 31,
2012 and a consolidated net loss of $10.2 millmrilie year ended December 31, 2013. These lossesdue to the
substantial investments we made to build our prtedaed services, grow and maintain our businessagdire customers. Key
elements of our growth strategy include acquirieg/ rtustomers and continuing to innovate and buildbwand. As a result, we
expect our operating expenses to increase in thesfdue to expected increased sales and marletjmenses, operations costs,
research and development costs and general andiathative costs and, therefore, our operatingdessill continue or even
potentially increase for the foreseeable futureaddition, as a public company we incur significkegal, accounting and other
expenses that we did not incur as a private comganyhermore, to the extent that we are successfatreasing our customer
base, we will also incur increased expenses becaste associated with generating and supportistpmer agreements are
generally incurred up front, while revenue is gafigirecognized ratably over the committed ternthef
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agreement. You should not rely upon our recentmegegyrowth as indicative of our future performangsfe. cannot assure you
that we will reach profitability in the future ot any specific time in the future or that, if antiem we do become profitable, we
will sustain profitability. If we are ultimately @able to generate sufficient revenue to meet oanfiral targets, become
profitable and have sustainable positive cash flomaestors could lose their investment.

Substantially all of our revenue comes from a siegbroduct, Video Cloud.

We are currently substantially dependent on revérune a single product, Video Cloud. Our businessild be harmed by
a decline in the market for Video Cloud, increasechpetition in the market for online video platfanor our failure or
inability to provide sufficient investment to supp¥ideo Cloud as needed to maintain or grow itsipetitive position.

If we are unable to retain our existing customei®,r revenue and results of operations will be adsely affected.

We sell our products pursuant to agreements teagemerally for monthly or annual terms. Our cugisthave no
obligation to renew their subscriptions after thgibscription period expires, and these subscriptinay not be renewed on the
same or on more profitable terms. As a result,aility to retain our existing customers and grapends in part on
subscription renewals. We may not be able to atelyrpredict future trends in customer renewalsl, @amr customers’ renewal
rates have and may continue to decline or fluctbatause of several factors, including their satisdn or dissatisfaction with
our services, the cost of our services and theafastrvices offered by our competitors, reductimnsur customers’ spending
levels or the introduction by competitors of attiae features and functionality. If our custometergion rate decreases, we may
need to increase the rate at which we add new mestoin order to maintain and grow our revenuegctvimay require us to
incur significantly higher advertising and marketiexpenses than we currently anticipate, or oumeg may decline. If our
customers do not renew their subscriptions forsauvices, renew on less favorable terms, or dpuaathase additional
functionality or subscriptions, our revenue maygraore slowly than expected or decline, and oufifadaility and gross
margins may be harmed.

The actual market for our solutions could be sigiméintly smaller than our estimates of our total pottial market
opportunity, and if customer demand for our serv&does not meet expectations, our ability to getergvenue and meet
our financial targets could be adversely affected.

While we expect strong growth in the markets for jmoducts, it is possible that the growth in samell of these markets
may not meet our expectations, or materializelaiak methodology on which our estimate of oualtpbtential market
opportunity is based includes several key assumgti@sed on our industry knowledge and customesreqe. If any of these
assumptions proves to be inaccurate, then thelantar&et for our solutions could be significantmaller than our estimates of
our total potential market opportunity. If the ausier demand for our services or the adoption rataeii target markets does
not meet our expectations, our ability to generatenue from customers and meet our financial targeuld be adversely
affected.

Our business is substantially dependent upon thatawued growth of the market for on-demand softwaselutions.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, sulbistity all of our revenue from the sale of our @@mand solutions. As a
result, widespread acceptance and use of the omastbbusiness model is critical to our future groanld success. Under the
perpetual or periodic license model for softwarecprement, users of the software would typicalbtafl and operate the
applications on their hardware. Because many coraparne generally predisposed to maintaining coofrtheir information
technology, or IT, systems and infrastructure,ahraay be resistance to the concept of accessihgasefas a service provided
by a third party. In addition, the market for omytind software solutions is still evolving, and catipye dynamics may cause
pricing levels to change as the market maturesaarekisting and new market participants introdume types of solutions and
different approaches to enable organizations teesddheir technology needs. As a result, we mdpiged to reduce the
prices we charge for our products and may be urtalilenew existing customer agreements or entemet customer
agreements at the same prices and
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upon the same terms that we have historicallyhdfrharket for on-demand software solutions failgrtowv, grows more slowly
than we currently anticipate or evolves and foreg$o reduce the prices we charge for our prodoctstevenue, gross margin
and other operating results could be materiallyesskly affected.

Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter tpiarter, which could make them difficult to predic

Our quarterly operating results are tied to cerimancial and operational metrics that have flatdd in the past and may
fluctuate significantly in the future. As a resylbu should not rely upon our past quarterly opegatesults as indicators of
future performance. Our operating results dependusnerous factors, many of which are outside ofomumtrol. In addition to
the other risks described in this “Risk Factortem, the following risks could cause our opergtiasults to fluctuate:

* our ability to retain existing customers andatmew customers;

« the rates at which our customers renew;

e the mix of annual and monthly customers at amgmgitime;

< the timing and amount of costs of new and exgstivarketing and advertising efforts;

< the timing and amount of operating costs andtahpkpenditures relating to expansion of our besén operations and
infrastructure;

« the cost and timing of the development and intobidn of new product and service offerings by usur competitors;
and

e system or service failures, security breachestwork downtime.

We have a relatively short operating history, whiotakes it difficult to evaluate our business andifue prospects.

Our business has a relatively short operating histehich makes it difficult to evaluate our bussseand future prospects.
We have been in existence since 2004, and muchrajrowth has occurred in recent periods. We haeeentered, and will
continue to encounter, risks and difficulties fregty experienced by growing companies in rapidigir@ing industries,
including those related to:

« market acceptance of our current and future prtsdand services;

« customer renewal rates;

e our ability to compete with other companies g currently in, or may in the future enter, tharket for our products;
e our ability to successfully expand our businespecially internationally;

e our ability to control costs, including our opting expenses;

< the amount and timing of operating expensesiquéatly sales and marketing expenses, relateleartaintenance and
expansion of our business, operations and infretstre;;

« network outages or security breaches and anycia$ed expenses;

- foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

e write-downs, impairment charges or unforesedrilitees in connection with acquisitions;
e our ability to successfully manage acquisiticens

< general economic and political conditions in damestic and international markets.

If we do not manage these risks successfully, asimess will be harmed.

Our long-term success depends, in part, on our @pito expand the sales of our products to customkrcated outside of the
United States, and thus our business is susceptiblasks associated with international sales anplevations.

We currently maintain offices and have sales parsbim Australia, France, Japan, Singapore, Sowfe& Spain, the
United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom, andntend to expand our international
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operations. Any international expansion effort¢ tha may undertake may not be successful. In amgitonducting
international operations subjects us to new ribks Wwe have not generally faced in the United Statbese risks include:

e unexpected costs and errors in the localizatfaruo products, including translation into foreigamguages and
adaptation for local practices and regulatory resraents;

« lack of familiarity with and burdens of complyingttvforeign laws, legal standards, regulatory regmients, tariffs, ar
other barriers;

e unexpected changes in regulatory requirememntsstdrade laws, tariffs, export quotas, custoniedudr other trade
restrictions;

- difficulties in managing systems integrators &xhnology partners;

« differing technology standards;

< longer accounts receivable payment cycles aritdlifies in collecting accounts receivable;

- difficulties in managing and staffing internatamperations and differing employer/employee retethips;
< fluctuations in exchange rates that may incrélasevolatility of our foreign-based revenue;

e potentially adverse tax consequences, includiegcomplexities of foreign value added tax (or ota&) systems and
restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

e uncertain political and economic climates; and
* reduced or varied protection for intellectual peaty rights in some countries.

These factors may cause our costs of doing businglese geographies to exceed our comparable stunoests.
Operating in international markets also requirgsificant management attention and financial resesirAny negative impact
from our international business efforts could negdy impact our business, results of operatiors famancial condition as a
whole.

We must keep up with rapid technological changerémain competitive in a rapidly evolving industry.

Our market is characterized by rapid technologibange, frequent new product and service introdnstand evolving
industry standards. Our future success will dependur ability to adapt quickly to rapidly changiteghnologies, to adapt our
services and products to evolving industry stanglard] to improve the performance and reliabilitpof services and products.
To achieve market acceptance for our products, wst effectively anticipate and offer products thmetet changing customer
demands in a timely manner. Customers may reqeatifes and functionality that our current proddcisot have. If we fail
to develop products that satisfy customer prefasimt a timely and cost-effective manner, our gbit renew our contracts
with existing customers and our ability to creaténarease demand for our products will be harmed.

We may experience difficulties with software deyetent, industry standards, design or marketingabald delay or
prevent our development, introduction or implem#ataof new products and enhancements. The intti@uof new products
by competitors, the emergence of new industry sted=dor the development of entirely new technolgpereplace existing
offerings could render our existing or future protuobsolete.

If we are unable to successfully develop or acquéw features and functionality, enhance our exgstiroducts to
anticipate and meet customer requirements or gelbducts into new markets, our revenue and teséiloperations will be
adversely affected.

We face significant competition and may be unsucfesagainst current and future competitors. If wao not compete
effectively, our operating results and future growtould be harmed.

We compete with video sharing sites, in-house &mwist online video platforms, media processingises/and certain niche
technology providers, as well as larger compariiasdffer multiple services, including those thatynbe used as substitute
services for our products. Competition is alreadgnse in
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these markets and, with the introduction of nevintetogies and market entrants, we expect competitidurther intensify in
the future. In addition, some of our competitorsymeake acquisitions, be acquired, or enter intatstic relationships to offer
a more comprehensive service than we do. Theseinatitns may make it more difficult for us to conpeffectively. We
expect these trends to continue as competitomptto strengthen or maintain their market postion

Demand for our services is sensitive to price. Mi@yors, including our advertising, customer asiigin and technology
costs, and our current and future competitors'ipgi@and marketing strategies, can significantlgetffour pricing strategies.
There can be no assurance that we will not be foil@&ngage in price-cutting initiatives, or toriease our advertising and
other expenses to attract and retain customegsponse to competitive pressures, either of whickdchave a material adverse
effect on our revenue, operating results and ressur

We will likely encounter significant, growing contgi®n in our business from many sources, includbogtals and digital
media retailers, search engines, social networ&imdjconsumer-sharing services companies, broadhadi distribution
platforms, technology suppliers, direct broadcastlste television service companies and digitad &raditional cable systems.
Many of our present and likely future competitoesré substantially greater financial, marketinghtedogical and other
resources than we do. Some of these companiesveaychoose to offer services competitive with @trso cost as a strategy
to attract or retain customers of their other sgysi If we are unable to compete successfully tattlitional and other emerging
providers of competing services, our businessnfiie condition and results of operations couldatleersely affected.

We depend on the experience and expertise of owrcexive officers, senior management team and keghtécal employees,
and the loss of any key employee could have an esbveffect on our business, financial condition amésults of operations.

Our success depends upon the continued serviagr @xecutive officers, senior management team agdéchnical
employees, as well as our ability to continue toaat and retain additional highly qualified perseh Each of our executive
officers, senior management team, key technicalqmerel and other employees could terminate higpredationship with us at
any time. The loss of any member of our senior mameent team or key personnel might significantiager prevent the
achievement of our business objectives and couténialy harm our business and our customer reiatigps. In addition,
because of the nature of our business, the loasyo$ignificant number of our existing engineeripgject management and
sales personnel could have an adverse effect obusimess, financial condition and results of ofiena.

Our business and operations have experienced ragiolwth and organizational change in recent periodghich has placed,
and may continue to place, significant demands amr osnanagement and infrastructure. If we fail to mage our growth
effectively and successfully recruit additional Hity-qualified employees, we may be unable to exeauir business plan,
maintain high levels of service or address compeséitchallenges adequately.

We increased our number of full-time employees R as of December 31, 2011, to 335 as of DeceBhe2012 and to
347 as of December 31, 2013, and our revenue gmw $63.6 million in 2011 to $88.0 million in 2082d to $109.9 million
in 2013. Our headcount and operations have growath, domestically and internationally, since ourgiption. This growth has
placed, and will continue to place, a significamais on our management, administrative, operatiand financial
infrastructure. We anticipate further growth wid bkequired to address increases in our producsarvice offerings and
continued international expansion. Our successdeilend in part upon the ability of our senior nggament team to manage
this growth effectively. To do so, we must continagecruit, hire, train, manage and integrategaiicant number of qualified
managers, technical personnel and employees inmadiged roles within our company, including in techogy, sales and
marketing. If our new employees perform poorlyifave are unsuccessful in recruiting, hiring, tiaim, managing and
integrating these new employees, or retaining tbesair existing employees, our business may suffer

In addition, to manage the expected continued dgrafbur headcount, operations and geographic expawe will need
to continue to improve our information technologfrastructure, operational, financial and manageragstems and
procedures. Our expected additional headcount apitia¢ investments will increase our costs, whidh nvake it more difficult
for us to address any future revenue shortfalls by
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reducing expenses in the short term. If we faguocessfully manage our growth we will be unablsuccessfully execute our
business plan, which could have a negative impaciuw business, financial condition or results pém@tions.

Our recent transaction with Unicorn Media, and/orgbential future acquisitions, could be difficult tintegrate, divert the
attention of key personnel, disrupt our businesdute stockholder value and impair our financial sults.

As part of our business strategy, we intend to icemsicquisitions of companies, technologies awndycts that we believe
could accelerate our ability to compete in our cosrkets or allow us to enter new markets. For gtanin January 2014 we
completed our acquisition of substantially all lné tassets of Unicorn Media, Inc., or Unicorn, allleg provider of cloud video
ad insertion technology. Acquisitions, including ttinicorn transaction, involve numerous risks, afwrhich could harm our
business, including:

« difficulties in integrating the technologies, guets, operations and existing contracts of a targmpany and realizing
the anticipated benefits of the combined businesses

- difficulties in integrating the personnel of agat company, including the onboarding of approxetya60 Unicorn
employees whom we hired in connection with the Omdransaction;

- difficulties in supporting and transitioning costers, if any, of a target company;
< diversion of financial and management resouroa® fexisting operations;

« the price we pay or other resources that we @entaty exceed the value we realize, or the valueoutd have realized
if we had allocated the purchase price or otheyue®s to another opportunity;

« risks of entering new markets in which we hawetitd or no experience;

e potential loss of key employees, customers aradeggic alliances from either our current busirasa target company’s
business; and

< inability to generate sufficient revenue to offaequisition costs.

Acquisitions also frequently result in the recogdof goodwill and other intangible assets whichsarkject to potential
impairments in the future that could harm our ficiahresults. In addition, if we finance acquisit®by issuing equity
securities, our existing stockholders may be dilutes a result, if we fail to properly evaluate aisitions or investments, we
may not achieve the anticipated benefits of any suqjuisitions, and we may incur costs in excesghaltt we anticipate. The
failure to successfully evaluate and execute adupris or investments or otherwise adequately afdtieese risks could
materially harm our business and financial results.

We may experience delays in product and serviceettjpment, including delays beyond our control, whicould prevent us
from achieving our growth objectives and hurt ouubiness.

Many of the problems, delays and expenses we meguater may be beyond our control. Such problemgin@ude, but
are not limited to, problems related to the tecahitevelopment of our products and services, probleith the infrastructure
for the distribution and delivery of online medie competitive environment in which we operatetkating problems,
consumer and advertiser acceptance and costs pedses that may exceed current estimates. Problietays or expenses in
any of these areas could have a negative impagtiohusiness, financial conditions or results afrations.

Delays in the timely design, development, deploynagr commercial operation of our product and serafferings, and
consequently the achievement of our revenue taegetpositive cash flow, could result from a variet causes, including
many causes that are beyond our control. Such sletajude, but are not limited to, delays in thiegration of new offers into
our existing offering, changes to our products seryices made to correct or enhance their featpegfgrmance or
marketability or in response to regulatory develepis or otherwise, delays encountered in the dpuedat, integration or
testing of our products and services and the itrfragire for the distribution and delivery of ordimedia and other systems,
unsuccessful commercial launches of new produatssarvices, delays in our ability to obtain finamgi
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insufficient or ineffective marketing efforts andwer-than-anticipated consumer acceptance of mdyets. Delays in any of
these matters could hinder or prevent our achieméwfeour growth objectives and hurt our business.

There is no assurance that the current cost of Imet connectivity and network access will not rigdth the increasing
popularity of online media services.

We rely on third-party service providers for ouinpipal connections to the Internet and networkeascand to deliver
media to consumers. As demand for online mediaasws, there can be no assurance that Interneetwdrk service
providers will continue to price their network asseservices on reasonable terms. The distribufionl;me media requires
delivery of digital content files and providersratwork access and distribution may change theiness models and increase
their prices significantly, which could slow thedespread adoption of such services. In order fosetvices to be successful,
there must be a reasonable price model in plae#dw for the continuous distribution of digital diie files. We have limited or
no control over the extent to which any of thesewnstances may occur, and if network access uilition prices rise, our
business, financial condition and results of openatwould likely be adversely affected.

Failure of our infrastructure for the distributionand delivery of online media could adversely affectr business.

Our success as a business depends, in large panty @bility to provide a consistently high-qugalitigital experience to
consumers via our relationships and infrastructoir¢he distribution and delivery of online mediangrally. There is no
guarantee that our relationships and infrastructultenot experience problems or other performaisseies, which could
seriously impair the quality and reliability of odelivery of digital media to end users. For example primarily use two
content delivery networks, or CDNs, to deliver @ntto end users. If one or both of these CDNs weexperience sustained
technical failures, it could cause delays in ouvise and we could lose customers. If we do nougeately predict our
infrastructure capacity requirements, our custornetsd experience service outages or service dagoadthat may subject us
to financial penalties and liabilities and resaltustomer losses. In the past we have, on linutedsions, suffered temporary
interruptions of certain aspects of our serviceluding our customers’ ability to upload new corttiemo our system, our
customers’ ability to access administrative contfaheir accounts, and our ability to deliver camttto end users in certain
geographic locations. These service interruptioagewhe results of human error, hardware and sodtfedlures or failures of
third-party networks. On a limited number of ocoasi, these service interruptions have required psdvide service credits to
customers. We cannot guarantee that service iptons will not occur again or predict the duratfrinterruptions of our
service or the impact of such interruptions on @ustomers. Failures and interruptions of our sermay impact our reputation,
result in our payment of compensation or servieglits to our customers, result in loss of custoraacsadversely affect our
financial results and ability to grow our busindssaddition, if our hosting infrastructure capgdiils to keep pace with
increased sales or if our delivery capabilitief faistomers may experience delays as we seekanaidditional capacity or
enable alternative delivery capability, which coblm our reputation and adversely affect our raeagrowth.

We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our s#ing infrastructure to accommodate increased triafind storage,
technology advances or customer requirements.

In the future, advances in technology, increasésaffic and storage, and new customer requiremaiaig require us to
change our infrastructure, expand our infrastrecturreplace our infrastructure entirely. Scaling adapting our infrastructure
is likely to be complex and require additional teiclal expertise. If we are required to make anyngea to our infrastructure,
we may incur substantial costs and experience gaainterruptions in our service. These delays@rruptions may cause
customers and partners to become dissatisfiedomitiservice and move to competing service providets failure to
accommodate increased traffic and storage, incdeasss, inefficiencies or failures to adapt to rieshnologies or customer
requirements and the associated adjustments tmfoastructure could harm our business, finanaialdition and results of
operations.
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We rely on software and services licensed from otbarties. The loss of software or services fronirthparties could
increase our costs and limit the features availalibeour products and services.

Components of our service and product offeringlinhe various types of software and services liceriisem unaffiliated
parties. For example, some of our products incatgosoftware licensed from Adobe. If any of thewafe or services we
license from others or functional equivalents tbéwmere either no longer available to us or no Emgffered on commercially
reasonable terms, we would be required to eithdsign our services and products to function wattweare or services
available from other parties or develop these carepts ourselves. In either case, the transitianriew service provider or an
internally-developed solution could result in irecsed costs and could result in delays in our pridduaches and the release of
new service and product offerings. Furthermoremight be forced to temporarily limit the featurasiable in our current or
future products and services. If we fail to maintai renegotiate any of these software or seritemses, we could face
significant delays and diversion of resources famapting to license and integrate functional eqgleints.

If our software products contain serious errors defects, then we may lose revenue and market aecey and may incur
costs to defend or settle claims.

Complex software applications such as ours ofteraio errors or defects, particularly when firdtaauced or when new
versions or enhancements are released. Despitaahtesting and testing by our customers, ouresurand future products
may contain serious defects, which could resulbét revenue, lost customers, slower growth orlaydiea market acceptance.

Since our customers use our products for criticaliess applications, such as online video, erdafgcts or other
performance problems could result in damage tacastomers. They could seek significant compensditan us for the losses
they suffer. Although our customer agreements lpicontain provisions designed to limit our expesto claims, existing or
future laws or unfavorable judicial decisions conédjate these limitations. Even if not successfelaim brought against us
would likely be time-consuming and costly and cosgdiously damage our reputation in the marketplaaking it harder for
us to sell our products.

Unauthorized disclosure of data or unauthorized to our service could adversely affect our besis

Any security breaches, unauthorized access, undae#olousage, virus or similar breach or disruptionld result in loss of
confidential information, personal data and custoocoatent, damage to our reputation, early terrmonasf our contracts,
litigation, regulatory investigations or other lilities. If our security measures, or those of partners or service providers, are
breached as a result of third-party action, emp@asreor, malfeasance or otherwise and, as a resaitteone obtains
unauthorized access to confidential informatiomspeal data or customer content, our reputatiohbgildamaged, our business
may suffer or we could incur significant liability.

Techniques used to obtain unauthorized accesssabimtage systems change frequently and generallyoa recognized
until launched against a target. As a result, wg beaunable to anticipate these techniques or pdeiment adequate
preventative measures. If an actual or perceivedrigtg breach occurs, the market perception ofsmaurity measures could be
harmed and we could lose sales and customers. ignifisant violations of data privacy or unauth@ikdisclosure of
information could result in the loss of busineggydtion and regulatory investigations and peealthat could damage our
reputation and adversely impact our results of ap@ns and financial condition. Moreover, if a ségubreach occurs with
respect to another software as a service, or Sma@der, our customers and potential customers lossy/trust in the security
of the Saa$S business model generally, which cadleraely impact our ability to retain existing arsers or attract new ones.

We use a limited number of data centers and clowinputing services facilities to deliver our servicéAny disruption of
service at these facilities could harm our business

We manage our services and serve all of our custfr@nm a limited number of third-party data cerfaailities and cloud
computing services facilities. While we control #etual computer and storage systems upon whickadtware runs, and
deploy them to the data center facilities, we dobaomtrol the operation of these facilities.
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The owners of these facilities have no obligatmmnenew their agreements with us on commercialgoeable terms, or at
all. If we are unable to renew these agreementoarmmercially reasonable terms, we may be requoadhsfer to new
facilities, and we may incur significant costs qnudsible service interruption in connection withingpso.

Any changes in third-party service levels at tHasdities or any errors, defects, disruptions tites performance problems
at or related to these facilities that affect cenvices could harm our reputation and may damageumtomers’ businesses.
Interruptions in our services might reduce our nexe cause us to issue credits to customers, sulge¢o potential liability, and
cause customers to terminate their subscriptiofson our renewal rates.

These facilities are vulnerable to damage or senviterruption resulting from human error, intentibbad acts,
earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, war, testattacks, power losses, hardware failures, sysfailures,
telecommunications failures and similar events. dbeurrence of a natural disaster or an act obtsm, or vandalism or other
misconduct, or a decision to close the facilitiethaut adequate notice or other unanticipated j@misl could result in lengthy
interruptions in our services.

Our business may be adversely affected by thirdtpataims, including by governmental bodies, regargl the content and
advertising distributed through our service.

We rely on our customers to secure the rightsdsteébute content over the Internet, and we doseoten the content that
is distributed through our service. There is naemsce that our customers have licensed all rigi¢gssary for distribution,
including Internet distribution. Other parties n@gim certain rights in the content of our custosner

In the event that our customers do not have thessaey distribution rights related to content, way e required to cease
distributing such content, or we may be subjet¢awsuits and claims of damages for infringemerdgwath rights. If these claims
arise with frequency, the likelihood of our busimbéging adversely affected would rise significanlitysome cases, we may
have rights to indemnification or claims against customers if they do not have appropriate distidn rights related to
specific content items, however there is no assgrémat we would be successful in any such claim.

We operate an “open” publishing platform and dosween the content that is distributed throughseuvice. Content may
be distributed through our platform that is illegalunlawful under international, federal, statéomal laws or the laws of other
countries. We may face lawsuits, claims or evemicidl charges for such distribution, and we magiigect to civil,
regulatory or criminal sanctions and damages foh glistribution. Any such claims or investigatiarmild adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of openst

We could incur substantial costs as a result of asigim of infringement of another party’s intelleagl property rights.

In recent years, there has been significant litigeith the United States involving patents and pthiellectual property
rights. Companies providing Internet-related pradand services are increasingly bringing and bé&wgsubject to suits
alleging infringement of proprietary rights, padiiarly patent rights. These risks have been aneplifiy the increase in third
parties whose sole or primary business is to assett claims, some of whom have sent letters téoafited suit alleging
infringement against some of our customers. Frome tio time, third parties claim that we are infriggupon their intellectual
property rights. For information regarding thesarok, see Part |, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings.” i@l incur substantial costs
in prosecuting or defending any intellectual propétigation. Additionally, the defense or pros¢iom of claims could be time-
consuming, and could divert our management’s attemtway from the execution of our business plan.

Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment rieguitom a claim could require us to pay substam@atiaounts or obtain a
license to continue to use the technology thatessubject of the claim, or otherwise restrict mhibit our use of the
technology. There can be no assurance that we virmuétble to obtain a license from the third passeating the claim on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all, that wauldl be able to develop alternative technology ¢imaly basis, if at all, or
that we would be able to obtain a license to usaitable alternative technology to permit us totoure offering, and our
customers to continue using,
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our affected product or service. In addition, weyrba required to indemnify our customers for thpatty intellectual property
infringement claims, which would increase the ¢osis. An adverse determination could also preusritom offering our
products or services to others. Infringement claasserted against us may have an adverse effectrdsusiness, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our agreements with customers often include contehobligations to indemnify them against claitattour products
infringe the intellectual property rights of thipdrties. The results of any intellectual propeittgation to which we might
become a party, or for which we are required twiol@indemnification, may force us to do one or enof the following:

« cease selling or using products or servicesititatrporate the challenged intellectual property;

« make substantial payments for costs or damages;

« obtain a license, which may not be availableaasonable terms, to sell or use the relevant téagyocor
« redesign those products or services to avoidhiggment.

If we are required to make substantial paymentsdertake any of the other actions noted aboveresuit of any
intellectual property infringement claims againstan any obligation to indemnify our customersdoch claims, such
payments or costs could have a material adversetafpon our business and financial results.

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual prepy could substantially harm our business and opting results.

Because our business depends substantially omiallectual property, the protection of our intetlgal property rights is
important to the success of our business. We qgbnia combination of trademark, patent, trade sacré copyright law and
contractual restrictions to protect our intelle¢ctoperty. These afford only limited protectionedpite our efforts to protect
our property rights, unauthorized parties may aftietm copy aspects of our products, service, sathvaad functionality or
obtain and use information that we consider pre@ne Moreover, policing our proprietary rightsdi$ficult and may not
always be effective. In addition, we may need tiere our rights under the laws of countries thmnhdt protect proprietary
rights to as great an extent as do the laws oftiited States.

Litigation or proceedings before the U.S. Patewnt &rademark Office or other governmental authaitiad administrative
bodies in the United States and abroad may be s&gem the future to enforce our intellectual prrp rights, to protect our
patent rights, trade secrets, trademarks and donaaies, and to determine the validity and scopbeoproprietary rights of
others. Such litigation or proceedings may be westly and impact our financial performance. We raksp incur substantial
costs defending against frivolous litigation ordsed to indemnify our customers against the s@ueefforts to enforce or
protect our proprietary rights may prove to be fieetive and could result in substantial costs amdrdion of resources and
could substantially harm our operating results.

Our exposure to risks associated with the usetefléctual property may increase as a result ofisitipns, as we have less
opportunity to have visibility into the developmeéarbcess with respect to acquired technology océ#he taken to safeguard
against infringement risks. Third parties may maiengement and similar or related claims afterveeve acquired technology
that had not been asserted prior to our acquisition

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of traderets and other
proprietary information.

We have devoted substantial resources to the dawelot of our technology, business operations asihbss plans. In
order to protect our trade secrets and proprigtdoymation, we rely in significant part on confitd@lity agreements with our
employees, licensees, independent contractorsse@vand customers. These agreements may notelotivasfto prevent
disclosure of confidential information, includingude secrets, and may not provide an adequate yeiméuk event of
unauthorized disclosure of confidential informatitmaddition, others may independently discovadér secrets and proprietary
information, and in such cases we would not be héssert trade secret rights against such paftethe extent that our
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employees and others with whom we do businessntsieictual property owned by others in their wivkus, disputes may
arise as to the rights in related or resulting kifemw and inventions. Laws regarding trade secgéitsiin certain markets in
which we operate may afford little or no protectiorour trade secrets. The loss of trade secréggiion could make it easier
for third parties to compete with our products bypying functionality. In addition, any changesan,unexpected
interpretations of, the trade secret and othefl@wiial property laws in any country in which wageoate may compromise our
ability to enforce our trade secret and intellecpraperty rights. Costly and time-consuming litiga could be necessary to
enforce and determine the scope of our proprigtghts, and failure to obtain or maintain traderseprotection could
adversely affect our competitive business paosition.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to sell our services and subjecg to possible litigation.

A portion of the technology licensed by us incogies “open source” software, and we may incorparpén source
software in the future. Such open source softwagenerally licensed by its authors or other thadies under open source
licenses. If we fail to comply with these licenses, may be subject to certain conditions, includieguirements that we offer
our services that incorporate the open source softfor no cost, that we make available source tmdeodifications or
derivative works we create based upon, incorpagatinusing the open source software and that veadie such modifications
or alterations under the terms of the particularopource license. If an author or other thirdyptirat distributes such open
source software were to allege that we had not tiethwith the conditions of one or more of thesetises, we could be
required to incur significant legal expenses defggdgainst such allegations and could be subgesighificant damages,
enjoined from the sale of our services that coetithe open source software and required to comipfythe foregoing
conditions, which could disrupt the distributiordasale of some of our services.

Fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign currefes could result in currency transactions losses.

We currently have foreign sales denominated in valisn dollars, British pound sterling, euros, Jegse yen and New
Zealand dollars and may, in the future, have sie®minated in the currencies of additional coestim which we establish or
have established sales offices. In addition, wariacportion of our operating expenses in euros tnd lesser extent, other
foreign currencies. Any fluctuation in the exchamgee of these foreign currencies may negativelyaiot our business,
financial condition and operating results. We hagepreviously engaged in foreign currency hedgihge decide to hedge
our foreign currency exposure, we may not be ableetige effectively due to lack of experience, asomable costs or illiquid
markets.

We may be required to collect sales and use taxethe services we sell in additional jurisdictions the future, which may
decrease sales, and we may be subject to lialftitysales and use taxes and related interest andgities on prior sales.

State and local taxing jurisdictions have differnmdes and regulations governing sales and use t@xe these rules and
regulations are subject to varying interpretatittvag may change over time. In particular, the alility of sales and use taxes
to our subscription services in various jurisdinas unclear. We cannot assure you that we wilbecsubject to sales and use
taxes or related penalties for past sales in steltese we presently believe sales and use taxesadue. We reserve estimated
sales and use taxes in our financial statemente®wuinnot be certain that we have made sufficesdrves to cover all taxes
that might be assessed.

If one or more taxing authorities determines thaes should have, but have not, been paid withreptdp our services, we
may be liable for past taxes in addition to beiaguired to collect sales or similar taxes in respéour services going forward.
Liability for past taxes may also include substantiterest and penalty charges. Our client cotgrpically provide that our
clients must pay all applicable sales and sim#daes. Nevertheless, clients may be reluctant tdopak taxes and may refuse
responsibility for interest or penalties associatéti those taxes or we may determine that it wawdtibe feasible to seek
reimbursement. If we are required to collect anygl lpck taxes and the associated interest and ematid if our clients do not
reimburse us for all or a portion of these amountswill incur unplanned expenses that may be swlbisi. Moreover,
imposition of such taxes on our services going rdwvill effectively increase
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the cost of such services to our clients and magrsely affect our ability to retain existing clteror to gain new clients in the
areas in which such taxes are imposed.

Government and industry regulation of the Internit evolving and could directly restrict our busiresr indirectly affect our
business by limiting the growth of our markets. Urvforable changes in government regulation or ouilfae to comply with
regulations could harm our business and operatingsults.

Federal, state and foreign governments and agehaiesadopted and could in the future adopt reiguisicovering issues
such as user privacy, content, and taxation ofysrtsdand services. Government regulations could thle market for our
products and services or impose burdensome regaiirsnthat render our business unprofitable. Oudyets enable our
customers to collect, manage and store a wide rahdata. The United States and various state govents have adopted or
proposed limitations on the collection, distribatiand use of personal information. Several for@igisdictions, including the
European Union and the United Kingdom, have adolgtgidlation (including directives or regulatiobt increase or change
the requirements governing data collection andagi®in these jurisdictions. If our privacy or dségurity measures fail to
comply with current or future laws and regulations, may be subject to litigation, regulatory invgations or other liabilities,
or our customers may terminate their relationshijl us.

In addition, although many regulations might ngblgo our business directly, we expect that lasgutating the
solicitation, collection or processing of persoaatl consumer information could affect our custofredsglity to use and share
data, potentially reducing demand for our servidé® Telecommunications Act of 1996 and the Eurnopdiaion Data
Protection Directive along with other similar laausd regulations prohibit certain types of inforroatand content from being
transmitted over the Internet. The scope of thidhitnition and the liability associated with a vitiken are currently unsettled. In
addition, although substantial portions of the Caminations Decency Act were held to be unconstihgi, we cannot be
certain that similar legislation will not be enatnd upheld in the future. Legislation like thdeEemmunications Act and the
Communications Decency Act could dampen the gromwtheb usage and decrease its acceptance as aimefiu
communications and commerce. Moreover, if futuvesland regulations limit our customers’ abilityuse and share consumer
data or our ability to store, process and share wéh our customers over the Internet, demanawmproducts could decrease,
our costs could increase, and our results of ojp@stnd financial condition could be harmed.

In addition, taxation of services provided over thiernet or other charges imposed by governmeenegs or by private
organizations for accessing the Internet may beogag. Any regulation imposing greater fees forrimde use or restricting
information exchange over the Internet could reisudt decline in the use of the Internet and tladbility of Internet-based
services, which could harm our business and operatisults.

Our stock price has been volatile and is likelylie volatile in the future.

The market price of our common stock has been sfiklely to be highly volatile and could be subjezsignificant
fluctuations in response to, among other things ik factors described in this report and othetdrs beyond our control.
Market prices for securities of early stage compsiiave historically been particularly volatilengg but not all, of the factors
that may cause the market price of our common dimélkictuate include:

« fluctuations in our quarterly or annual financiesults or the quarterly or annual financial resoftsompanies perceiv:
to be similar to us or relevant for our business;

e changes in estimates of our financial resulteoommendations by securities analysts;

« failure of our products to achieve or maintairnrkes acceptance;

e changes in market valuations of similar or refév@mpanies;

e success of competitive service offerings or tedbgies;

< changes in our capital structure, such as thesse of securities or the incurrence of debt;

e announcements by us or by our competitors ofifiégimt services, contracts, acquisitions or styatelliances;
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* regulatory developments in the United Statesifpr countries, or both;
e litigation;

e additions or departures of key personnel;

* investors’ general perceptions; and

« changes in general economic, industry or mar&editions.

In addition, if the market for technology stockstlue stock market in general, experiences a lbss/estor confidence, the
trading price of our common stock could declinerfeasons unrelated to our business, financial tiongior results of
operations. If any of the foregoing occurs, it ebchuse our stock price to fall and may expose lesasuits that, even if
unsuccessful, could be costly to defend and aatiitm to management.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shas may be sold into the public market in the neature, which could cause
the market price of our common stock to drop sigoéntly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of up to 1,536,261 shares of our common siottle public market could occur at any time after expiration of the
lock-up agreement entered into in connection withacquisition of substantially all of the asset&nicorn. Following the
expiration of the lock-up period 180 days followitg closing date of the acquisition, these shaitt®e eligible for resale in
compliance with Rule 144. These sales or the manduateption that the holder or holders of a langealper of shares intend to
sell shares, could reduce the market price of ommaon stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publishr cease publishing, research or reports about asy business or our
market, or if they adversely change their recommatidns regarding our stock, our stock price and tiag volume could
decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by research and reports that industry @rrgg analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or oorpetitors. If any of the analysts who may coveadsgersely change their
recommendations regarding our stock, or provideenfavorable relative recommendations about our &titaps, our stock
price would likely decline. If any analyst who megver us were to cease coverage of our compargildofregularly publish
reports on us, we could lose visibility in the fircéal markets, which in turn could cause our stegke or trading volume to
decline.

We are an “emerging growth company” and we canna tertain if the reduced disclosure requirementgépable to
emerging growth companies will make our common #tdess attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthnJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2018edOBS Act,
and we may take advantage of certain exemptioms ff@rious reporting requirements that are appleablother public
companies that are not “emerging growth comparniediiding, but not limited to, reduced disclosuldigations regarding
executive compensation in our periodic reports grocty statements and exemptions from the requirésreholding a
nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensadiwh shareholder approval of any golden parachyte@ats not previously
approved. We cannot predict if investors will fiodr common stock less attractive because we mgyrethese exemptions. If
some investors find our common stock less attraciiva result, there may be a less active tradargenfor our common stock
and our stock price may be more volatile. We még dvantage of these reporting exemptions untéreeno longer an
“emerging growth company.”

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also pdes that an “emerging growth company” can take iaidege of the
extended transition period provided in Section (2(#B) of the Securities Act for complying with new revised accounting
standards. In other words, an “emerging growth comypcan delay the adoption of certain accounttagdards until those
standards would otherwise apply to private commarti®wever, we are choosing to “opt out” of sucteaged transition
period, and as a result, we will comply with newevised accounting standards on the relevant dateghich adoption of such
standards is required for non-emerging growth carigza Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides thatdmaision to opt out of
the extended transition period for complying witwnor revised accounting standards is irrevocable.
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We do not expect to declare any dividends in theeeeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any dividends talbrd of our common stock in the foreseeable futDomsequently,
investors may need to rely on sales of their comstook after price appreciation, which may neverocas the only way to
realize any future gains on their investment. Itwmesseeking dividends should not purchase our comstock.

We may be unable to meet our future capital requirents, which could limit our ability to grow.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivaleitb&vsufficient to meet our anticipated workingpital and capital
expenditure needs over at least the next 12 mowhsnay, however, need, or could elect to seekitiadd! funding at any
time. To the extent that existing resources arefiitsent to fund our business operations, our fetactivities for the expansion
of our service and our product offerings, develgmnd sustaining our relationships and infrastmecfar the distribution and
delivery of digital media online, marketing, angpaorting our office facilities, we may need to ea&lditional funds through
equity or debt financing. Additional funds may et available on terms favorable to us or our stolddrs. Furthermore, if we
issue equity securities, our stockholders may eapee additional dilution or the new equity sedasitmay have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of gistiag classes of stock. If we cannot raise fumdscceptable terms, we may
not be able to develop or enhance our products,ddikantage of future opportunities or responatopetitive pressures or
unanticipated requirements.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrol over financial reporting could result in aufailure to accurately
report our financial results. Any inability to rept and file our financial results accurately andniely could harm our
business and adversely impact investor confidenteur company and, as a result, the value of ounzmon stock.

We will need to continue to evaluate our interrattcol over financial reporting in connection wilection 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act going forward, and our indepahdegistered public accounting firm will be reaqdrto attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting. This assessment includes the discéoetiany material weaknesses
in our internal control over financial reportingeittified by our management, as well as our indepenikgistered public
accounting firm’s attestation report on our intérantrol over financial reporting. During the ewation and testing process, if
we identify one or more material weaknesses iniernal control over financial reporting, we wikk unable to assert that our
internal control over financial reporting is effeet If we are unable to assert that our interaitiol over financial reporting is
effective, or if our independent registered publicounting firm is unable to express an opinionheneffectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting, we colitdde investor confidence in the accuracy and cetapkss of our financial
reports, which could have a material adverse effadhe price of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our amendeddarestated certificate of incorporation and amerdiand restated
bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, @iurpair a takeover attempt.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamadind bylaws, and Delaware law, contain provistbas could have the
effect of rendering more difficult or discouragiag acquisition deemed undesirable by our boardre€irs. Our corporate
governance documents include provisions:

e authorizing blank check preferred stock, whichldde issued with voting, liquidation, dividenaydeother rights
superior to our common stock;

< limiting the liability of, and providing indemndation to, our directors and officers;

< limiting the ability of our stockholders to calhd bring business before special meetings arakaction by written
consent in lieu of a meeting;

e requiring advance notice of stockholder propofaibusiness to be conducted at meetings of aakhblders and for
nominations of candidates for election to our bazrdirectors;

» controlling the procedures for the conduct arfteglaling of board of directors and stockholder rimegst

» providing our board of directors with the expressver to postpone previously scheduled annualingseind to cancel
previously scheduled special meetings;
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« establishing a classified board of directorsts tiot all members of our board are selected atiome;

e limiting the determination of the number of dit@s on our board of directors and the filling acancies or newly
created seats on the board to our board of direthen in office; and

< providing that directors may be removed by stadétbrs only for cause.

These provisions, alone or together, could delasfileatakeovers and changes in control of our coma changes in our
management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdgigions of Delaware law, including Section 203w Delaware
General Corporation Law, which prevents some stoltkdrs holding more than 15% of our outstanding mam stock from
engaging in certain business combinations withppt@val of the holders of substantially all of @utstanding common stock.
Any provision of our amended and restated certdicd incorporation or bylaws or Delaware law thas the effect of delaying
or deterring a change in control could limit thgogunity for our stockholders to receive a premi@mtheir shares of our
common stock, and could also affect the price sbhate investors are willing to pay for our commarckt

We record substantial expenses related to our ismeaof stock options that may have a material acdseeimpact on our
operating results for the foreseeable future.

We expect our stock-based compensation expensesawtinue to be significant in future periods, athiwill have an
adverse impact on our operating results. The masksd by us requires the input of highly subjecéissumptions, including the
price volatility of the option’s underlying stocl.facts and circumstances change and we empldgrdiit assumptions for
estimating stock-based compensation expense irefptriods, or if we decide to use a different atiin model, the future
period expenses may differ significantly from wiet have recorded in the current period and couletnzdly affect the fair
value estimate of stock-based payments, our opgratcome, net income and net income per share.

Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Bostassithusetts. We lease 82,184 square feet putsumtdase that
terminates March 31, 2022. We have sales and niagkeffices in New York, New York; London, Englandaris, France;
Barcelona, Spain; Tokyo, Japan; Sydney, Austr8égul, South Korea; Singapore; and Dubai, UnitembAtmirates. We have
a research and development office in Middleton,déisin. Our offices in Seattle, Washington, Saméiszo, California and
Tempe, Arizona are used for sales and marketingetlsas research and development. We believe ailitias are adequate for
our current needs.

The Company’s primary office lease has the optiorehew the lease for two successive periods efyffears each. In
connection with the office lease, the Company eatémto a letter of credit in the amount of $2,404.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On August 27, 2012, a complaint was filed by Blypék8, LLC naming us in a patent infringement ca&&le€ Spike, LLC v.
Audible Magic Corporation, et al., United Statestiict Court for the Eastern District of Texas).eldtomplaint alleges that we
have infringed U.S. Patent No. 7,346,472 with eetisssue date of March 18, 2008, entitled “Methad Device for
Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,” U.S. Patent N¢g660,700 with a listed issue date of February0d02 entitled “Method
and Device for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,’3J Patent No. 7,949,494 with a listed issue dadMay 24, 2011, entitled
“Method and Device for Monitoring and Analyzing 8a&s” and U.S. Patent No. 8,214,175 with a lisg=dié date of July 3,
2012, entitled “Method and Device for MonitoringdaAnalyzing Signals.” The complaint seeks an injiorcenjoining
infringement, damages and pre- and post-judgmesis and interest. We answered and filed countenslaigainst Blue Spike
on December 3, 2012. We amended our answer andecolaims on
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July 15, 2013. This complaint is subject to indéimation by one of our vendors. We cannot yet datee whether it is
probable that a loss will be incurred in connectioth this complaint, nor can we reasonably esteriae potential loss, if any.

On September 10, 2013, a complaint was filed by&ijrinc. naming us in a patent infringement cases@y Inc. v.
Brightcove Inc. and Joyus Inc., United States @istourt for the Northern District of Texas). Teemplaint alleges that we
have infringed U.S. Patent No. 8,312,486 with getisssue date of November 13, 2012, entitled fadtve Product Placement
and Method Therefor” and U.S. Patent No. 8,533Whf a listed issue date of September 10, 2013]/esht Interactive
Product Placement and Method Therefor.” On Octdh@013, Cinsay filed an amended complaint agaissh which it
reasserted the allegations of infringement of B&ent No. 8,312,486 and U.S. Patent No. 8,53%xnfi3added allegations that
we infringed U.S. Patent No. 8,549,555 with a tisssue date of October 1, 2013, entitled “IntévadProduct Placement and
Method Therefor.” The amended complaint seeks mmation enjoining infringement, damages and pret post-judgment
costs and interest. We answered the amended carnptaNovember 12, 2013. We cannot yet determinetiodr it is probable
that a loss will be incurred in connection withsteibomplaint, nor can we reasonably estimate thengiat loss or range of a
possible loss, if any.

In addition, we are, from time to time, party tigation arising in the ordinary course of our Imesis. Management does not
believe that the outcome of these claims will haveaterial adverse effect on our consolidated firmosition, results of
operations or cash flows based on the status akprings at this time.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQabldlarket under the symbol “BCOV” since our initjalblic
offering on February 17, 2012. Prior to this tirttesre was no public market for our common stocle fidlowing table shows
the high and low sale prices per share of our comstock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Markettfer periods
indicated:

High Low

2012

First Quarter 2012 $ 2550 $ 14.0C
Second Quarter 2012 $ 2490 $ 12.1(
Third Quarter 2012 $ 1717 $ 10.8]
Fourth Quarter 2012 $ 1400 $ 8.2¢
2013

First Quarter 2013 $ 1028 $ 577
Second Quarter 2013 $ 90C $ 4.8¢
Third Quarter 2013 $ 11.7¢ $ 8.3F
Fourth Quarter 2013 $ 1628 $ 10.8¢

On February 28, 2014, the last reported sale foiceur common stock on the NASDAQ Global Marketsvi®.70 per
share.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaip eash flow to
finance the growth and development of our busin@sd,we do not expect to pay any cash dividendsuotommon stock in
the foreseeable future. Payment of future divideifdsy, will be at the discretion of our boarddifectors and will depend on
our financial condition, results of operations, i@requirements, restrictions contained in cur@rfuture financing
instruments and other factors our board of directlems relevant.

Stockholders

As of February 28, 2014, there were approximat8dlders of record of our common stock (not inaigdbeneficial
holders of stock held in street name).

Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulatited stockholder return on our common stock betwesruary 17,
2012 (the date of our initial public offering) aBécember 31, 2013, with the cumulative total retfr(a) the NASDAQ
Computer & Data Processing Index and (b) the NASD2dpnposite Index, over the same period. This gegsumes the
investment of $100 on February 17, 2012 in our comstock, the NASDAQ Computer & Data Processinginand the
NASDAQ Composite Index and assumes the reinvestofatividends, if any. The graph assumes our ctpsales price on
February 17, 2012 of $14.30 per share as thelinilae of our common stock and not the initialeoiifig price to the public of
$11.00 per share.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are bagen historical data. We caution that the stockeperformance
shown in the graph below is not necessarily indieatf, nor is it intended to forecast, the potehfiiture performance of our
common stock. Information used in the graph waaiabt from the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, a finanaikta provider and
a source believed to be reliable. The NASDAQ Stdekket LLC is not responsible for any errors or ssions in such
information.
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Sales of Unregistered Securities

Not applicable.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stdéc

On February 16, 2012, our registration statemerft@m S-1 (File No. 333-176444) was declared eiffedor our initial
public offering. On February 23, 2012, we closedinitial public offering of 5,750,000 shares offremon stock, including
750,000 shares pursuant to the underwriters’ olénaént option, at an offering price of $11.00 pkare. The managing
underwriters of the offering were Morgan Stanle¥C&. LLC, and Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorp@met Following the
sale of the shares in connection with the closinguo initial public offering, the offering termited.

As a result of the offering, including the underers’ option to purchase additional shares, weivedenet proceeds of
approximately $54.5 million, after deducting toéapenses of approximately $8.7 million, consistfiginderwriting discounts
and commissions of $4.4 million and offering-rethtxpenses reasonably estimated to be $4.3 milone of such payments
were direct or indirect payments to any of our clives or officers or their associates, to persamsitng 10% or more of our
common stock, or to any of our affiliates.

We have used $7.0 million of the net proceeds foominitial public offering to repay certain indelhess. None of such
payments were direct or indirect payments to anyuofdirectors or officers or their associategpe¢csons owning 10% or more
of our common stock, or to any of our affiliatese\Mso used approximately $27.4 million of thepreceeds from our initial
public offering as consideration for the purchasgencoder in August 2012. On January 31, 2014aegiired substantially all
of the assets of Unicorn for total consideratiompproximately $40.1 million, which was funded tppeoximately $9.5 million
of the net proceeds from our initial public offariand 2,850,547 shares of our common stock.

There has been no material change in the planredfysroceeds from our initial public offering assdribed in our final
prospectus filed with the SEC on February 17, 2803uant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Aiffated Purchasers

There were no repurchases of shares of common stadk during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with “Management’sddission and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiiems”, the consolidated financial statementsratated notes, and other
financial information included in this Annual Repon Form 10-K.

We derived the consolidated financial data forytears ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 arfdexember 31,
2013 and 2012 from our audited consolidated firelrgtatements, which are included elsewhere inAhisual Report on Form
10-K. We derived the consolidated financial datatfie years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 asfdbesember 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009 from audited consolidated @irzdistatements which are not included in this AadriReport on Form 10-
K. Historical results are not necessarily indicatof the results to be expected in future periods.
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012(1) 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated statements of operation
data:

Revenue:

Subscription and support
revenue $103,11¢ $ 84,257 $ 60,16¢ $ 40,527 $ 32,24(

Professional services and other
revenue 6,77¢ 3,71¢ 3,39¢ 3,19t 3,947

Total revenue 109,89! 87,97: 63,56 43,71¢ 36,18%

Cost of revenud? )

Cost of subscription and support

revenue 29,20t 22,55 15,47¢ 11,06( 6,98¢
Cost of professional services and
other revenue 7,58¢ 4,831 4,744 4,06t 3,46:
Total cost of revenue 36,79( 27,38¢ 20,22: 15,12¢ 10,44¢
Gross profit 73,10¢ 60,58¢ 43,34: 28,59: 25,73¢
Operating expense®)
Research and development 21,05: 18,72t 15,26° 12,257 8,927
Sales and marketing 41,00( 38,72¢ 31,56« 24,12« 13,21¢
General and administrative 18,47¢ 16,73« 12,64( 9,617 6,69¢
Merger-related 2,06¢ 1,852 — — —
Total operating expenses 82,59¢ 76,03¢ 59,47: 45,99¢ 28,84
Loss from operations (9,499 (15,44°) (16,130 (17,407 (3,109
Other income (expense):
Interest income 58 10€ 23 18t 31z
Interest expense — (247) (35¢) — —
Other (expense) income, net (5949) (359 (719 (509 22
Total other (expense) income, net (53€) (499 (1,059 (319 33t

Loss before income taxes and non-
controlling interest in consolidated

subsidiary (20,030 (15,94 (17,18 (A7,72% (2,76¢)
Provision for (benefit from) income

taxes 21z (3,489 9C 56 55
Consolidated net loss (10,247 (12,457 (17,272 (17,78Y) (2,827%)

Net (income) loss attributable to r-
controlling interest in consolidated

subsidiary (20 (7349 (367) 28C 47¢
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (10,267) (13,18¢) (17,639 (17,509 (2,34%)
Accretion of dividends on redeemable

convertible preferred stock — (739 (5,639 (5,470 (4,91¢)

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders $ (10,267 $(13,919 $(23,279) $(22,97) $ (7,269




common stockholder basic anc
diluted $ (036 $ @©O5) $ @79 $ (49 $ (1.70

Weighted-average number of commo
shares used in computing net loss |
share attributable to common
stockholders — basic and diluted 28,35! 24,62¢ 4,90( 4,61 4,27¢

(1) The results of operations for Zencoder havenleeluded in our consolidated financial statemeirise the date of
acquisition on August 14, 2012.
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation included in above lir

(2) items:
Cost of subscription and support revenue $ 246 $ 128 $ 52 9% 26 % 21
Cost of professional services and other revenue 14¢ 11€ 117 99 36
Research and development 1,191 687 367 36¢ 12t
Sales and marketing 2,22¢ 1,60¢ 1,00¢ 1,45¢ 10z
General and administrative 2,58¢ 3,30¢ 2,65: 1,36 224
Total stock-based compensation $ 6,401 $ 584 $ 4,197 $ 3,31f $ 50¢

Amortization of acquired intangible assets incluc
3) in above line items:

Cost of subscription and support revenue $101L$ 3¢ — % — % —
Research and development 39 15 — — —
Sales and marketing 667 25C — — _
Total amortization of acquired intangible assets $ 1,71¢ $ 664 $ — $ — $ —

As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 36,10¢ $ 33,04. $ 17,227 $ 23,21¢ $ 25,52¢
Property and equipment, net 8,79t 8,40( 6,07¢ 4,70¢ 3,35¢
Working capital 20,75¢ 20,84 10,20« 17,26: 21,05«
Total assets 103,12t  96,99: 47,33¢ 41,98 40,25¢
Current and long-term debt — — 7,00(C — —
Current and long-term deferred revenue 23,81¢ 19,21¢ 13,77: 5,74 4,19
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants — — 424 28t 99
Redeemable convertible preferred stock — — 120,35: 114,40: 96,72¢
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 60,38( 64,49. (105,08) (86,937 (66,855

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with
the financial statements and related notes appeagisewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. fiflewing discussion
contains forward-looking statements that refleat plans, estimates, and beliefs. Our actual rescitisld differ materially from
those discussed in the forward-looking stateméTtastors that could cause or contribute to theséedénces include those
discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual RepoRorm 10-K, particularly in “Risk Factors.”

We are a leading global provider of cloud servites/ideo. Brightcove Video Cloud, or Video Cloumyr flagship product
released in 2006, is the world’s leading onlinesagighlatform. As of December 31, 2013, we had 6@idomers in over 70
countries, including many of the world’s leadingdig retail, technology and financial services camips, as well as
governments, educational institutions and non-pmfjanizations. In 2013, our customers used Vidieod to deliver an
average of approximately 963 million video stregrasmonth, which we believe is more video streasrsyonth than any
other professional solution.

Video Cloud enables our customers to publish astitidute video to Internet-connected devices qyickhsily and in a
cost-effective and high-quality manner. Our innoxa&atechnology and intuitive user interface givetouners control over a



wide range of features and functionality needepluiolish and deliver a compelling user experienteluding content
management, format conversion, video player styliigtributed caching, advertising insertion, confgrotection and
distribution to diverse device types and
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multiple websites, including their own websitesitpar websites and social media sites. Video Chdad includes
comprehensive analytics that allow customers teetstdnd and refine their engagement with end users.

As of December 31, 2012, we had 335 employees @&¥ @ustomers, of which 4,742 used our volumerioffis and 1,625
used our premium offerings. As of December 31, 20@3had 347 employees and 6,318 customers, ohwh&56 used our
volume offerings and 1,762 used our premium offgsin

We have generated substantially all of our revaoudate by offering our Video Cloud product to cunsers on a
subscription-based, software-as-a-service, or Saafel. Our revenue grew from $88.0 million in tlear ended December 31,
2012 to $109.9 million in the year ended Decemider2B13. Our consolidated net loss was $12.5 millind $10.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, resgecincluded in consolidated net loss for thalyended December 31,
2013 was stock-based compensation expense andizatiort of acquired intangible assets of $6.4 willand $1.7 million,
respectively. Included in consolidated net lossttieryear ended December 31, 2012 was stock-basegensation and
amortization of acquired intangible assets of $bi8on and $644,000, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012eeemue derived from customers located outsidelN@merica was
41% and 37%, respectively. We expect the percertdhgsal net revenue derived from outside Northekiva to increase in
future periods as we continue to expand our int@nal operations.

Our philosophy for the next few years will continieebe to invest for long-term growth. We beliekiese investments will
help us address some of the challenges facingumindss such as demand for our products by cussoanerpotential
customers, rapid technological change in our inglugicreased competition and resulting price g@sitsi. These investments
include support for the expansion of our infrastnoe within our hosting facilities, the hiring odl@itional technical and sales
personnel, and the innovation of new features fde¥ Cloud, the Zencoder media processing seruicihe Zencoder Service,
Brightcove Once, or Once, and the development wf products. We believe these investments will helpetain our existing
customers and lead to the acquisition of new custerAdditionally, we believe customer growth veiflable us to achieve
economies of scale which will reduce our cost adpsold, research and development and generaldmuhistrative expenses
as a percentage of total revenue.

Acquisitions

On August 14, 2012, we acquired Zencoder, a clasth media processing service and HTMLS5 video plegdnology
provider, for total consideration of approximaté&B/7.4 million. This transaction was accounted foder the purchase method
of accounting. Accordingly, the results of operai@f Zencoder have been included in our conseiihancial statements
since the date of acquisition. All of the assetpu@red and liabilities assumed in the transactianehbeen recognized at their
acquisition date fair values, which were finaliz#december 31, 2012. The acquisition did not tésuhe addition of any
reportable segments.

On January 8, 2013, we acquired the remaining 3itééast of our majority-owned subsidiary, Brighted<abushiki
Kaisha, or Brightcove KK, a Japanese joint ventunéch was formed on July 18, 2008. The purchaseef the remaining
equity interest was approximately $1.1 million aves funded by cash on hand. Given that we now d¥@%4lof Brightcove
KK, we will continue to consolidate Brightcove Kidrffinancial reporting purposes, however, commegoin January 8, 2013,
we no longer record a non-controlling interesthie tonsolidated statements of operations.

On January 31, 2014, we acquired substantiallgfalie assets of Unicorn Media, Inc. and certaiitsofubsidiaries, or
Unicorn, a provider of cloud video ad insertionttealogy, for total consideration of approximate$0$L million, which was
funded by cash on hand of $9.5 million and 2,850 84ares of our common stock. The results of ojpersbf Unicorn will be
consolidated with our results of operations begigron January 31, 2014, the closing date of thesaetion.
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Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includthg following key metrics, to evaluate our businessasure our
performance, identify trends affecting our businéssmulate financial projections and make stratefgcisions.

Number of Custome. We define our number of customers at the eraprticular quarter as the number of custol
generating subscription revenue at the end of tlaetgr. We believe the number of customers is arkdigator of our
market penetration, the productivity of our salegamization and the value that our products brinbdth large and
small organizations. We classify our customersrigjuiding them in either premium or volume offerin@air premium
offerings include our premium Video Cloud custom@sterprise and Pro editions) and our Zencodeioousrs who
are on annual contracts. Our volume offerings idelaur Video Cloud Express customers and our Zesrangstomers
on month-to-month and pay-as-you-go contracts.

During 2013, the number of customers remainedivelgtconsistent, and during 2012, the number ctamers
increased 64%. As of December 31, 2013, we had&;84tomers, of which 4,556 used our volume oftgriand 1,762
used our premium offerings. As of December 31, 20@2had 6,367 customers, of which 4,742 used olumnve
offerings and 1,625 used our premium offerings.uvitdé customers decreased during 2013 primarily oweit
discontinuation of the promotional Video Cloud Exgs offering. As a result, we experienced attritbthis base level
offering without a corresponding addition of cusey® We expect customers using our volume offeriag®ntinue to
decrease in 2014 as we discontinue additional Viélead Express price levels.

Average Monthly Strean. We define average monthly streams as the yedat® average number of monthly stream
starts on Video Cloud. We believe the average numbmonthly streams is a key indicator of both #a®ption of
Video Cloud as an online video platform and theaghoof video content across the Internet.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the agaramber of monthly streams was approximately 98Bom an
increase of 38% from approximately 699 million digrithe year ended December 31, 2012.

Recurring Dollar Retention Ra. We assess our ability to retain customers uaingetric we refer to as our recurring
dollar retention rate. We calculate the recurrinfjad retention rate by dividing the retained remg value of
subscription revenue for a period by the previaecairring value of subscription revenue for the saeréod. We define
retained recurring value of subscription revenuthacommitted subscription fees for all contrdhtd renew in a give
period. We define previous recurring value of suipsion revenue as the recurring value from comexitsubscription
fees for all contracts that expire in that sameogeiWe typically calculate our recurring dollateetion rate on a
monthly basis. Recurring dollar retention rate juleg visibility into our ongoing revenue.

During both the years ended December 31, 2013 @hd, 2he recurring dollar retention rate was 94%.

The following table includes our key metrics foe theriods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Customers (at period end)
Volume 4,55¢ 4,74
Premium 1,762 1,62¢
Total customers (at period end) 6,31¢ 6,361
Average monthly year-to-date streams (in thousands) 962,84 698,68!
Recurring dollar retention rate 94% 94%

32




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Components of Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue

Subscription and Support RevenueWe generate subscription and support revenue fnensale of Video Cloud and the
Zencoder Service.

Video Cloud is offered in two product lines. Thesfiproduct line is comprised of our premium prddeditions, Enterprise
and Pro. The Enterprise edition provides additideatures and functionality such as a multi-accamvironment with
consolidated billing, IP address filtering, theléypito produce live events with DVR functionalignd advanced upload
acceleration of content. Customer arrangementtypieally one year contracts, which include a suipsion to our platform,
basic support and a pre-determined amount of vétleams, bandwidth, and managed content. We dlspguld support to
our premium customers for an additional fee, whintludes extended phone support. The pricing forpoemium editions is
based on the number of users, accounts and ushgd i& comprised of video streams, bandwidth aadaged content.
Should a customer’s usage of this service excez=ddhtractual entitlements, the contract will pdavthe rate at which the
customer must pay for actual usage above the ata#izentitiements. The second product line is aasegd of our volume
product edition, which we refer to as our Expredii@n. Our Express edition targets small and medgized businesses, or
SMBs. The Express edition provides customers vhighsame basic functionality that is offered in premium product editions
but has been designed for customers who have losage requirements and do not typically seek asghfeatures and
functionality. We are discontinuing the lower leypeicing options for the Express edition and exjtkettotal number of
customers using the Express edition to continudetwease. Customers who purchase the Expressnegéierally enter into
month-to-month agreements. Express customers aeraly billed on a monthly basis and pay via aitreard, or they are
billed annually in advance.

The Zencoder Service includes all of the featurekfanctionality necessary to encode digital fdesl convert them into a
wide range of formats in a high-quality manner. Shevice is offered to customers on a subscrigisis, with either
committed contracts or pay-as-you-go contracts. grfeng is based on usage, which is comprisediofitas of video
processed. The committed contracts include a finedber of minutes of video processed. Should aoust's usage of this
service exceed the contractual entitlements, théract will provide the rate at which the custommrst pay for actual usage
above the contractual entittlements. CustomerseoZdncoder Service on annual contracts are coesiggemium customers.
Customers on month-to-month contracts, pay-as-ymoegtracts, or contracts for a period of less thaa year, are considered
volume customers.

Professional Services and Other ReverueProfessional services and other revenue cordistsrvices such as
implementation, software customizations and prajeghagement for customers who subscribe to ouripreraditions. These
arrangements are priced either on a fixed fee bé#isa portion due upon contract signing and #reainder due when the
related services have been completed, or on aaimdanaterials basis.

Our backlog consists of the total future value wf committed customer contracts, whether billedrdrilled. As of
December 31, 2013, we had backlog of approxim#&8&8 million compared to backlog of approximately$hillion as of
December 31, 2012. Of the approximately $59 millimbacklog as of December 31, 2013, between $8ibmand $54
million is expected to be recognized as revenuiduhe year ended December 31, 2014. Becauseuevenany period is a
function of revenue recognized from backlog attibginning of the period as well as from contraoekeals and new customer
contracts executed during the period, backlogeb#ginning of any period is not necessarily iniifeaof future performance.
Our presentation of backlog may differ from thabtfier companies in our industry.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of subscription, support and professionaliseswevenue primarily consists of costs relatesifaporting and hosting
our product offerings and delivering our professicservices. These costs include salaries, benifitsntive compensation and
stock-based compensation expense related to thagearent of our data centers, our customer supgem aind our
professional services staff. In addition to thegee@ses, we incur third-party service provider €ssich as data center and
content delivery network expenses,

33




TABLE OF CONTENTS

allocated overhead, depreciation expense and amatiot of capitalized internal-use software develept costs and acquired
intangible assets. We allocate overhead costsasichnt, utilities and supplies to all departméised on relative headcount.
As such, general overhead expenses are reflectambirof revenue in addition to each operating egpeategory.

The costs associated with providing professionalises are significantly higher as a percentagelaited revenue than the
costs associated with delivering our subscriptioth support services due to the labor costs of dingiprofessional services.
As such, the implementation and professional sesvoosts relating to an arrangement with a nevomestare more significant
than the costs to renew a customer’s subscriptidnrsapport arrangement.

Cost of revenue increased in absolute dollars 2042 to 2013. In future periods we expect our obsevenue will
increase in absolute dollars as our revenue inesed¥e also expect that cost of revenue as a gagenf revenue will
decrease over time as we are able to achieve e¢esafiscale in our business. However, cost ofmageas a percentage of
revenue could fluctuate from period to period dejeg on the growth of our professional servicesress and any associated
costs relating to the delivery of subscription s and the timing of significant expenditures.ti® extent that our customer
base grows, we intend to continue to invest adufioesources in expanding the delivery capabifitpur products and other
services. The timing of these additional expensesdcaffect our cost of revenue, both in termshfaute dollars and as a
percentage of revenue, in any particular quartrignnual period.

Operating Expenses
We classify our operating expenses as follows:

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses consist pyimpersonnel and related expenses for
our research and development staff, including Eslabenefits, incentive compensation and stockdhasmpensation, in
addition to the costs associated with contractodsalocated overhead. We have focused our researtidevelopment efforts
on expanding the functionality and scalability of @roducts and enhancing their ease of use, dsaweteating new product
offerings. We expect research and development esgseto increase in absolute dollars as we interdritinue to periodically
release new features and functionality, expancpoaaluct offerings, continue the localization of guoducts in various
languages, upgrade and extend our service offeramgbdevelop new technologies. Over the long terenbelieve that research
and development expenses as a percentage of rewmilhdecrease, but will vary depending upon the& wifi revenue from new
and existing products, features and functionadisyyell as changes in the technology that our mtsduaust support, such as
new operating systems or new Internet-connecteitegv

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primdripesonnel and related expenses for our sales and
marketing staff, including salaries, benefits, imég compensation, commissions, stock-based cosapenm and travel costs,
amortization of acquired intangible assets, in taidito costs associated with marketing and proomatii events, corporate
communications, advertising, other brand building product marketing expenses and allocated overl@&ar sales and
marketing expenses have increased in absolutersiafl@ach of the last three years. We intend tigoe to invest in sales and
marketing and increase the number of sales repasars to add new customers and expand the salergiroduct offerings
within our existing customer base, build brand amass and sponsor additional marketing events.rdowly, in future
periods we expect sales and marketing expensetease in absolute dollars and continue to be @t significant operating
expense. Over the long term, we believe that saldsmarketing expense as a percentage of revefiwesiease, but will vary
depending upon the mix of revenue from new andiegisustomers and from small, medium-sized andrpnise customers,
as well as changes in the productivity of our sales$ marketing programs.

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consistgpilyyof personnel and related expenses for
executive, legal, finance, information technologg dauman resources functions, including salariesgfits, incentive
compensation and stock-based compensation, ini@wldit the costs associated with professional fe@ssrance premiums,
other corporate expenses and allocated overhedutuire periods we expect general and administatipenses to increase in
absolute dollars as we continue to incur additigreasonnel and professional services costs in ¢odereet the compliance
requirements of
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operating as a public company, including thosescimsturred in connection with Section 404 of theb@aes-Oxley Act. Over
the long term, we believe that general and adnmatigse expenses as a percentage of revenue wikdse.

Merger-related. Merger-related costs consisted of transactigrerges and related charges incurred as part &etheoder
and Unicorn Media acquisitions as well as coste@ated with the retention of key employees of Zsler. Approximately
$2.7 million is required to be paid to retain certeey employees from the Zencoder acqusition evievo-year period from the
date of acquisition of Zencoder as services arfopaed. Given that the retention amount is related future service
requirement, the related expense is being recadeaderger-related compensation expense in the lidaigol statement of
operations over the expected service period.

Other Expense

Other expense consists primarily of interest ince@ened on our cash, cash equivalents and invetnfereign exchange
gains and losses, interest expense payable orebtirldss on disposal of equipment and changdeeirfeir value of the
warrants issued in connection with a line of credit

Non-Controlling Interest

Our results include a non-controlling interest igRtcove KK. We owned 63% of the entity at DecemBk, 2012. The
non-controlling interest in Brightcove KK is repedtas a separate component of stockholders’ eiquityr consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2012. The portioetdhcome attributable to non-controlling interisgpresented as net income
attributable to non-controlling interest in condalied subsidiary in our consolidated statementgpefations through January 7,
2013. Two of the minority interest holders in Brighve KK, J-Stream and Dentsu, also acted as ptatisicibutors for
Brightcove KK in Japan. We historically recordeglerue from sales to J-Stream and Dentsu as reeorue related party.

On January 8, 2013, we acquired the remaining 3ité6ast in Brightcove KK for a purchase price gbapximately $1.1
million. As a result of the transaction, we now o%80% of Brightcove KK and will continue to constdte Brightcove KK for
financial reporting purposes, however, commencimganuary 8, 2013, we will no longer record a nontolling interest in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidifiteancial statements, we are required to estimatdaxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. We account fardme taxes in accordance with the asset anditiaviethod. Under this
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized based on temporary differences betweefirthecial reporting and
income tax bases of assets and liabilities usiamitsiry rates. In addition, this method requireslaation allowance against net
deferred tax assets if, based upon the availalteree, it is more likely than not that some oroélthe deferred tax assets will
not be realized. We have provided a valuation allove against our existing net deferred tax ass@&e@mber 31, 2013, with
the exception of the deferred tax assets relat@&tightcove KK.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Our cost of revenue, research and developmeng aalt marketing, and general and administrativermsgs include stock-
based compensation expense. Stock-based compensgpiense represents the fair value of outstarstinck options and
restricted stock awards, which is recognized ages@ over the respective stock option and resiritteck award service
periods. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 2011, we recorded $6.4 million, $5.8 milliand $4.2 million,
respectively, of stock-based compensation expéliseexpect stock-based compensation expense t@seie absolute dollars
in future periods.

Foreign Currency Translation

With regard to our international operations, wejfrently enter into transactions in currencies othan the U.S. dollar. As
a result, our revenue, expenses and cash flowsubject to fluctuations due to changes in foreigmency exchange rates,
particularly changes in the euro, British pounds#alian dollar, and
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Japanese yen. For the year ended December 31,2013, and 2011, 45%, 41%, and 39%, respectivélguorevenue was
generated in locations outside the United StatesinD the same periods, 31%, 29%, and 28%, resadgtiof our revenue was
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, as wereesof the associated expenses. In periods whed.fedollar declines in
value as compared to the foreign currencies in whie conduct business, our foreign currency-baseeinue and expenses
generally increase in value when translated in®. dollars. We expect our foreign currency-basedmae to increase in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of total teven

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generatigepted in the United
States. The preparation of these financial staté&requires us to make estimates and assumptiahaffiect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the discksiicontingent assets and liabilities at the datle financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses dhengporting periods. We base our estimates ginrital experience and
on various other assumptions that are believe@ teeasonable under the circumstances, the reguitisich form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assed liabilities that are not readily apparenirfrather sources. Our actual
results may differ from these estimates under gifieassumptions or conditions.

We believe that the following significant accountipolicies, which are more fully described in thegas to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in thisuahiReport on Form 10-K, involve a greater degfgdaagment and
complexity. Accordingly, these are the policieslvatieve are the most critical to aid in fully unskanding and evaluating our
financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We primarily derive revenue from the sale of oulirvideo platform, which enables our customerpublish and
distribute video to Internet-connected devices kjyjeasily and in a cost-effective and high-qyatitanner. Revenue is
derived from three primary sources: (1) the subpsiom to our technology and related support; (Xtimg, bandwidth and
encoding services; and (3) professional servicégwinclude initiation, set-up and customizatiemsces.

We recognize revenue when all of the following dtods are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive ewigeof an arrangement;
(2) the service has been provided to the custo@gthe collection of fees is probable; and (4) aheount of fees to be paid by
the customer is fixed or determinable.

Our subscription arrangements provide customersighéto access our hosted software applicati@ustomers do not
have the right to take possession of our softwarend the hosting arrangement. Accordingly, we ggipe revenue in
accordance with Accounting Standards Codificat®8¢) 605,Revenue RecognitiorContracts for premium customers
generally have a term of one year and are non-fahte These contracts generally provide the gustowith an annual level
of usage, and provide the rate at which the customust pay for actual usage above the annual alitenasage. For these
services, we recognize the annual fee ratably\aentee each month. Should a customer’s usage fesuices exceed the
annual allowable level, revenue is recognized fimhsexcess in the period of the usage. Contractgolame customers are
generally month-to-month arrangements, have a maximonthly level of usage and provide the ratetdtivthe customer
must pay for actual usage above the monthly allésvasage. The monthly volume subscription and st usage fees are
recognized as revenue during the period in whiehrétated cash is collected.

Revenue recognition commences upon the later ohwhee application is placed in a production envinemt, or when all
revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Professional services and other revenue sold tena-slone basis are recognized as the servicgmeei@med, subject to
any refund or other obligation.

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to custerfoe which revenue has not been recognized, anthgly consists of
the unearned portion of annual software subscnripdiod support fees, and deferred professionalceefges.

Revenue is presented net of any taxes collectedl éustomers.
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Multiple-Element Arrangements

We periodically enter into multiple-element servazeangements that include platform subscripti@s fsupport fees,
initiation fees, and, in certain cases, other msifnal services.

Initiation fees and other professional services@bd when services are first activated are recoadedeferred revenue, and
recognized as revenue ratably over a term begiruqpog go-live of the software application and edteg through the contract
term.

We assess arrangements with multiple deliverabidgiuAccounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009RE&enue
Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-Deliverable ReneArrangements — a Consensus of the FASB Emdsgings Task
Force. Arrangement consideration is allocated to detibbrs based on their relative selling price.

In order to treat deliverables in a multiple-eletn@mangement as separate units of accountingldlierables must have
stand-alone value upon delivery. If the deliveralflave stand-alone value upon delivery, we acdourgach deliverable
separately. Subscription services have stand-alalue as such services are often sold separatetietermining whether
professional services have stand-alone value, wsider the following factors for each professiosmivices agreement:
availability of the services from other vendors tiature of the professional services, the timiingten the professional
services contract was signed in comparison toubsdiption service start date, and the contractependence of the
subscription service on the customer’s satisfaatiih the professional services work. To date, aeehconcluded that all of
the professional services included in multiple-edetrarrangements executed have stand-alone vaithethe exception of
initiation and activation fees.

When multiple deliverables included in an arrangenage separated into different units of accountihg arrangement
consideration is allocated to the identified sefgaumits based on a relative selling price hienartie determine the relative
selling price for a deliverable based on its versfmecific objective evidence of fair value (VSOE)gvailable, or its best
estimate of selling price (BESP), if VSOE is noa#able. We have determined that third-party eviageof selling price is not a
practical alternative due to differences in ouv&er offerings compared to other parties and ttalahility of relevant third
party pricing information. The amount of revenueedted to delivered items is limited by contingestenue, if any.

We have not established VSOE for our offerings tdue lack of pricing consistency, the introduotf new services and
other factors. Accordingly, we use our BESP to aeire the relative selling price. We determine BEfyRonsidering our
overall pricing objectives and market conditionign#icant pricing practices taken into considevatinclude our discounting
practices, the size and volume of our transactithresgeographic area where services are sold, [stseour go-to-market
strategy, historical contractually stated priced grior relationships and future subscription sez\gales with certain classes of
customers.

The determination of BESP is made through consattatith and approval by our management, taking oansideration
the go-to-market strategy. As our go-to-markettsgi@s evolve, we may modify our pricing practiocethe future, which could
result in changes in selling prices, including bgBOE and BESP. We plan to analyze the sellingegricsed in our allocation
of arrangement consideration, at a minimum, onrarual basis. Selling prices will be analyzed onaerfrequent basis if a
significant change in our business necessitatesra timely analysis or if we experience significaatiances in our selling
prices.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We offset gross trade accounts receivable withllamance for doubtful accounts. The allowance foulitful accounts is
our best estimate of the amount of probable clestes in our existing accounts receivable ands&d upon historical loss
patterns, the number of days that billings are gastand an evaluation of the potential risk o§ lassociated with specific
accounts. Provisions for allowances for doubtfuloamts are recorded in general and administratipergse. If, upon signing a
customer arrangement, the related account receivsiblot considered collectable, we will defer dlssociated revenue until we
collect the cash. To date, we have not incurredsagificant write-offs of accounts receivable and
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have not been required to revise any of our assompbr estimates used in determining our allowdaceoubtful accounts.
As of December 31, 2013, our allowance for doukdftdounts was $461,000.

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred to develop software applicationslis@ur on-demand application services consigaptertain external
direct costs of materials and services incurredieveloping or obtaining internal-use computer safwand (b) payroll and
payroll-related costs for employees who are diyeasisociated with, and who devote time to, thegutojThese costs generally
consist of internal labor during configuration, cagland testing activities. Research and developrests incurred during the
preliminary project stage or costs incurred foladadnversion activities, training, maintenance gaderal and administrative or
overhead costs are expensed as incurred. Caplitatizeegins when the preliminary project stageoisiplete, management with
the relevant authority authorizes and commits éoftinding of the software project, it is probaliie project will be completed,
and the software will be used to perform the fuondiintended and certain functional and qualitpdaads have been met.
Qualified costs incurred during the operating staigeur software applications relating to upgraded enhancements are
capitalized to the extent it is probable that théy result in added functionality, while costs theannot be separated between
maintenance of, and minor upgrades and enhancemeeinsernal-use software are expensed as incufieese capitalized
costs are amortized on a straight line basis dwveekpected useful life of the software, whicthigé years. We capitalized $1.1
million in 2013, $24,000 in 2012 and $354,000 i1 20respectively, of internal-use software develephtosts. Amortization
of software development costs was $312,000 in 2$342,000 in 2012 and $886,000 in 2011, respegtivel

In addition to the software development costs diesdrabove, we incur costs to develop computenswé to be licensed or
otherwise marketed to customers. Costs incurréldamesearch, design and development of softwargale to others are
charged to expense until technological feasibifitgstablished. We capitalize direct computer saféndevelopment costs upon
achievement of technological feasibility subjech&t realizable value considerations. Thereaftdtyware development costs
are capitalized until the product is released andréized to product cost of sales on a straighg-basis over the lesser of three
years or the estimated economic lives of the rasmeproducts. We have determined that technold@gassibility is established
at the time a working model of software is comple®@ecause we believe our current process for dpired software will be
essentially completed concurrently with the essdintient of technological feasibility, no costs hbeen capitalized to date.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and international jurisdictions, and we istarates in determining
our provision for income taxes. We account for meataxes under the asset and liability method dooanting and reporting
for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liadslitire recognized based on temporary differendeebe the financial
reporting and income tax basis of assets and iliglsilusing statutory rates. This process requiset® project our current tax
liability and estimate our deferred tax assetslatnilities, including net operating losses and ¢aadit carryforwards. In
assessing the need for a valuation allowance, wsidered our recent operating results, future tiaxi@micome projections and
feasible tax planning strategies. We have provaledluation allowance against our net deferrechtsets at December 31,
2013 with the exception of the deferred tax assdtted to Brightcove KK. Due to the evolving natand complexity of tax
regulations combined with the number of jurisdiotian which we operate, it is possible that ouinestes of our tax liability
could change in the future, which may result initididal tax liabilities and adversely affect ousuv#ts of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had no materiacognized tax benefits.

Business Combinations

We record tangible and intangible assets acquinediabilities assumed in business combinationseutite purchase
method of accounting. Amounts paid for each actjoisare allocated to the assets acquired anditiabiassumed based on
their fair values at the date of acquisition. Wertfallocate the purchase price in excess of ngtlitnassets acquired to
identifiable intangible assets based on detailédatimns that use information and assumptions piexvby management. We
allocate any excess purchase price over the fair
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value of the net tangible and intangible assetsiaed and liabilities assumed to goodwill. If therfvalue of the assets acquired
exceeds our purchase price, the excess is recabasza gain.

Significant management judgments and assumptianseguired in determining the fair value of acqdiessets and
liabilities, particularly acquired intangible assethe valuation of purchased intangible assdiasged upon estimates of the
future performance and cash flows from the acquingginess. Each asset is measured at fair valaetfre perspective of a
market participant.

If different assumptions are used, it could matigrisnpact the purchase price allocation and adsigraffect our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Intangible Assets and Goodwiill

We amortize our intangible assets that have fiiies using either the straight-line method orgeifably determinable,
based on the pattern in which the economic beakfhie asset is expected to be consumed utilizipgeted undiscounted
future cash flows. Amortization is recorded oves &stimated useful lives ranging from two to foertegears.

We review our intangible assets subject to amditinao determine if any adverse conditions exish ghange in
circumstances has occurred that would indicate iim@ant or a change in the remaining useful lifehl carrying value of an
asset exceeds its undiscounted cash flows, wewitlk down the carrying value of the intangibleetds its fair value in the
period identified. In assessing recoverability, wast make assumptions regarding estimated futugle flaws and discount
rates. If these estimates or related assumpticarsgehin the future, we may be required to recoqhinment charges. We
generally calculate fair value as the present vafigstimated future cash flows to be generatethbyasset using a risk adjusted
discount rate. If the estimate of an intangibleetissemaining useful life is changed, we will atiwe the remaining carrying
value of the intangible asset prospectively overrévised remaining useful life.

We review the carrying value of goodwill for impaient whenever events or changes in circumstandésabe that the
carrying value of goodwill may exceed its fair valand otherwise at least annually. Conditions ¢batd trigger a more
frequent impairment assessment include, but arémibed to, a significant adverse change in certgreements, significant
underperformance relative to historical or projddigture operating results, an economic downturcuistomers’ industries,
increased competition, a significant reductionum stock price for a sustained period or a rednotibour market capitalization
relative to net book value. We evaluate impairnigntomparing the estimated fair value of each répgunit to its carrying
value. We estimate fair value primarily utilizingetmarket approach, which calculates fair valuedas the market values of
comparable companies or comparable transactiontsaf@sults may differ materially from these esties. The estimates we
make in determining the fair value of our reportingt involve the application of judgment, whichudt affect the timing and
size of any future impairment charges. Impairmémtur goodwill could significantly affect our opeirag results and financial
position.

We continually evaluate whether events or circumsga have occurred that indicate that the estimratedining useful life
of our long-lived assets may warrant revision at the carrying value of these assets may be imgafkny write-downs are
treated as permanent reductions in the carryinguabf the assets. We must use judgment in evalyathether events or
circumstances indicate that useful lives shoulchgkaor that the carrying value of assets has bapaired. Any resulting
revision in the useful life or the amount of an amment also requires judgment. Any of these judgimeould affect the timing
or size of any future impairment charges. Revisibaseful lives or impairment charges could sigrafitly affect our operating
results and financial position.

We adopted ASU No. 2011-Otangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) TegtBoodwill for Impairment Under
ASU 2011-08, we have the option to assess quakitddictors to determine whether the existence eftsvor circumstances
leads to a determination that it is more likelyrttmt that the fair value of a reporting unit isdehan its carrying amount to
determine whether further impairment testing isassary. Based on the assessment of these qualitatitors, we determined
that no impairment indicators were noted, allowisgto forego the quantitative analysis.
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Stock-based Compensation

Accounting guidance requires employee stock-basagthpnts to be accounted for under the fair valudoak Under this
method, we are required to record compensationbasstd on the estimated fair value for stock-baseatds granted over the
requisite service periods for the individual awamBich generally equals the vesting periods. Weethe straight-line
amortization method for recognizing stock-based pemsation expense associated with equity awardsployees.

We estimate the fair value of employee stock ogstion the date of grant using the Black-Scholeoptricing model,
which requires the use of highly subjective estematnd assumptions. For restricted stock awardedsse estimate the fair
value of each grant based on the stock price oEommmon stock on the date of grant. As there wgsufdic market for our
common stock prior to February 17, 2012, the eiffeatiate of our initial public offering, or IPO, @ias the trading history of
our common stock was limited through December 8122we determined the volatility for options gethbased on an
analysis of reported data for a peer group of camngsathat issued options with substantially simigams. The expected
volatility of options granted has been determinsithgian average of the historical volatility measuof this peer group of
companies. The expected life assumption is baseldeotsimplified method” for estimating expectednteas we do not have
sufficient stock option exercise experience to supa reasonable estimate of the expected termriskdree interest rate is
based on a treasury instrument whose term is densiwith the expected life of the stock options We an expected dividend
rate of zero as we currently have no history oreigtion of paying dividends on our common stookaddition, we have
estimated expected forfeitures of stock optiongtam our historical forfeiture rate and used thrases in developing a future
forfeiture rate. If our actual forfeiture rate v@sifrom our historical rates and estimates, additiadjustments to compensation
expense may be required in future periods.

Given the absence of an active market for our comstock prior to the completion of our IPO on Febyul7, 2012, the
fair value of our common stock underlying our stdased awards was determined by our board of dirgovhich intended all
stock-based awards granted to be at a price pez sloaless than the per share fair value of ooroon stock underlying those
awards on the date of grant. The valuations oftoummon stock were determined in accordance witlytl@elines outlined in
the American Institute of Certified Public Accounts Practice Aidyaluation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secesti
Issued as CompensatioiThe assumptions we use in the valuation modetwased on future expectations combined with
management’s judgment. In the absence of a publiirntg market, our board, with input from managemexercised
significant judgment and considered numerous olveeind subjective factors to determine the falugaf our common stock
as of the date of each award grant, including tfiewing factors:

« therights, preferences and privileges of oueesdable convertible preferred stock relative toammmon stock;
« the prices of our preferred stock sold to outsdestors in arms-length transactions;

e secondary transactions in our common stock;

e our stage of development, operating and finamealormance and revenue growth;

e current business conditions and projections;

e the hiring of key personnel;

e the history of our company and the introductiémew products and services;

e the illiquid nature of our common stock;

e contemporaneous or other valuations of our comstock performed by an independent valuation sfisgia

» the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event fire shares of common stock underlying these awaud$ as an IPO or
sale of our company, given prevailing market candg; and

« the U.S. and global capital market conditions.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of opienas for the periods presented. The period-toguecomparison of
financial results is not necessarily indicativeidtire results.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands)

Consolidated statements of operations data:

Revenue:

Subscription and support revenue $103,11¢ $84,257 $ 60,16¢

Professional services and other revenue 6,77¢ 3,71¢ 3,394
Total revenue 109,89! 87,97 63,56!
Cost of revenue:

Cost of subscription and support revenue 29,20¢ 22,55 15,47¢

Cost of professional services and other revenue 7,58¢ 4,831 4,744
Total cost of revenue 36,79( 27,38¢ 20,22:

Gross profit 73,10¢ 60,58¢ 43,34

Operating expenses:

Research and development 21,05: 18,72¢ 15,26

Sales and marketing 41,00( 38,72¢ 31,56¢

General and administrative 18,47¢ 16,73¢ 12,64(

Merger-related 2,06¢ 1,852 —
Total operating expenses 82,59¢ 76,03¢ 59,47:
Loss from operations (9,499 (15,44°) (16,130
Other income (expense):

Interest income 58 10€ 23

Interest expense — (247) (359

Other expense, net (599 (359 (719
Total other expense, net (53€) (499 (1,059
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling irgtieire

consolidated subsidiary (20,030) (15,947 (17,189
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 212 (3,489 aC
Consolidated net loss (10,247 (12,457) (17,272
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in

consolidated subsidiary (20 (739 (367)
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (10,267) (13,18¢) (17,639
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertiblefgnred stock — (739) (5,639
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(10,267) $(13,919 $ (23,279

Overview of Results of Operations for the Years Eneld December 31, 2013 and 2012

Total revenue increased by 25%, or $21.9 milliar2013 compared to 2012 due to an increase in spben and support
revenue of 22%, or $18.9 million, respectively, amdncrease in professional services and othentey of 82%, or $3.1
million, respectively. The increase in subscriptéord support revenue resulted primarily from améase in the number of our



premium customers, which was 1,762 as of Decembe2@®L3 an increase of 8% from 1,625 customers Becember 31,
2012, as well as an increase in revenue from egististomers. In addition, our revenue from volufierings grew by $2.3
million, or 28%, from the prior year. Our ability tontinue to provide the product functionality ggeiformance that our
customers require will be a major factor in oudigbto continue to increase revenue.
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Our gross profit increased by $12.5 million, or 21#62013 compared to 2012, primarily due to améase in revenue.
With the continued growth in our total revenue, ability to continue to maintain our overall grg@sfit will depend on our
ability to continue controlling our costs of deliye

Loss from operations was $9.5 million in 2013 corepato $15.4 million in 2012. Loss from operatiam2013 included
stock-based compensation expense, amortizatioogufir@d intangible assets and merger-related exsenfs$6.4 million, $1.7
million and $2.1 million, respectively. Loss fromerations in 2012 included stock-based compensatipanse, amortization
of acquired intangible assets and merger-relatpdreses of $5.8 million, $644,000 and $1.9 milli@spectively. Over time we
expect operating income to improve from increasdelssto both new and existing customers and froprored efficiencies
throughout our organization as we continue to gaod scale our operations.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $33.0 million afestricted cash and cash equivalents, an incréd&gELd million from
$21.7 million at December 31, 2012, due primaidy$8.2 million in maturities of investments offégt $1.1 million used to
purchase the non-controlling interest of our Brigive KK subsidiary and $3.9 million in capital erpéures to support the
business.

Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 Change
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue by Product Line Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Premium $ 99,46¢ 91% $ 79,79¢ 91% $ 19,67: 25%
Volume 10,42% 9 8,17 9 2,25( 28
Total $ 109,89 100% $ 87,97 100% $ 21,92 25%

During 2013, revenue increased by $21.9 millior2%%, compared to 2012, primarily due to an ineéasevenue from
our premium offerings, which consist of subscriptand support revenue, as well as professionaicesrand other revenue.
The increase in premium revenue of $19.7 milliar2®%, compared to 2012, is partially the resuiofB% increase in the
number of premium customers from 1,625 at DecerBbeP012 to 1,762 at December 31, 2013. There aleteincreases in
professional services revenue as well as an inelieagvenue from existing customers. In 2013, m@uevenue grew by $2.3
million, or 28%, compared to 2012. The increaselmattributed to a full twelve months of Zencodelume revenue during
2013 as compared to partial revenue in the correfipg period of the prior year.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change

Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue by Type Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Subscription and support $103,11¢ 94% $ 84,25: 96% $ 18,85¢ 22%
Professional services and othel 6,77¢ 6 3,71¢ 4 3,06: 82
Total $109,89! 100% $ 87,97: 10C% $ 21,92 25%

During 2013, subscription and support revenue emed by $18.9 million, or 22%, compared to 2012 iflcrease was
primarily related to the continued growth of oustamer base for our premium offerings, includinigsao both new and
existing customers. Professional services and odvenue increased by $3.1 million, or 82%. Dui@28g 3, there was an
increase in the number of professional servicesgaments that were related to projects and impl&atiens supporting
subscription sales. Professional services and oghvenue will vary from period to period dependorgthe number of
implementations and other projects that are ingssc
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change

Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue by Geography Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

North America $ 65,33¢ 5% $ 55,83¢ 63% $ 9,50( 17%
Europe 27,18( 25 20,31« 23 6,86¢ 34
Japan 6,497 6 5,94¢ 7 54¢ 9
Asia Pacific 10,09¢ 9 5,17¢ 6 4,921 95
Other 787 1 70C 1 87 12
International subtotal 44,55¢ 41 32,13: 37 12,42: 39
Total $109,89! 10C% $ 87,97: 10(% $ 21,92: 25%

For purposes of this section, we designate revbgugeographic regions based upon the locationsio€astomers. North
America is comprised of revenue from the Unitede&aCanada and Mexico. International is comprifegvenue from
locations outside of North America. Depending oatilming of new customer contracts, revenue mirmf@geographic region
can vary from period to period.

During 2013, total revenue for North America inced $9.5 million, or 17%, compared to 2012. Thegase in revenue
for North America resulted primarily from an incseain subscription and support revenue from oumpm offerings. During
2013, total revenue outside of North America insezh$12.4 million, or 39%, compared to 2012. Tloegase in revenue
internationally was the result of our increasingu® on marketing our services internationally.

Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
Percentage of Percentage of
Related Related
Cost of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Subscription and support $ 29,20t 28% $ 22,55 27% $ 6,652 29Y%
Professional services and othei 7,58¢ 112 4,831 13C 2,754 57
Total $ 36,79( 33% $ 27,38 31% $ 9,40¢ 34 %

During 2013, cost of subscription and support rereimncreased $6.7 million, or 29%, compared to 20h2 increase
resulted primarily from an increase in the costafitent delivery network expenses, network hostenyices, employee-related
expenses and third-party software as a servicgriated with our service offering of $3.6 milliorl..8 million, $436,000 and
$175,000, respectively. There were also increasambrtization of acquired intangible assets aqkeses related to computer
maintenance and support of $634,000 and $309,868pectively.

During 2013, cost of professional services andratireenue increased $2.8 million, or 57%, compane2D12. The increase
resulted primarily from an increase in contractqpenses and employee-related expenses of $2.bmélhid $493,000,
respectively, in order to support the increaseragigssional services engagements.

Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
Percentage of Percentage of
Related Related
Gross Profit Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Subscription and support $73,91: 72% $61,70¢ 73% $ 12,200 2%



Total $73,10¢ 67% $60,58¢ 69% $ 12,51¢ 21%
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During 2013, the overall gross profit percentags @@% compared to 69% during 2012. It is likelyt ijass profit, as a
percentage of revenue, will fluctuate quarter bgrtgr due to the timing and mix of subscription andport revenue and
professional services and other revenue, and ties tyming and duration of service required inaling certain projects. The
professional services and other gross profit peéaggnincreased from 2012 to 2013 as we have catitaubuild the
professional services organization while betteetaging fixed costs with increased customer implgateon and customization
projects.

Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change

Percentage of Percentage of
Operating Expenses Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Research and development $ 21,05: 19% $ 18,72t 21% $ 2,327 1%
Sales and marketing 41,00( 37 38,72¢ 44 2,27¢ 6
General and administrative 18,47¢ 17 16,73¢ 19 1,74¢ 10
Merger-related 2,06¢ 2 1,852 2 217 12

Total $ 82,59¢ 75% $ 76,03« 86% $ 6,568 9%

Research and DevelopmentDuring 2013, research and development experseadsed by $2.3 million, or 12%, compared
to 2012 primarily due to increases in employeeteeland stock-based compensation expenses of $ilichrand $504,000,
respectively. Rent and travel expenses also inedcelg $254,000 and $210,000, respectively. In &uperiods, we expect that
our research and development expense will contimirgcrease in absolute dollars as we continueltbeanployees, develop
new features and functionality for our product$idduce additional software solutions and exparrdgpooduct and service
offerings.

Sales and Marketing During 2013, sales and marketing expense inete$2.3 million, or 6%, compared to 2012
primarily due to increases in employee-related egps, stock based compensation and marketing pnegra$636,000,
$619,000 and $350,000, respectively. There wereiatseases in rent and amortization of acquiréahigible assets of
$621,000 and $417,000, respectively. These incsessee offset by a decrease in commission experisgs17,000. We
expect that our sales and marketing expense wilitwoe to increase in absolute dollars along withrevenue, as we continue
to expand sales coverage and build brand awarémessggh what we believe are cost-effective chanis expect that such
increases may fluctuate from period to period, hewedue to the timing of marketing programs.

General and Administrative During 2013, general and administrative expenseased by $1.7 million, or 10%,
compared 2012 primarily due to an increase in dataccounting and legal fees, insurance and investtions of $1.2
million, $193,000 and $149,000, respectively. Theeee also increases in bad debt, rent and coatragpenses of $312,000,
$149,000 and $112,000, respectively. These incseasee offset by a decrease in stock based comigamsxpense of
$721,000. In future periods, we expect generalaahdinistrative expenses will increase in absololtads as we add personnel
and incur additional costs related to the growtbwfbusiness and operations.

Merger-related. During 2013, we incurred $2.1 million of mergetated expenses, of which $1.7 million was assedia
with the retention of certain employees of Zencatet $429,000 was related to transaction expensasréd in connection
with the acquisition of Unicorn Media. During 2012¢ incurred merger-related expenses associatbdatretention of
certain employees of Zencoder of $826,000, in amidib transaction expenses of $1.1 million incdrireconnection with the
acquisition of Zencoder.
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Other Expense, Net
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change

Percentage of Percentage of
Other Expense Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Interest income, net $ 58 —% $ 10¢€ —% $ (49 (45)%
Interest expense — — (241) — 241 10C
Other expense, net (599 (@0} (359 Q) (235) (65)
Total $ (536) (1)% $ (499 (1)% $ (42 (9)%

During 2013, interest income, net, decreased byO®@8compared to 2012. The decrease is primarigytdlower average
cash balances as interest income is generatedtifiinvestment of our cash balances, less relatsk fees.

The interest expense during 2012 is related tooléngs under our term loan which were repaid dutivgfirst quarter of
2012. The increase in other expense, net durin§ 2@k primarily due to an increase in foreign aucyeexchange losses of
$329,000 upon collection of foreign denominatecbacts receivable.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Percentage of Percentage of
Taxes Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Provision for (benefit from)
income taxes $ 21z —% $(3,489) (4% $ 3,701 (106)%

The provision for income taxes during 2013 was prity comprised of income tax expenses relateateifin jurisdictions.
During 2012, we recorded a benefit from income $adfeapproximately $3.4 million related to the retion of our valuation
against our existing net deferred tax assets gebffertain deferred tax liabilities on amortizabltangibles recognized upon the
acquisition of Zencoder. Upon the closing of thguasition of Zencoder, we assumed $3.4 million ef deferred tax liabilities
which created a future source of taxable incomevtuich our net deferred tax assets can be readinddas a result we reduced
the valuation allowance by approximately $3.4 roilliduring 2012. We also recorded a $193,000 befuefihe release of the
valuation allowance related to the remaining defétex assets of Brightcove KK. Based upon thel lef/kistorical income of
Brightcove KK and future projections, we determimedhe fourth quarter of 2012 that it was probaléewill realize the
benefits of future deductible differences in Japdrese benefits were partially offset by $109,008xpense relating to income
tax in foreign jurisdictions.

Non-Controlling Interest in Consolidated Subsidiary
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change

Non-Controlling Interest in Consolidated Percentage o Percentage o
Subsidiary Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands, except percentages)

Net income attributable to n-
controlling interest in
consolidated subsidiary $ (20 —% $ (739 ()% $ 714 (97%

Non-controlling interest represents the minorityckholders’ proportionate share (37%) of Brightcé#e On January 8,
2013, we acquired the remaining 37% interest igldove KK and, as a result, we now own 100% ofBdove KK. We
continue to consolidate Brightcove KK for financiaporting purposes, however, commencing on Jarc&2913, we no
longer record a non-controlling interest in the swidated statements of operations. The $20,000eat@presents our
proportionate share of the net income of Brightcii#efor the period from January 1, 2013 throughukay 7, 2013.




45




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Overview of Results of Operations for the Years Eneld December 31, 2012 and 2011

Total revenue increased by 38%, or $24.4 millior012 compared to 2011 due to an increase in sptisn and support
revenue of 40%, or $24.1 million, and an increasgrofessional services revenue of 9%, or $322,086.increase in
subscription and support revenue resulted priméndlsn an increase in the number of our premiumarasts, which was 1,625
as of December 31, 2012, an increase of 25% fr@@ltustomers as of December 31, 2011. In addibonrevenues from
volume offerings grew by $2.7 million, or 48%, fraghe prior year as our volume customer base inecebg approximately
84% from the prior yearOur ability to continue to provide the product ftinnality and performance that our customers regjuir
will be a major factor in our ability to continue increase revenue.

Our gross profit increased by $17.2 million, or 40862012 compared to 2011, primarily due to améase in revenue.
With the continued growth in our total revenue, ability to continue to maintain our overall grgssfit will depend on our
ability to continue controlling our costs of deliye

Loss from operations was $15.4 million in 2012 canepl to $16.1 million in 2011. Loss from operatiamn&012 and 2011
included $5.8 million and $4.2 million, respectiyebf stock-based compensation expense.

Our results of operations in 2012 compared to 204fe impacted by foreign exchange rate fluctuatiogsulting in a
decrease in revenue of approximately $967,000%@rd? revenue, and a decrease in expense of appatedy $373,000.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $21.7 million afestricted cash and cash equivalents, an incréda&e®million from
$17.2 million at December 31, 2011, due to thepneteeds of $58.8 million received from the iss@apiccommon stock in
connection with our IPO. This increase was offsethe $27.2 million of net cash paid as part ofZeacoder acquisition,
investments of $14.1 million and $1.2 million okbaused in operating activities. In addition, aBetember 31, 2011, we had
$7.0 million of outstanding debt which was repaididg 2012.

Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 Change
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue by Product Line Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)

Premium $ 79,79¢ 91% $ 58,04: 91% $ 21,75¢ 37%
Volume 8,17 9 5,521 9 2,65¢ 48

Total $ 87,97: 10C% $ 63,56 10C% $ 24,41( 38%

During 2012, revenue increased by $24.4 million parad to 2011, primarily due to an increase in meesfrom our
premium offerings, which consist of subscriptior @upport revenue, as well as professional serarideother revenue. The
increase in premium revenue of $21.8 million, o¥37s the result of a 25% increase in the numb@remium customers from
1,301 at December 31, 2011 to 1,625 at Decemb&@P, as well as increased revenue from our egigtistomers. Revenue
from our volume offerings grew by $2.7 million, 48%. The increase in volume revenue was drivembineaease of 84% in
customers from 2,571 at December 31, 2011 to 4a74=cember 31, 2012, which includes customersigatjas part of the
Zencoder acquisition.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change

Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue by Type Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Subscription and support $ 84,251 96% $ 60,16¢ 95% $ 24,08¢ 4C%
Professional services and otl 3,71¢ 4 3,39/ 5 322 9
Total $ 87,97 10C% $ 63,56: 10C% $ 24,41( 38%
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During 2012, subscription and support revenue emed by $24.1 million, or 40%, compared to 201% iflcrease was
primarily related to the continued growth of oustamer base for our premium offerings. In additiprofessional services and
other revenue increased by $322,000, or 9%. Piiofeslsservices and other revenue will vary fromigedto period depending
on the timing and completion of related implemeantatnd other projects.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change

Percentage o Percentage o
Revenue by Geography Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

North America $ 55,83¢ 63% $ 41,95: 66% $ 13,88: 33%
Europe 20,31« 23 14,48¢ 23 5,82¢ 40
Japan 5,94¢ 7 4,764 8 1,18¢ 25
Asia Pacific 5,174 6 2,21¢ 3 2,958 13¢
Other 70C 1 13¢ — 56z 407
International subtotal 32,137 37 21,61( 34 10,52} 49
Total $ 87,97 10C% $ 63,56 10C% $ 24,41 38%

For purposes of this section, we designate revbgugeographic regions based upon the locationsio€astomers. North
America is comprised of revenue from the Unitedé&taCanada and Mexico. International is comprifegvenue from
locations outside of North America. Depending oatilming of new customer contracts, revenue mirmf@geographic region
can vary from period to period.

During 2012, total revenue for North America inced $13.9 million, or 33%, compared to 2011. Thedase in revenue
for North America resulted primarily from an incseain subscription and support revenue from oumpmn offerings. During
2012, total revenue outside of North America insezh$10.5 million, or 49%, compared to 2011. Tlegase in revenue
internationally was the result of our increasingu® on marketing our services internationally.

Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change
Percentage o Percentage o
Related Related
Cost of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Subscription and support $ 22,55: 27% $ 15,47¢ 26% $ 7,078 46%
Professional services and other 4,831 13C 4,744 14C 87 2
Total $ 27,38¢ 31% $ 20,22: 32% $ 7,162 35%

During 2012, cost of subscription and support rergeimcreased $7.1 million, or 46%, compared to 20h& increase
resulted primarily from an increase in the costafitent delivery network expenses, network hostenyices, employee-related
expenses and depreciation expense of $2.0 mifibi§ million, $1.0 million and $606,000, respeclyvd here were also
increases in expenses related to third-party so#wa a service integrated with our service oftgramortization of intangible
assets acquired in the acquisition of Zencodeesdalx expense and telecommunications of $419%E¥9,000, $332,000 and
$321,000, respectively. These increases were [hauidset by a decrease in amortization of cajtd software development
costs of $344,000, as some of our previously chge software development costs were fully amediz
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During 2012, cost of professional services andrativeenue remained relatively unchanged when coeapiar 2011.

Gross profit
Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change
Percentage o Percentage o
Related Related
Gross profit Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Subscription and support $61,70¢ 73% $44,69 74% $ 17,018 3&%
Professional services and other (1,119 (30 (1,350 (40 23t 17
Total $60,58¢ 69% $43,34] 68% $ 17,248 4%

During 2012, the overall gross profit percentags %@% compared to 68% during 2011. The increaseédmall gross profit
percentage was related to improvement in the psadiral services and other gross profit percentageeawere able to better
leverage our fixed costs to deliver professionalises and increase related revenue. Subscriptidrsapport gross profit
percentage decreased slightly when compared toattiesponding period of the prior year. It is likéhat gross profit, as a
percentage of revenue, will fluctuate quarter bgrtgr due to the timing and mix of subscription andport revenue and
professional services and other revenue, and ties tyming and duration of service required inaling certain projects.

Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change

Percentage o Percentage o
Operating Expenses Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Research and development $ 18,72¢ 21% $ 15,267 24% $ 3,45¢ 23%
Sales and marketing 38,72¢ 44 31,56¢ 50 7,161 23
General and administrative 16,73¢ 19 12,64( 20 4,09/ 32
Merger-related 1,852 2 — — 1,85: 10C
Total $ 76,03¢ 86% $ 59,47 94% $ 16,56¢ 28%

Research and DevelopmentDuring 2012, research and development experseadsed by $3.5 million, or 23%, compared
to 2011 primarily due to increases in employeeteelarent and stock-based compensation expengslomillion and
$550,000 and $320,000, respectively. A portiorhefincrease in employee-related expenses canrbritgt! to higher
capitalized software development costs during tear gnded December 31, 2011 as compared to theydad December 31,
2012.

Sales and Marketing During 2012, sales and marketing expense inete$ig.2 million, or 23%, compared to 2011
primarily due to increases in employee-related rgps, marketing programs, commission expensegavel expenses of $2.6
million, $847,000, $812,000 and $625,000, respebtivlhere were also increases in expenses reflatetht, stock-based
compensation, amortization of intangible assetsiiaed in the acquisition of Zencoder and compugated maintenance and
support of $777,000, $598,000, $250,000 and $245 /@8 pectively.

General and Administrative During 2012, general and administrative expenseased by $4.1 million, or 32%,
compared to 2011 primarily due to increases in eyg#-related expenses and stock-based compens&®ard million and
$656,000, respectively. There were also increasegpenses related to insurance, depreciationamdf $378,000, $372,000
and $233,000, respectively.

Merger-related. During 2012, we incurred $1.9 million of mergetated expenses associated with our acquisition of
Zencoder. Merger-related expenses include $1.lomitif costs incurred in connection with closing #tquisition of Zencoder
in addition to $826,000 of costs associated withrétention of certain employees of Zencoder. Wendit incur any merger-
related expenses during 2011.
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Other Income (Expense), Net
Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change

Percentage o Percentage o
Other Income (Expense) Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Interest income $ 10€ — $ 23 — $ 83 361%

Interest expense (247) — (35¢) @ 117 33

Other expense, net (359 (D) (719 Q) 36( 50
Total $ (499 ()% $ (1,059 (2)% $ 56( 53%

During 2012, interest income increased by $83,@00pared to 2011. Interest income is generated fheninvestment of
our cash balances, less related bank fees.

Interest expense, which is related to borrowingdenour term loan, decreased as we repaid theléemmduring the first
quarter of 2012.

The decrease in other expense, net was primaréytalthe expense of $139,000 recorded during 26iated to the
revaluation of a warrant compared to a correspandain of $28,000 recorded during 2012. There uss@adecrease in
expense attributable to the realized loss of $M%,fecognized during 2011, when we sold our rengiauction rate security,
or ARS.

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change

Percentage of Percentage of
Provision for income taxes Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Provision for income taxes $ (3,489 (4% $ 90 —  $(3,579 nm

nm — not meaningful

During 2012, we recorded a benefit from income saofeapproximately $3.4 million related to the retilon of our
valuation allowance against our existing net def@tax assets to offset certain deferred tax lt@slon amortizable intangibles
recognized upon the acquisition of Zencoder. Upenclosing of the acquisition of Zencoder, we assai$3.4 million of net
deferred tax liabilities which created a future reeuof taxable income for which our net deferreddssets can be realized and
as a result we reduced the valuation allowanceppyocximately $3.4 million during the year ended Bmber 31, 2012. We
also recorded a $193,000 benefit for the releaseeofaluation allowance related to the remainiefipded tax assets of
Brightcove KK. Based upon the level of historicadome of Brightcove KK and future projections, watedmined in the fourth
quarter of 2012 that it was probable we will realire benefits of future deductible differencedapan. These benefits were
partially offset by $109,000 of expense relatingnimome tax in foreign jurisdictions and state itakieu of income taxes.

Non-Controlling Interest in Consolidated Subsidiary
Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change
Non-controlling interest in consolidated Percentage Percentage
subsidiary Amount of Revenue Amount of Revenue Amount %

(in thousands)

Net income attributable to n-
controlling interest in consolidat



Non-controlling interest represents the minorityckholders’ proportionate share (37%) of our méjori- owned
subsidiary, Brightcove KK. During 2012 and 2011ligBtcove KK generated net income as a result oficoed market
penetration in Japan.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

In connection with our initial public offering ineBruary 2012, we received aggregate proceeds obxiprately $58.8
million, including the proceeds from the underwmsteexercise of their overallotment option, neuofierwriters’ discounts and
commissions, but before deducting offering expen$epproximately $4.3 million. Prior to our initipublic offering, we
funded our operations primarily through privatecglments of preferred and common stock, as welrasigh borrowings of
$7.0 million under our bank credit facilities. lelfruary 2012, we repaid the $7.0 million balancgewrour bank credit
facilities. All of the preferred stock was converiato shares of our common stock in connectiot wiir initial public
offering.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow Data

Purchases of property and equipment $(3,415) $ (6,299 $ (4,069
Depreciation and amortization 5,86 4,66¢ 2,992
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating actbsiti 7,31¢ (1,209 (7,199
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing actasti 4,26¢ (45,000 (1,365
Cash flows from financing activities 74€ 51,10¢ 5,18¢

Cash, cash equivalents and investments.

Our cash, cash equivalents and investments at Omredi, 2013 were held for working capital purpcsed were invested
primarily in money market funds, certificates opdsit and corporate debentures. We do not enteilinmestments for trading
or speculative purposes. At December 31, 2013 awkdber 31, 2012, restricted cash was $322,008201@1000,
respectively, and was held in certificates of dé@pscollateral for letters of credit related be tcontractual provisions of our
corporate credit cards and the contractual prongsieith a customer. Additionally, a portion of ttestricted cash balance at
December 31, 2012 was associated with the leaseimgnt for our office in Seattle, Washington. Upemegotiation of the
Seattle lease agreement during 2013, the restrietsid obligation expired and the collateral wasaséd. At December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2012, we had $7.9 million&m6 million, respectively, of cash and cash eajaints held by
subsidiaries in international locations, includsupsidiaries located in Japan and the United Kingdbis our current intention
to permanently reinvest unremitted earnings in sud¥sidiaries or to repatriate the earnings onlgmtax effective. We believe
that our existing cash and cash equivalents willuféicient to meet our anticipated working capaal capital expenditure
needs over at least the next 12 months.

Accounts receivable, net.

Our accounts receivable balance fluctuates frorogédo period, which affects our cash flow from ogténg activities. The
fluctuations vary depending on the timing of odlifg activity, cash collections, and changes to allowance for doubtful
accounts. In many instances we receive cash payinoemta customer prior to the time we are ablestmgnize revenue on a
transaction. We record these payments as defezvethue, which has a positive effect on our accowtsivable balances. We
use days’ sales outstanding, or DSO, calculatea qurarterly basis, as a measurement of the quaddystatus of our
receivables. We define DSO as (a) accounts redeivabt of allowance for doubtful accounts, dividgdtotal revenue for the
most recent quarter, multiplied by (b) the numHtedays in that quarter. DSO was 67 days at Dece®bge?013, 72 days at
December 31, 2012, and 73 days at December 31, 2011

Operating activities.

Cash used by operating activities consists primaffilnet loss adjusted for certain non-cash itemtuding depreciation and
amortization, stock-based compensation expensegyrtvision for bad debts and the effect of charigesorking capital and
other activities. Cash provided by operating atiégiduring 2013 was $7.3 million and consiste@10.2 million of net loss
offset in part by non-cash expenses of $6.4 milfarstock-based compensation expense, $5.9 miliodepreciation and
amortization expense and a $449,000 provisiondeenves on accounts receivable. Uses of cash egtlal increase in
accounts
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receivable, other assets and prepaid expenseshdcorrent assets of $3.2 million, $819,000 a®4F000, respectively.
These outflows were offset in part by an increasgeferred revenue, accrued expenses and accayable of $4.8 million,
$2.5 million and $2.1 million, respectively. Incses in deferred revenue and accounts receivalif@ply related to an
increase in sales of our subscription and suppovices to both new and existing customers. Intaddiduring 2013, we
experienced an increase in the number of saleshsftsiption and support services with the annualbf@yable at the outset of
the arrangement instead of in monthly installments.

Investing activities.

Cash provided by investing activities during 20185%4.3 million, consisting primarily of $8.2 milhi for the maturities of
investments, offset partially by $3.4 million fonqghases of property and equipment and $500,00éocapitalization of
internal-use software costs.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities during 2018sv$746,000, consisting of proceeds received franekercise of
common stock options of $1.8 million, offset pdlyidy $1.1 million for the purchase of the remaigi37% interest in
Brightcove KK.

Credit facility borrowings.

On March 30, 2011, we entered into a loan and gga@agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, piding for an asset-
based line of credit. Under this loan and secwifseement, we could borrow up to the lesser &gip million or (ii) 80% of
our eligible accounts receivable. The amounts owater the loan and security agreement are secyredistantially all of our
assets, excluding our intellectual property. Ouigitag amounts under the credit agreement accreeesttat a rate equal to the
prime rate plus 1.5%. Amounts owed under the loahsecurity agreement were due on March 31, 20iBjrderest and
related finance charges are payable monthly. Oril 28y 2013, we amended our loan and security ages¢ with SVB to
increase the aggregate amount of borrowings thgtbreautstanding under our asset-based line oftdrech $8.0 million to
$10.0 million and to extend the maturity date tortfe30, 2015. We had no outstanding borrowings utide line of credit at
December 31, 2013.

On June 24, 2011, we amended our loan and seagprigement with SVB to provide us with the abilitybiorrow up to an
additional $7.0 million in the form of a term loa@utstanding amounts under the term loan accreedst at a rate equal to the
prime rate plus 7%. We are required to pay onlgrigt on the term loan for the first 12 months tedh principal and interest
thereafter over the next 36 months. There is d fimgment due under the term loan of 2% of theioaigprincipal amount of
such term loan. In 2011, we borrowed $7.0 milliowler this credit facility. In February 2012, we agpthe $7.0 million
balance and made a final payment of $140,000, septing 2% of the outstanding balance, pursuatftederms of the
agreement. As such, we had no outstanding borr@ainger this agreement at December 31, 2013.

Net operating loss carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2013, we had federal and sk&tteperating losses of approximately $97.0 milkow $43.4 million,
respectively, which are available to offset futtarable income, if any, through 2033. We had reteand development tax
credits of $3.6 million and $2.5 million, respeety, which expire in various amounts through 2038@r net operating loss and
tax credit amounts are subject to annual limitationder Section 382 change of ownership ruleseothls. Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended. We completed an assdgsnaietermine whether there may have been a $e882 ownership
change and determined that it is more likely thanthat our net operating and tax credit amoungisgosed are not subject to
any material Section 382 limitations.

In assessing our ability to utilize our net defdrtax assets, we considered whether it is moréyliken not that some
portion or all of our net deferred tax assets wnilt be realized. Based upon the level of our hisabt).S. losses and future
projections over the period in which the net defdriax assets are deductible, at this time, weweli is more likely than not
that we will not realize the benefits of these dxithile differences. Accordingly, we have providedatuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets as of December 31, @&0d ®ecember 31, 2012.
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We have historically provided a valuation allowamgginst our net deferred tax assets in JapandBgmm the level of
historical income in Japan and future projectioms determined in the fourth quarter of 2012 thatas probable that we will
realize the benefits of our future deductible difeces. As such, we released the valuation allogveglated to the remaining
deferred tax assets in Japan and recorded a $IPB&@Me tax benefit in our consolidated statenoéwoiperations for the year
ended December 31, 2012. For the year ended Dec&hp2013 a portion of our profits in Japan weiffeet by losses in
Japan. Accordingly, our deferred tax asset in Jalegneased during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments.

Our principal commitments consist primarily of @ations under our leases for our office space antractual
commitments for hosting and other support serviGgker than these lease obligations and contractummitments, we do not
have commercial commitments under lines of cratiindby repurchase obligations or other such dedgements. The
following table summarizes these contractual oltiges at December 31, 2013:

Payment Due by Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 years

(in thousands)

Operating lease obligations $ 30,23 $ 457C $ 6,99¢ $ 7,17¢ $ 11,48¢
Outstanding purchase obligations 5,281 5,26% 19 — —
Total $ 3551 $ 9832 $ 7,018 $ 7,17¢ $ 11,48!

Anticipated Cash Flows

We expect to incur significant operating coststipalarly related to services delivery costs, saled marketing and
research and development, for the foreseeablecfiriusrder to execute our business plan. We autieithat such operating
costs, as well as planned capital expendituresowiiktitute a material use of our cash resources #esult, our net cash flows
will depend heavily on the level of future saldsarges in deferred revenue and our ability to mamafgastructure costs.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivaleitbevsufficient to meet our working capital anapital expenditures for
at least the next 12 months. Our future workingteapequirements will depend on many factors, udahg the rate of our
revenue growth, our introduction of new productd anhancements, and our expansion of sales andttimgyland product
development activities. To the extent that our casth cash equivalents, short and long-term investisrend cash flow from
operating activities are insufficient to fund outufre activities, we may need to raise additionatf through bank credit
arrangements or public or private equity or defdricings. We also may need to raise additionalfumdhe event we
determine in the future to acquire businessesntolies and products that will complement our tixgsoperations. In the
event funding is required, we may not be able tmiotbank credit arrangements or equity or delarfaing on terms acceptable
to us or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any special purpose entities obalince sheet arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (FASB) issued ASU No. 2013-6G2porting of Amounts
Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehersi@me. Under ASU 2013-02, an entity is required to pdevi
information about the amounts reclassified out of#mulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) by mament. In
addition, an entity is required to present, eithrethe face of the financial statements or in thies, significant amounts
reclassified out of AOCI by the respective linarigeof net income, but only if the amount reclassifis required to be
reclassified in its entirety in the same reporiiegiod. For amounts that are not required to blassified in their entirety to net
income, an entity is required to cross-referenacather disclosures that provide additional detalieut those amounts. ASU
2013-02 does not change the current requirementgforting net income or other comprehensive ineamthe financial
statements. The ASU is effective prospectivelyrégorting periods beginning after December 15, 20h2 adoption of ASU
2013-02 did not have a significant impact on osutes of operations or financial position.
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In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-B6reign Currency Mattersiyhich permits an entity to release cumulative
translation adjustments into net income when anémpentity (parent) ceases to have a controlfingncial interest in a
subsidiary or group of assets that is a businefsna foreign entity. Accordingly, the cumulatitranslation adjustment should
be released into net income only if the sale ardfier results in the complete or substantially cletegiquidation of the foreign
entity in which the subsidiary or group of assetd hesided, or, if a controlling financial interesho longer held. The revised
standard is effective beginning after December2D33. We adopted this guidance effective Janua?@14. We do not expect
the adoption of ASU 2013-05 to significantly impactr consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-Ptesentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WhietaOperating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar@/forward ExistqTopic 740). ASU 2013-11 requires that unrecognized
tax benefits be presented in the financial statésn@ma reduction to a deferred tax asset for apating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, egcin certain circumstances. When those circurastaxist, the unrecognized
tax benefit should be presented in the financetkeshents as a liability and should not be combimighl deferred tax assets. We
have adopted this guidance effective January 14.20/k do not expect the adoption of ASU 2013-14igaificantly impact
our consolidated financial statements.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We have operations both within the United Statekiaternationally, and we are exposed to marké&sris the ordinary
course of our business. These risks include priynmieign exchange risks, interest rate and irdlat

Financial instruments

Financial instruments meeting fair value discloseguirements consist of cash equivalents, accoanesvable and
accounts payable. The fair value of these finanogtuments approximates their carrying amount.

Foreign currency exchange risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are stibjeftuctuations due to changes in foreign curyeexchange rates,
particularly changes in the euro, British poundstkalian dollar and Japanese yen. Except for rexémramsactions in Japan, we
enter into transactions directly with substantialllyof our foreign customers.

Percentage of revenues and expenses in foreiganayris as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Revenues generated in locations outside the USitats 45% 41%
Revenues in currencies other than the United Statitar (1) 31% 29%
Expenses in currencies other than the United Sttatier (1) 15% 16%

(1) Percentage of revenues and expenses denomindtedign currency for the years ended Decemhef813 and 2012:

Year Ended
December 31, 2013

Revenues Expenses

Euro 14% 3%
British pound 7 6
Japanese yen 6 3
Other 4 3
Total 31% 15%
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Year Ended
December 31, 2012

Revenues Expenses

Euro 12% 4%
British pound 9 5
Japanese yen 7 4
Other 1 3
Total 29% 16%

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had $8.0anilind $6.6 million, respectively, of receivablesdminated in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. We also maircash accounts denominated in currencies ttharthe local currency,
which exposes us to foreign exchange rate movements

In addition, although our foreign subsidiaries hatercompany accounts that are eliminated uposaatation, these
accounts expose us to foreign currency exchangditatuations. Exchange rate fluctuations on stern intercompany
accounts are recorded in our consolidated statenoémiperations under “other income (expense), ndifle exchange rate
fluctuations on long-term intercompany accountsracerded in our consolidated balance sheets tadeumulated other
comprehensive income” in stockholders’ equity,reytare considered part of our net investment amddrdo not give rise to
gains or losses.

Currently, our largest foreign currency exposurestie euro and British pound, primarily becauseEuropean operations
have a higher proportion of our local currency deimated expenses. Relative to foreign currency sxpas existing at
December 31, 2013, a 10% unfavorable movementréigio currency exchange rates would expose ugifisiant losses in
earnings or cash flows or significantly diminisle tiair value of our foreign currency financial inshents. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, we estimated that a 10% unfbleoraovement in foreign currency exchange ratedavioave decreased
revenues by $3.4 million, decreased expenses I8yrfiillion and decreased operating income by $116ami The estimates
used assume that all currencies move in the sametion at the same time and the ratio of non-ddlar denominated
revenue and expenses to U.S. dollar denominatethuevand expenses does not change from currefd.|&iece a portion of
our revenue is deferred revenue that is recorddifatent foreign currency exchange rates, thesiatpo revenue of a change
in foreign currency exchange rates is recognizest tiine, and the impact to expenses is more imrtesdia expenses are
recognized at the current foreign currency exchaatgein effect at the time the expense is incurfdidof the potential changes
noted above are based on sensitivity analysesrpegtbon our financial results as of December 31326nhd 2012.

Interest rate risk

We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents@edtments totaling $36.1 million at December 3,3 Cash and cash
equivalents were invested primarily in money mafkets and are held for working capital purposdi|erthe investments
were primarily held in certificates of deposit, aoercial paper and corporate debentures, and wedrtehold such
investments until their maturity date. We do na dsrivative financial instruments in our investingartfolio. Due to the short
nature of our short-term investments and low cumeagirket yields of our long-term investments, whdwe that we do not have
any material exposure to changes in the fair vafumur investment portfolio as a result of chanigeisterest rates. Declines in
interest rates, however, would reduce future istéreeome.

Inflation risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefifgct on our business, financial condition omuitsof operations. If our
costs were to become subject to significant irdlary pressures, we may not be able to fully ofseh higher costs through
price increases. Our inability or failure to docgld harm our business, financial condition arsiilts of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Brightcove Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Brightcove Inc. as of December 31320 2012, and
the related consolidated statements of operat@mmprehensive loss, redeemable convertible prefestiark and stockholders’
equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of theethyears in the period ended December 31, 2013eTieancial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to express an opinion on thésarfcial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversigham8ioUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan aridrp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatitether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Alit amcludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit ancludes assessing the accounting principled asd significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfiaencial statement presentation. We believe tha audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial
position of Brightcove Inc. at December 31, 2018 2012, and the consolidated results of its opmmatand its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Decedih@013, in conformity with U.S. generally actegpaccounting
principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States),
Brightcove Inc.’s internal control over financiagporting as of December 31, 2013, based on crigstablished in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992
framework) and our report dated March 10, 2014 esged an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 10, 2014

F-1




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2013 2012

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,040 $ 21,70¢

Short-term investments 3,061 8,26¢

Restricted cash 121 10z

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $461 aB@B%at December 31, 201:

and 2012, respectively (includes related party artsaf $0 and $451 at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively) 21,56( 18,95¢

Prepaid expenses 2,89 1,49

Deferred tax asset 12t 187

Other current assets 1,11¢ 1,49(
Total current assets 61,92¢ 52,20«
Long-term investments — 3,06¢
Property and equipment, net 8,79¢ 8,40(
Intangible assets, net 8,66¢ 10,381
Goodwill 22,01¢ 22,01¢
Restricted cash, net of current portion 201 201
Other assets 1,51¢ 714
Total assets $103,12t $ 96,99
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 3061 $ 61¢

Accrued expenses 14,52¢ 11,63¢

Deferred revenue 23,57 19,10
Total current liabilities 41,16¢ 31,36!
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 247 11z
Other liabilities 1,33: 1,027
Total liabilities 42,74¢ 32,50:

Commitments and contingencielldte 6)
Stockholders’ equity:

Undesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par valu®®aD0 shares authorized;
shares issued — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 slardg®rized; 29,034,919
and 27,954,926 shares issued and outstanding anider 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively 29 28

Additional-paid-in-capital 176,92¢ 167,91.



Accumulated deficit (116,129 (105,867

Total stockholders’ equity attributable to Brighteadnc. 60,38( 62,65(

Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiary — 1,84z
Total stockholders’ equity 60,38( 64,49
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $103,12¢ $ 96,99

See accompanying notes.
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue!l)
Subscription and support revenue
Professional services and other revenue
Total revenue
Cost of revenue? (3)
Cost of subscription and support revenue
Cost of professional services and other revenue
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expense®)
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Merger-related
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense, net
Total other expense, net

Loss before income taxes and non-controlling irgteire consolidated
subsidiary

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Consolidated net loss

Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in consolidated
subsidiary

Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertiblefgnred stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss per share attributable to common stoclkdie— basic and
diluted

Weighted-average number of common shares usediputing net
loss per share attributable to common stockholddrasic and
diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$103,11¢ $84257 $ 60,16¢
6,77¢ 3,71¢ 3,39¢
109,89 87,97: 63,56
29,20 22,55: 15,47¢
7,58¢ 4,831 4,74
36,79( 27,38 20,22:
73,108 60,58¢ 43,34:
21,05: 18,72t 15,26’
41,00( 38,72t 31,56
18,47¢ 16,73 12,64
2,06¢ 1,85: —
82,50 76,03 59,47
(9,499 (15,447 (16,130
58 10€ 23

— (241) (35¢)
(594) (35¢9) (719)
(53€) (494) (1,05
(10,030  (15,94) (17,189
212 (3,489) 90
(10,247  (12,45) (17,279
(20) (734) (361)
(10,267 (13,180 (17,63
— (739) (5,639)
$(10,26) $(13,919 $ (23,279
$ (030 $ (057 $ (4.79
28,35 24,62 4,90(




(2) Stock-based compensation included in aboeeitems:
Cost of subscription and support revenue
Cost of professional services and other revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

(3) Amortization of acquired intangible assetduded in above line
items:

Cost of subscription and support revenue
Research and development

Sales and marketing

See accompanying notes.
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24¢
14¢
1,191
2,22t
2,58¢

1,01

$

$

12t
11€
687
1,60¢
3,30¢

37¢
15
25C

52
117
367

1,00¢
2,65:
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Consolidated net loss $(10,24) $(12,45) $ (17,279
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,025 (484 242
Other comprehensive (loss) income (1,02 (489 24z
Comprehensive loss (11,26°) (12,93¢) (17,037

Net income attributable to non-controlling intergstonsolidatec

subsidiary (20) (7349 (361)
Comprehensive loss attributable to Brightcove Inc. $(11,287) $(13,670 $ (17,39)

See accompanying notes.
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share data)

Series A Series B Series C Series D Total Stock-

Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable holders’
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible Deficit
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Accumu- Attributable

Additional lated Other to Non- Total Stock-

Par Paid-In  Comprehen- Accumulated Brightcove Controlling holders’ (Deficit)
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Value Capital sive Income Deficit Inc. Interest Equity

Balance at
Decemb
31,2010 5,375,000 $ 7,20¢ 6,921,85 $22,25¢ 7,392,16: $72,58. 2,315,84: $12,36:| 4,876,02' $ 5 $ — 8 814 $ (8850) $ (87,68) $ 747 $ (86,937)

Issuance of
common
stock
upon
exercise
of stock
options — — — — — — — — 348,507 — 47% — — 478 — 47%

Vesting of
restrictec
stock — — — — — — — — — — 15¢ — — 15¢ — 15¢

Accretion of
redeema
convertit
preferrec
stock to
redempti

value = 4 = 11 — 24 = 44 = = = = (30¢) (308) = (308)

Accretion of
cumulati
dividend:
on
redeema
convertik
preferrec
stock — 32t — 1,02¢ —  3,57( — 72C — —  (4,83) — (80¢) (5,639 — (5,639

Stock-based
compens
expense — — — — — — — — — — 4,197 — — 4,197 — 4,197

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment — — — — — — — — — — — 24z — 24z — 24z

Net (loss) incom — — — = = = = = = = = = (17,63Y (17,63Y 361 (17,274

Balance at
Decemb
31,2011 5,375,000 7,53 6,921,85 23,29: 7,392,16. 76,40( 2,315,84. 13,127 5,224,53 5 — 1,05¢ (107,259 (106,19) 1,10¢ (105,08

Issuance of
common
stock
upon
exercise
of stock
options — — — — — — — — 801,09¢ 1 1,348 — — 1,34¢ — 1,34¢€

Vesting of
restrictec
stock — — — — — — — — — — 101 — — 101 — 101

Issuance of
common
stock
pursuant
to
restrictec
stock
units — — — — — — — — 13,00¢ — — — — — — —

Issuance of
common
stock
upon net
exercise
of stock
warrants — — — — — — — — 15,78! — f— f— — — — —

Accretion of
redeema
convertit
preferrec
stock to
redempti

value = 1 = 1 = 32 = 5 = = = = (39 (39 = (39)
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) —(continued)
(in thousands, except share data)

Series A Series B Series C Series D Total Stock-

Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable holders’
Convertible Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Deficit
Preferred Stock Stock Stock Stock Common Stock Accumu- Attributable

Additional lated Other to Non- Total Stock-

Par Paid-In  Comprehen-Accumulated Brightcove Controlling holders’ (Deficit)
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Shares Value Capital sive Income  Deficit Inc. Interest Equity

Accretion of
cumulative
dividends
on
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock — 42 — 132 — 464 — 94 - — (677) — (56) (739) — (739)

Stock-based
compensal
expense — — — — — — — — —_ = 5,84% — — 5,84: — 5,84%

Issuance of
common
stock in
connection
with initial
public
offering,
net of
issuance
costs of
$4,347 —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ 5,750,00! 6 54,47( —_ — 54,47¢ — 54,47¢

Conversion of
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock into
common
stock (5,375,00) (7,57€) (6,921,85) (23,425 (7,392,16) (76,89¢) (2,315,84) (13,22¢) | 16,150,50 1€ 106,43! — 14,67: 121,12 — 121,12

Reclassificatio
of warrants
to purchas
shares of
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock into
warrants tc
purchase
common
stock — — — — — — — — - — 39t — — 39t — 39t

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment — — — — — = — — - —

I
~
N
o
=

= (489 = (484

Net (loss) incom: — — — — — — — — - - — — (13,186 (13,18¢) 73¢ (12,45%)

Balance at
December
31, 2012 — — — — — — — — | 27,95492 2

@™

167,91 57z (105,867 62,65( 1,84: 64,49:

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock
options — — — — — — — — 785,52!

-

1,82¢ — — 1,83( — 1,83(

Vesting of
restricted
stock — — — — — — — — - — 8 — — 8 — 8

Issuance of
common
stock
pursuant tc
restricted
stock units — — — — — — — — 294,46t

Stock-based
compensal
expense — — — — — — — — —

6,401 = = 6,401 = 6,401
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) —(continued)
(in thousands, except share data)

Series A Series B Series C Series D Total Stock-
Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable holders’
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible Deficit
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock| Common Stock Accumu- Attributable
Additional lated Other to Non- Total Stock-
Par Paid-In  Comprehen- Accumulated Brightcove Controlling holders’ (Deficit)
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares  Value Capital sive Income Deficit Inc. Interest Equity
Purchase of
non-
controlling
interest in
consolidatec
subsidiary — — — — — — — — — — 77¢ — — 7€ (1,867) (1,089
Foreign currency
translation
adjustment — — — — — — — — — — — (1,02 — (1,025 — (1,025
Net (loss) income — — — — — — — — — — — — (10,267) (10,263 20 (10,24%
Balance at
Decomber  _§ -  — 8 —- —$ — — 5 —| 2003491 $20 17692 $ (455 S (11612) $ 6038 $ — $ 603
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Operating activities
Net loss $(10,24) $(12,45) $ (17,279

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby
(used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 5,861 4,66¢ 2,992
Stock-based compensation 6,401 5,84: 4,197
Deferred income taxes 62 (3,600 —
Change in fair value of warrants — (28) 13¢
Provision for reserves on accounts receivable 44¢ 137 52
Amortization of premium on investments 73 13z —
Amortization of deferred financing costs — 44 12
Loss on disposal of equipment 43 83 46
Loss on sale of investments — — 14€

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquaisiti

Accounts receivable (3,249 (4,437 (5,439
Prepaid expenses (963) 77 (311
Other current assets 31¢ 347 (1,589
Other assets (819 90 (452)
Accounts payable 2,117 (1,329 80C
Accrued expenses 2,47: 3,73: 1,46¢
Deferred revenue 4,78~ 5,47 8,01«
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 7,31¢ (1,209 (7,199
Investing activities
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired — (27,210 —
Purchases of investments — (14,069 —
Maturities of investments 8,20( 2,59¢ —
Sales of investments — — 2,73
Purchases of property and equipment (3,41 (6,299 (4,069
Capitalization of internal-use software costs (500 (24) (359)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash (19 — 321
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 4,26¢ (45,000 (1,365

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in conneetith initial
public offering, net of offering costs — 56,76: —

Deferred initial public offering costs — — (2,287



Purchase of non-controlling interest in consolidagebsidiary
Borrowings under term loan

Payments under term loan

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(1,08

— — 7,00(

— (7,000 —

74¢ 51,10¢ 5,18¢
(991) (419 262
11,33¢ 4,481 (3,119
21,70¢ 17,22 20,341
$ 33,040 $ 21,706 $ 17,22
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — (Continued)
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes $ 122 $ 61 $ 18
Cash paid for interest $ — $ 30 % 29¢
Supp!e_mental disclosure of non-cash investing anéh&incing

activities
Unpaid internal-use software costs $ 565 $ — 8 —
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment $ 15z $ 46 $ =
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock $ — $121,12: % —
Conversion of warrants to purchase preferred stoekarrants to

purchase common stock $ — $ 39 3 =
Accretion of Series A, B, C and D redeemable cadiiller

preferred stock issuance costs and dividends $ — % 772 $ 5,947
Vesting of restricted stock $ 8 9 101 $ 15¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow related to acégition
In connection with the acquisition of Zencoder lan.August 14,

2012, the following transactions occurred:

Fair value of assets acquired $ — $ 31,18: $ —

Liabilities assumed related to acquisition — (3,809 —

Total purchase price — 27,37¢ —

Add working capital adjustment receivable — 79 —

Less cash and cash equivalents acquired — (24¢) —
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired $ — $ 27,21 $ —

F-9
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Brightcove Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data, @wis otherwise noted)

1. Business Description

Brightcove Inc. (the Company) is a leading globawvider of cloud services for video which enabgedtistomers to publish
and distribute video to Internet-connected devipgskly, easily and in a cost-effective and higlality manner.

The Company is headquartered in Boston, Massadhus®t was incorporated in the state of DelawarAwgust 24, 2004.
At December 31, 2013, the Company had nine whaolwexd subsidiaries: Brightcove UK Ltd, Brightcoven@pore Pte. Ltd.,
Brightcove Korea, Brightcove Australia Pty Ltd, 8nicove Holdings, Inc., Bright Bay Co. Ltd., Brightve Kabushiki Kaisha
(Brightcove KK), Zencoder Inc. (Zencoder) and Btigive FZ-LLC.

Prior to January 8, 2013, the Company owned a 6@étast in Brightcove KK, which the Company heldcs! the
formation of Brightcove KK in 2008. On January 813, the Company acquired the remaining 37% intémeBrightcove KK
and, as a result, Brightcove KK is now 100% owngdhe Company. See Note 2 and Note 8 for furthecudision on this
transaction.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statemefitsct the application of certain significant agnting policies as
described below and elsewhere in these notes tootisolidated financial statements.

The Company believes that a significant accountiolicy is one that is both important to the portiagf the Company’s
financial condition and results, and requires managnt’s most difficult, subjective, or complex judgnts, often as the result
of the need to make estimates about the effectadtiers that are inherently uncertain.

Use of Estimates and Uncertainties

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith generally accepted accounting principlethia United States
requires management to make estimates and assmshit affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts expensed during
the reporting period. Actual results could diffesrh those estimates.

Significant estimates relied upon in preparing ¢hesnsolidated financial statements include reveaoegnition and
revenue reserves, allowances for doubtful accouotgjngent liabilities, expensing and capitaliaatof research and
development costs for internal-use software, intdagsset valuations, amortization periods, exggefuture cash flows used to
evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assédts, determination of the fair value of stock awasdsied, stock-based
compensation expense, and the recoverability o€drapany’s net deferred tax assets and relate@tituallowance.

Although the Company regularly assesses theseastmactual results could differ materially frdmge estimates.
Changes in estimates are recorded in the periadhich they become known. The Company bases itsasts on historical
experience and various other assumptions thatiévas to be reasonable under the circumstancesafesults may differ
from management’s estimates if these results diféen historical experience, or other assumptiomsiot turn out to be
substantially accurate, even if such assumptiomsesrsonable when made.

The Company is subject to a number of risks an@uainties common to companies in similar industdad stages of
development including, but not limited to, rapidhaological changes, competition from substitutedprcts and services from
larger companies, customer concentration, managenfignternational activities, protection of progary rights, patent
litigation, and dependence on key individuals.
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Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiels and non-
controlling interest. All significant intercompaimalances and transactions have been eliminateshgotidation.

Non-controlling interest in 2012 represents thearity stockholders’ proportionate share (37%) & @ompany’s majority-
owned subsidiary, Brightcove KK, a Japanese jogmiture, which was formed on July 18, 2008. The camtrolling interest in
Brightcove KK is reported as a separate componestbckholders’ equity in the accompanying consaikd financial
statements. The portion of net income attributadleon-controlling interest prior to the remainimcguisition in 2013 is
presented as net income attributable to non-cdmgahterest in consolidated subsidiary in the saidated statements of
operations, and the portion of other comprehensis® of this subsidiary is presented in the codatdid statements of
redeemable convertible preferred stock and stoddns! equity (deficit) and statements of comprehentss. See Note 8 for
further discussion.

On January 8, 2013, the Company acquired the rengaBY% interest in Brightcove KK. The purchaseerof the
remaining interest of Brightcove KK was approxiniatgl.1 million and was funded by cash on hand. Thenpany owned a
63% interest in the Brightcove KK joint venturecnts formation in 2008. Brightcove KK is now 10@ned by the
Company. The purchase was accounted for as aryerarisaction and, as such, the Company has ceutittuconsolidate
Brightcove KK for financial reporting purposes; hever, commencing on January 8, 2013, the Compatgnuer records
non-controlling interest in its consolidated finastatements.

Subsequent Events Considerations

The Company considers events or transactions tuair @fter the balance sheet date but prior tasfigance of the financial
statements to provide additional evidence for aeeatimates or to identify matters that requirditdnal disclosure.
Subsequent events have been evaluated as redlit@e@ompany has evaluated all subsequent evendedadnined that,
other than as reported herein and described béh@ne are no material recognized or unrecognizbdesjuent events.

On January 31, 2014, the Company acquired subsligrdll of the assets of Unicorn Media, Inc. amudtain of its
subsidiaries, or Unicorn, a provider of cloud videbinsertion technology, in exchange for 2,850,5drégistered shares of the
Company’s common stock and approximately $9.5 amlbf cash. Based on a $10.74 price per shareed€tmpany’s
common stock at the date of closing, the transadtivalued at approximately $40.1 million. Purduarthe purchase
agreement, 1,285,715 shares were placed into aovesccount. The acquisition was accounted for psrehase transaction,
and as such the results of operations of Unicolib&iconsolidated with the Company beginning amuday 31, 2014, the
closing date of the acquisition. In connection wiite acquisition of Unicorn, the Company incurrd®$ of merger and
integration-related costs during 2013, which thenPany recorded as an expense in its consolidaggehseénts of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2013. At this time Company has not completed its evaluation@ptirchase accounting
related to this transaction.

Reclassification

The Company previously reported in its consoliddtalhnce sheet Deferred revenue and Deferred reyeetiof current
portion of $18,961 and $255, respectively, in tleenPany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeadezhDecember 31,
2012. In its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2013, the Company reclas4ifié@ for the year
ended December 31, 2012 from Deferred revenuefretrrent portion to Deferred revenue. This resifisation had no impact
on the previously reported results of operationsash flows.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The reporting currency of the Company is the Udllad The functional currency of the Company’sdign subsidiaries is
the local currency of each subsidiary. All assets labilities in the balance sheets of entitieogdfunctional currency is a
currency other than the U.S. dollar are translatedlU.S. dollar equivalents at exchange rateobmis: (1) asset and liability
accounts at period-end rates, (2) income stateaeaaunts at weighted-average exchange rates faetiied, and (3)
stockholders’ equity accounts at historical exclearajes. The resulting translation adjustmenteackided from income (loss)
and reflected as a separate component of stockisbketguity. Foreign currency transaction gains msdes are included in net
loss for the period. The Company may periodicalyeéncertain intercompany foreign currency transastthat are deemed to
be of a long-term investment nature; exchange adprss related to those transactions are madetigitea separate
component of stockholders’ equity.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith an original maturity of three months or leéghe date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Investments assified as cash equivalents with maturities lleas bne year from the
balance sheet date, are classified as short-terestiments, while investments with maturities inessscof one year from the
balance sheet date are classified as long-ternstiments. Management determines the appropriatsifitasion of investments
at the time of purchase, and re-evaluates suchndiet&tion at each balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of castleposit with banks and amounts held in intdveating money
market accounts. Cash equivalents are carriedsatwhich approximates their fair market value.dstvnents primarily consist
of certificates of deposit, commercial paper angorate debentures. At December 31, 2013 and 2B&Z ompany classified
its investments as held-to-maturity as it is thenpany’s intention to hold such investments unéytimature. As such,
investments were recorded at amortized cost atibeee31, 2013 and 2012.

Cash, cash equivalents and investments as of Dexe3ih2013 consist of the following:
December 31, 2013

Amortized Fair Market Balance Per

Description Contracted Maturity Cost Value Balance Sheet
Cash Demand $ 1925 $ 1925 $ 19,25(
Money market funds Demand 13,797 13,791 13,791

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 3304 $ 3304 9 33,041
Certificates of deposit 110 -163 days $ 9%C $ %61 $ 96(
Corporate debentures 23 - 96 days 2,101 2,10z 2,101
Total short-term investments $ 3061 $ 3,06 $ 3,061
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Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2012t of the following:
December 31, 2012

Amortized Fair Market Balance Per

Description Contracted Maturity Cost Value Balance Sheet
Cash Demand $ 1527t $ 1527 $ 15,27¢
Money market funds Demand 6,43: 6,43: 6,43:

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 21,70¢ $ 21,70¢ $ 21,70¢
Certificates of deposit 111-290days $ 1,20C $ 1,20C $ 1,20(
Commercial paper 52 - 100 days 1,39 1,39¢ 1,397
Corporate debentures 21 - 342 days 5,661 5,67: 5,66
Total short-term investments $ 826¢ $ 8,27 $ 8,26¢
Certificates of deposit 475 -528 day: $ 9%C $ 9%z $ 96(
Corporate debentures 388 -461 day: 2,10¢ 2,11¢ 2,10¢
Total long-term investments $ 306¢ $ 3,08 $ 3,06¢

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, restricted cash$#a2,000 and $303,000, respectively, and was hetéitificates of
deposit as collateral for letters of credit relatethe contractual provisions of the Company'pooate credit cards and the
contractual provisions with a customer. Additiopall portion of the restricted cash balance at bées 31, 2012 was
associated with the lease agreement for the Corgaffice in Seattle, Washington. Upon renegotiataf the Seattle lease
agreement during 2013, the restricted cash obtigagkpired and the collateral was released.

Disclosure of Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrimments, which include cash, cash equivalentquats receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses, approxithaiedair values at December 31, 2013 and 2042,td the short-term
nature of these instruments. See Note 5 for dismuss the determination of the fair value of thengpany’s long-term
investments.

The Company has evaluated the estimated fair \@lfieancial instruments using available markebinfiation and
management’s estimates. The use of different mad®imptions and/or estimation methodologies coale a significant
impact on the estimated fair value amounts. See Bdor further discussion.

Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily derives revenue from the séi¢s online video platform, which enables itstamers to publish
and distribute video to Internet-connected devipgskly, easily and in a cost-effective and highality manner. Revenue is
derived from three primary sources: (1) the sulpsiom to its technology and related support; (Qthny, bandwidth and
encoding services; and (3) professional servicegminclude initiation, set-up and customizatiemsces.

The Company recognizes revenue when all of thevatlg conditions are satisfied: (1) there is pesstmevidence of an
arrangement; (2) the service has been providduketgustomer; (3) the collection of fees is probaatel (4) the amount of fees
to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable
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The Company'’s subscription arrangements provideousrs the right to access its hosted softward@gjans. Customers
do not have the right to take possession of the @amyis software during the hosting arrangement ofgingly, the Company
recognizes revenue in accordance with Accountiag&trds Codification (ASC) 60Revenue RecognitiorContracts for
premium customers generally have a term of one edrare non-cancellable. These contracts gengnailyde the customer
with a maximum annual level of usage, and provigerate at which the customer must pay for actsage above the annual
allowable usage. For these services, the Compamgnézes the annual fee ratably as revenue eacthor@®imould a customer’s
usage of the Company’s services exceed the anhoabale level, revenue is recognized for such egda the period of the
usage. Contracts for volume customers are genearaihth-to-month arrangements, have a maximum mypigkiel of usage
and provide the rate at which the customer mustfi@agctual usage above the monthly allowable usélge monthly volume
subscription and support and usage fees are remmas revenue during the period in which theedlatsh is collected.

Revenue recognition commences upon the later ohwhee application is placed in a production envinemt, or when all
revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Professional services and other revenue sold tena-slone basis are recognized as the servicgmeei@med, subject to
any refund or other obligation.

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to custeroe which revenue has not been recognized, anthgly consists of
the unearned portion of annual software subscnind support fees, and deferred initiation andiegssional service fees.

Revenue is presented net of any taxes collectedl éustomers.
Multiple-Element Arrangements

The Company periodically enters into multiple-eletgervice arrangements that include platform sutsen fees, support
fees, initiation fees, and, in certain cases, gphefessional services.

Initiation fees and other professional services@bd when services are first activated are recoadedeferred revenue, and
recognized as revenue ratably over a term begiruqpog go-live of the software application and erteg through the contract
term.

The Company assesses arrangements with multipledsbles under Accounting Standards Update (AStl)2009-13,
Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-DelivéedRevenue Arrangements — a Consensus of the F&8R)Rg Issues
Task Forcewhich amended the previous multiple-element arrareggs accounting guidance. Pursuant to ASU 2009-13,
objective and reliable evidence of fair value af tmdelivered elements is no longer required iriotd account for deliverables
in a multiple-element arrangement separately. &ustarrangement consideration is allocated to eelbles based on their
relative selling price. The new guidance also elaés the use of the residual method.

In order to treat deliverables in a multiple-eletn@mangement as separate units of accountingldlierables must have
stand-alone value upon delivery. If the deliveralflave stand-alone value upon delivery, the Compangunts for each
deliverable separately. Subscription services Istaied-alone value as such services are often sphtately. In determining
whether professional services have stand-aloneyttte Company considers the following factorsefach professional
services agreement: availability of the servicesifiother vendors, the nature of the professionalces, the timing of when
the professional services contract was signed rimpesison to the subscription service start datd,the contractual dependence
of the subscription service on the customer’s fation with the professional services work. Toeddéhe Company has
concluded that all of the professional servicefuiged in multiple-element arrangements execute@ Istand-alone value, with
the exception of initiation and activation fees.
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When multiple deliverables included in an arrangeinage separated into different units of accountihg arrangement
consideration is allocated to the identified sefgatmits based on a relative selling price hienar@ihe Company determines the
relative selling price for a deliverable based tsrwvendor-specific objective evidence of fair va(M&OE), if available, or its
best estimate of selling price (BESP), if VSOE a$ available. The Company has determined that-{péndy evidence of selling
price (TPE) is not a practical alternative dueiftedences in its service offerings compared tceotharties and the availability
of relevant third-party pricing information. The aunt of revenue allocated to delivered items istéchby contingent revenue,
if any.

The Company has not established VSOE for its affgridue to the lack of pricing consistency, theothtiction of new
services and other factors. Accordingly, the Conypases its BESP to determine the relative selliigep The Company
determines BESP by considering its overall priacdbgectives and market conditions. Significant pricpractices taken into
consideration include the Company’s discountingficas, the size and volume of the Company'’s tretitsas, the geographic
area where services are sold, price lists, itsogavirket strategy, historical contractually stgtedes and prior relationships
and future subscription service sales with certdsses of customers.

The determination of BESP is made through consattatith and approval by the Company’s managemntaking into
consideration the go-to-market strategy. As the gamy’s go-to-market strategies evolve, the Compaay modify its pricing
practices in the future, which could result in apemin selling prices, including both VSOE and BEBfe Company plans to
analyze the selling prices used in its allocatibarcangement consideration, at a minimum, on aruahbasis. Selling prices
will be analyzed on a more frequent basis if aificant change in the Company’s business necessitatnore timely analysis
or if the Company experiences significant variaringts selling prices.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs relatesupporting and hosting the Company’s produigrisfgs and delivering
professional services. These costs include sajdréfits, incentive compensation and stock-basetpensation expense
related to the management of the Company’s datiigrcustomer support team and the Company’s gsiofieal services staff,
in addition to third-party service provider cost€ls as data center and networking expenses, alboaterhead, amortization of
capitalized internal-use software development castsintangible assets and depreciation expense.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company offsets gross trade accounts receivétiiean allowance for doubtful accounts. The aliome for doubtful
accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the ahafiprobable credit losses in the Company’s édgshccounts receivable
and is based upon historical loss patterns, thebeumf days that billings are past due, and anuetiain of the potential risk of
loss associated with specific accounts. Accourdrzs are charged against the allowance aftereahmof collection have
been exhausted and the potential for recoveryrisidered remote. Provisions for allowances for dfoliaccounts are recorded
in general and administrative expense.
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Below is a summary of the changes in the Compaaljosvance for doubtful accounts for the years eridedember 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011:

Balance at
Beginning of Balance at
Period Provision Write-offs End of Period
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ 336§ 44¢  $ (3260 % 461
Year ended December 31, 2012 26€ 137 65 $ 33¢
Year ended December 31, 2011 29¢ 52 (84) 26€

Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Concentration of CrediRisk

The Company has no significant off-balance she&t guch as foreign exchange contracts, optiorractst or other foreign
hedging arrangements. Financial instruments thianpially expose the Company to concentrationg@dit risk consist
primarily of cash, cash equivalents, investmentsteade accounts receivable. The Company maintiginssh and cash
equivalents and investments principally with ac@eztifinancial institutions of high credit standirgthough the Company
deposits its cash with multiple financial instituts, its deposits, at times, may exceed fedenadlyried limits. The Company
routinely assesses the creditworthiness of itsoousts. The Company generally has not experiencgdharterial losses related
to receivables from individual customers, or groapsustomers. The Company does not require coflatBue to these factors,
no additional credit risk beyond amounts provideddollection losses is believed by managemenetprbbable in the
Company’s accounts receivable.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid 86lindividual customer accounted for more thd% Df total
revenue.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, no individuatamsr accounted for more than 10% of net accowtsivable.

Concentration of Other Risks

The Company is dependent on certain content dglivetwork providers who provide digital media deliy functionality
enabling the Company’s on-demand application sersadunction as intended for the Company’s custsmaed ultimate end-
users. The disruption of these services could bavaterial adverse effect on the Company’s busjtiesscial position, and
results of operations.

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred to develop software applicationsliisehe Company’s on-demand application servicesist of (a) certain
external direct costs of materials and servicesriied in developing or obtaining internal-use cotepsoftware, and (b)
payroll and payroll-related costs for employees whmdirectly associated with, and who devote tiop¢he project. These
costs generally consist of internal labor duringfiguration, coding, and testing activities. Resbaand development costs
incurred during the preliminary project stage ostsancurred for data conversion activities, tnagimaintenance and general
and administrative or overhead costs are expersagtarred. Capitalization begins when the prelamynproject stage is
complete, management, with the relevant authaityhorizes and commits to the funding of the saféwaoject, it is probable
the project will be completed, the software willdmed to perform the functions intended and ceftaiational and quality
standards have been met. Qualified costs incumedgithe operating stage of the Company’s softveg@mications relating to
upgrades and enhancements are capitalized to thetéixis probable that they will result in addedctionality, while costs that
cannot be separated between maintenance of, arwt opgrades and enhancements to, internal-usea@ftave expensed as
incurred. These capitalized costs are amortizea stnaight-line basis over the expected useful
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life of the software, which is estimated to be thyears. Capitalized internal-use software devetogrosts are classified as
“Software” within “Property and Equipment, net”fime accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hdl, the Company capitalized $1,065, $24 and $&Spectively, of
internal-use software development costs. The Cognpasorded amortization expense associated wittajpdtalized internal-
use software development costs of $312, $542 a86 &8 the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, respectively.

In addition to the software development costs desdrabove, the Company incurs costs to developpaten software to be
licensed or otherwise marketed to customers. Gostsred in the research, design and developmesoftfvare for sale to
others are charged to expense until technologéaalibbility is established. The Company capital&&sble computer software
development costs upon achievement of technolofgealibility subject to net realizable value coesadions. Thereafter,
software development costs are capitalized urgilpfoduct is released and amortized to productafasiles on a straight-line
basis over the lesser of three years or the estdratonomic lives of the respective products. Thm@any has determined that
technological feasibility is established at thediemworking model of software is completed. BecdhseCompany believes its
current process for developing software will besasially completed concurrently with the establigminof technological
feasibility, no costs have been capitalized to date

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost aneciafed over their estimated useful lives usirgggtraight-line method.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shoftthe lease term or the estimated useful fifdne related asset. Upon
retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposeghdfthe related accumulated depreciation, arevedifsom the accounts, and
any resulting gain or loss is included in the deiaation of net income or loss in the period ofreghent.

Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,

Estimated Useful Life (in

Years) 2013 2012
Computer equipment 3 $ 14,27 $ 11,80«
Software 3-6 8,47: 6,61¢
Furniture and fixtures 5 1,721 1,60¢
Shorter of lease term
Leasehold improvements the estimated useful i 737 672
25,20¢ 20,70(

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization 16,41 12,30(

$ 879 $ 8,40(

Depreciation and amortization expense, which inetugimortization expense associated with capitalitednal-use
software development costs, for the years endeémer 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $4,148, $4,0232892,
respectively.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are cdamexpense as incurred, whereas major improvenagatcapitalized as
additions to property and equipment. The Compawieves its property and equipment whenever eventhanges in
circumstances indicate that the carrying valueeofain assets might not be recoverable. In thestarnges, the Company
recognizes an impairment loss when it is probaidé the estimated cash flows are less than thgiegrvalue of the asset.
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Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certintifiable intangible assets for impairment whesreavents or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amadiatn asset may not be recoverable. During thievwewhe Company re-
evaluates the significant assumptions used in ohitérg the original cost and estimated lives ofgdived assets. Although the
assumptions may vary from asset to asset, theyr@gnimclude operating results, changes in theafgbe asset, cash flows,
and other indicators of value. Management thenrdétees whether the remaining useful life continteebe appropriate, or
whether there has been an impairment of long-lagskts based primarily upon whether expected futwlescounted cash
flows are sufficient to support the assets’ recpvrimpairment exists, the Company adjusts theyiag value of the asset to
fair value, generally determined by a discounteshdboow analysis.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid #88 Company has not identified any impairmeritsofong-lived
assets.

Intangible Assets and Goodwiill

Intangible assets that have finite lives are amediover their useful lives and are reviewed fgaimment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the icey@mount of an asset may not be recoverable nQuhis review, the
Company re-evaluates the significant assumptioad irsdetermining the original cost and estimaiees| of long-lived assets.
Although the assumptions may vary from asset tetatisey generally include operating results, clearig the use of the asset,
cash flows and other indicators of value. Managertien determines whether the remaining usefuklifietinues to be
appropriate or whether there has been an impairofdahg-lived assets based primarily upon whethgrected future
undiscounted cash flows are sufficient to suppgmetassets’ recovery. If impairment exists, the Camypvould adjust the
carrying value of the asset to fair value, gengrmadlitermined by a discounted cash flow analysis.

Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated for mrment annually, or whenever events or changegénmstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recabler.

In assessing the recoverability of goodwill, then@pany must make assumptions regarding the estinatiee cash flows,
and other factors, to determine the fair valuehese assets. If these estimates or their relagenirgions change in the future,
the Company may be required to record impairmeatgds against these assets in the reporting perietlich the impairment
is determined. The Company has determined, baséd organizational structure, that it had one répg unit as of December
31, 2013 and 2012.

For goodwill, the impairment evaluation includescanparison of the carrying value of the reporting to the fair value of
the reporting unit. If the reporting unit’s estiradtfair value exceeds the reporting unit’s carryiatiie, no impairment of
goodwill exists. If the fair value of the reportingit does not exceed its carrying value, therhtrrinalysis would be required
to determine the amount of the impairment, if any.

In 2011, the Company adopted ASU No. 201188 ngibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) TegtBoodwill for
Impairment. Under ASU 2011-08, the Company has the opticassess qualitative factors to determine whetheexistence
of events or circumstances leads to a determin#tiatit is more likely than not that the fair valaf a reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount to determine whether furthepaiment testing is necessary. Based on the resfulte qualitative review
of goodwill performed as of December 31, 2013 adti22 the Company did not identify any indicatorgnopairment. As such,
the two-phase process described above was notsagges
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity of a business enterprise during a periom transactions,
other events, and circumstances from non-owneicesuAccumulated other comprehensive income (leggesented
separately on the consolidated balance sheetsoarsists entirely of cumulative foreign translatamjustments as of December
31, 2013 and 2012.

Net Loss per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted net less@mmon share by dividing the net loss attribletédd common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of comshares outstanding during the period. The Cognpas excluded (a)
all unvested restricted shares that are subjeeitorchase and (b) the Company’s other potentiilliiive shares, which
include redeemable convertible preferred stockOihi22and 2011, warrants to purchase redeemable dinwgreferred stock
in 2012 and 2011, warrants to purchase common stoedloutstanding common stock options, from theyhteid-average
number of common shares outstanding as their iiweiua the computation for all periods would beiatilutive due to net
losses. The Company’s redeemable convertible pesfestock were deemed to be participating secsarisedefined by ASC
260-10,Earnings Per Sharebut were excluded from the earnings per sha@ukzlon as they do not have an obligation to
share in the Company’s net losses.

A reconciliation of the number of shares used adhlculation of basic and diluted net loss peresisas follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands, except per share data)

Computation of basic and diluted net loss per share

Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(10,267)  $(13,919 $(23,279)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 28,35! 24,66 4,99
Less: weighted-average number of unvested regtricte

common shares outstanding — 36 97
Weighted-average number of common shares used in

calculating net loss per common share 28,35! 24,62¢ 4,90(
Net loss per share applicable to common stockhse $ (0.3 $ (057) $ (4.79

The following potentially dilutive common shares/badeen excluded from the computation of weighteetage shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2&ltheir effect would have been antidilutive:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands)

Redeemable convertible preferred stock — 2,16: 16,15
Options outstanding 3,331 3,89 4,092
Restricted stock units outstanding 1,39¢ 384 —
Unvested restricted shares — 36 97

Warrants 28 34 47
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbethe asset and liability method. Under thigimoel, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized based ondeanpdifferences between the financial reporting emcome tax bases of
assets and liabilities using statutory rates. kfitaah, this method requires a valuation allowaagainst net deferred tax assets
if, based upon the available evidence, it is mikedyl than not that some or all of the deferreddasgets will not be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positionegrized in the consolidated financial statemewtprascribing a more-
likely-than-not threshold for financial statemeatognition and measurement of a tax position takesxpected to be taken in a
tax return. Interest and penalties, if applicabdégted to uncertain tax positions would be recogghias a component of income
tax expense. The Company has no recorded liabifitieuncertain tax positions as of December 3132 2012.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2013, the Company had three staskd compensation plans: the Amended and Rest@@ddtock
Option and Incentive Plan, the 2012 Stock Incenfilan and the Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSU Induceméart.FAdditionally,
during March 2009, Brightcove KK adopted the Brighte KK Stock Option Plan. As discussed in NoterlJanuary 8, 2013
the Company acquired the remaining 37% of BrightckiK. The Brightcove KK Stock Option Plan was temated in
conjunction with the acquisition. These plans ameaxfully described in Note 7.

For stock options issued under the Company’s sbased compensation plans, the fair value of eatitbrogrant is
estimated on the date of grant, and an estimatéeitioe rate is used when calculating stock-basedpensation expense for
the period. For restricted stock awards issued uth@deCompany’s stock-based compensation plangathealue of each grant
is calculated based on the Company’s stock pricthemlate of grant. For service-based optionsCirapany recognizes
compensation expense on a straight-line basistbeetrequisite service period of the award.

Given the absence of an active market for the Coryipa&sommon stock prior to the completion of thenpany’s initial
public offering (IPO) on February 17, 2012, the Bbaf Directors (the Board), the members of whitlh Company believes
have extensive business, finance, and ventureat@piperience, were required to estimate the firey of the Company’s
common stock at the time of each option grant. Bbard considered numerous objective and subjetdters in determining
the value of the Company’s common stock at eaciomgirant date, including the following factors) (irices for the
Company’s preferred stock, which the Company hédi teooutside investors in arm’s-length transacticand the rights,
preferences, and privileges of the Company’s prefestock and common stock; (2) valuations perfarimean independent
valuation specialist; (3) the Company'’s stage afetlpment and revenue growth; (4) the fact thabogbt@on grants involved
illiquid securities in a private company; and (8¢ fikelihood of achieving a liquidity event foretlshares of common stock
underlying the options, such as an initial pubfieieng or sale of the Company, given prevailingrket conditions. The
Company believes this to have been a reasonabled@bgy based upon the Company’s internal peepeomy analyses, and
based on several arm’s-length transactions invgltlie Company’s preferred stock, supportive ofrédsailts produced by this
valuation methodology. Prior to the Company’s commtock being actively traded, the determinatiofaofvalue involved
assumptions, judgments and estimates. If diffessatimptions were made, stock-based compensatiem&xmet loss and
consolidated net loss per share could have beeifisantly different.

The fair value of each option grant issued under@bmpany’s stock-based compensation plans wamastl using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model that used treuagptions noted in the following table. As thereswaa public market for its
common stock prior to February 17, 2012, the eiffeadate of
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @ntinued)

the Company’s IPO, and as the trading history ef@ompany’s common stock was limited through Decamli, 2013, the
Company determined the volatility for options gegthbased on an analysis of reported data for aggeap of companies that
issued options with substantially similar termse Hxpected volatility of options granted has beetemnined using an average
of the historical volatility measures of this pgeoup of companies. The expected life of optiorsheen determined utilizing
the “simplified method”. The simplified method iaged on the average of the vesting tranches armbthimctual life of each
grant. The risk-free interest rate is based oeastiry instrument whose term is consistent witrettpeected life of the stock
options. The Company has not paid, and does nili@aie paying, cash dividends on its common sttorefore, the expected
dividend yield is assumed to be zero. In additased on an analysis of the historical actual fionfes, the Company applied
an estimated forfeiture rate of approximately 13%b6 and 13% for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, in determining the expense recordatié accompanying consolidated statements of tipesa

The weighted-average fair value of options grawtedhg the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@htl, was $5.34,
$7.74 and $5.28 per share, respectively. The weigatverage assumptions utilized to determine saties are presented in
the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 1.8(% 1.25% 2.62%
Expected volatility 54% 57% 57%
Expected life (in years) 6.2 6.2 6.2

Expected dividend yield = — —

As of December 31, 2013, there was $12,133 of totedcognized stock-based compensation expengedetaunvested
employee stock options, restricted stock awardsresiticted stock units issued under the Compastgsk-based
compensation plans that is expected to be recogjoizer a weighted-average period of 2.81 years.tdta unrecognized
stock-based compensation expense will be adjustefdtiure changes in estimated forfeitures.

The Company accounts for transactions in whichisesvare received from non-employees in exchangedoity
instruments based on the fair value of such sesvieeeived, or of the equity instruments issuedchdver is more reliably
measured. The Company determines the total stosebeompensation expense related to non-employaelawsing the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Additionally, accordance with ASC 50Bquity-Based Payments to Non-Employées,
Company accounts for awards to non-employees pectisply, such that the fair value of the awardeeisieasured at each
reporting date until the earlier of (a) the perfarme commitment date or (b) the date the servemgsined under the
arrangement have been completed.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid #64 Company recorded stock-based compensatjmensg for stock
options granted to non-employees in the accompgrgansolidated statements of operations of $6,2886$234, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid /634l stock-based compensation expense, indushpense related
to stock-based awards granted under the Brightké/®lan, was $6,401 $5,843 and $4,197, respectively

See Note 7 for a summary of the stock option agtivinder the Company’s stock-based compensatiors fita the year
ended December 31, 2013.
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Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations agiaduThe Company incurred advertising costs c2$3, $3,881 and
$3,630 for the years ended December 31, 2013, @0d2011, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stand@&dard (FASB) issued ASU No. 2013-8&porting of Amounts
Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehernsis@me. Under ASU 2013-02, an entity is required to pdevi
information about the amounts reclassified out ofdmulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) bymament. In
addition, an entity is required to present, eithrethe face of the financial statements or in thies, significant amounts
reclassified out of AOCI by the respective linaniteof net income, but only if the amount reclassifis required to be
reclassified in its entirety in the same reporfiegiod. For amounts that are not required to biaseified in their entirety to net
income, an entity is required to cross-referencatter disclosures that provide additional detalleut those amounts. ASU
2013-02 does not change the current requirementgporting net income or other comprehensive ineamthe financial
statements. The ASU is effective prospectivelyrégorting periods beginning after December 15, 20h2 adoption of ASU
2013-02 did not have a significant impact on thenpany’s results of operations or financial position

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-B6reign Currency Mattersiyhich permits an entity to release cumulative
translation adjustments into net income when anéppentity (parent) ceases to have a controlfingncial interest in a
subsidiary or group of assets that is a businetgma foreign entity. Accordingly, the cumulatitranslation adjustment should
be released into net income only if the sale ardfier results in the complete or substantially cletepiquidation of the foreign
entity in which the subsidiary or group of assetd hesided, or, if a controlling financial interesho longer held. The revised
standard is effective for the Company for fiscadngebeginning after December 15, 2013. The Compdoypted this guidance
effective January 1, 2014. The Company does natabthe adoption of ASU 2013-05 to significantlypiact its consolidated
financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-Ptesentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WhietsOperating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar@/forward ExistTopic 740). ASU 2013-11 requires that unrecognized
tax benefits be presented in the financial statésn@ha reduction to a deferred tax asset for aperating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, egcin certain circumstances. When those circurosgaxist, the unrecognized
tax benefit should be presented in the financitkestents as a liability and should not be combimigal deferred tax assets. The
Company has adopted this guidance effective Jariyat9§14. The Company does not expect the adopfidsU 2013-11 to
significantly impact its consolidated financialtet@ents.

3. Business Combination

On August 14, 2012, the Company acquired all ofoihistanding capital stock of Zencoder, a privateid company based
in San Francisco, California. The purchase pricEesfcoder was approximately $27,379 and was fubglezhsh on hand. The
Company acquired Zencoder to enhance and exter@aimpany’s existing offerings with Zencoder’s meelcoding services.
The Company believes that the unification of Zemetsdaudio and video encoding service with the Canys existing
offerings will enable new and improved scalablevieers that will help customers reduce the costamdplexity of video
encoding and delivery.
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3. Business Combination — (continued)

The acquisition was accounted for using the puehasthod of accounting in accordance with ASC 8siness
Combinations Accordingly, the results of operations of Zenaddave been included in the accompanying conseliat
financial statements since the date of acquisifidve purchase price was allocated to the tangitdeirangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based upon the respectimates of fair value as of the date of the meager using assumptions that
the Company’s management believes are reasonalgle thie information currently available. Transattmsts and retention
costs associated with the transaction were expeasétturred.

The process for estimating the fair values of idiafile intangible assets and certain tangible tasssgjuires the use of
significant estimates and assumptions, includirignaging future cash flows and developing apprdpriliscount rates.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 Zompany recorded merger-related expenses @$2nd $1,852,
respectively. Included in merger-related expensegasts incurred in connection with closing thguasition in addition to
costs associated with the retention of key emplsykeaddition to the $27,379 purchase price, pemterger agreement,
approximately $2,667 is to be paid to retain carkaly employees over a two year period as seraceperformed. Through
December 31, 2013, the Company has paid $1,663nnection with the retention. Given that the raemamount is related to
a future service requirement, the related expesbeing recorded as compensation expense in thgeveglated line item in
the consolidated statements of operations oveexpected service period, and was $1,640 and $82pectively, during the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Company recorded revenue and net loss for demarf approximately $960 and $858, respectivelyhe consolidated
statements of operations from the acquisition tdatmugh December 31, 2012.

All of the assets acquired and the liabilities assd in the transaction have been recognized atakquisition date fair
values, which was finalized at December 31, 20 fbtal purchase price for Zencoder was allocasefbllows:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 24¢
Other tangible assets 25¢
Identifiable intangible assets 11,03:
Goodwill 19,64¢
Deferred tax liabilities, net (3,406
Other liabilities assumed (39¢)
Total purchase price $ 27,37¢
The following are the identifiable intangible assatquired and their respective useful lives:
Useful Life
Amount (years)
Developed technology $ 6,07¢ 6
Customer relationships 3,99:¢ 14
Non-compete agreements 59¢€
Trade name 36¢ 3
Total $ 11,03

In performing the purchase price allocation, thenpany considered, among other factors, its interftio future use of the
acquired assets, analyses of historical finan@sdiogpmance, and estimates of future cash flows fzfemcoder’s products and
services. The allocation resulted in acquired igilale assets of $11,031.

F-23






TABLE OF CONTENTS

Brightcove Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data, @wis otherwise noted)

3. Business Combination — (continued)

The acquired intangible assets consisted of deedltgchnology, customer relationships, non-comagteements and trade
names and were valued using the income approaehigh the after-tax cash flows are discounted &sent value. The cash
flows are based on estimates used to price thedcsion, and the discount rates applied were beadted with reference to the
implied rate of return from the transaction modeirgll as the weighted average cost of capital.ittathlly, the Company
assumed certain liabilities in the acquisition Juding deferred revenue to which a fair value 06 $¢as ascribed using a cost-
plus profit approach.

The deferred tax liabilities primarily relate teettax impact of future amortization or impairmeassociated with the
identified intangible assets acquired, which aredsaluctible for tax purposes. The deferred tartaselate to the net operating
losses and other tax benefits acquired from Zencagipart of the transaction. The Company assur@edriillion of the net
deferred tax liabilities which created a future eeuof taxable income for which the Company’s refeded tax assets can be
realized and as a result the Company reduced thatian allowance by approximately $3.4 million ohgr 2012.

The excess of the purchase price over the estinsaedints of net assets as of the effective datieechicquisition was
allocated to goodwill. The factors contributingtie recognition of the amount of goodwill are basaedeveral strategic and
synergistic benefits that are expected to be redlirom the Zencoder acquisition. These benefikude the expectation that
the combined company’s complementary productssighificantly broaden the Company’s offerings indigeencoding and
delivery. The combined company will benefit frorbraader global presence, and with the Companyé&ctsales force and
larger channel coverage, the combined companyipatés significant cross-selling opportunities. Naf the goodwill is
expected to be currently deductible for tax purpose

4. Intangible Assets and Gooduwiill

Finite-lived intangible assets consist of the faflog as of December 31, 2013:

Estimated Gross
Useful Life Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Description (in years) Value Amortization Value
Developed technology 6 $ 607/ $ 1,39 % 4,68
Customer relationships 14 3,99: 392 3,601
Non-Compete agreements 2 59€ 41C 18¢€
Tradename 3 36¢ 16¢ 19¢
Total $ 11,03 $ 2,36 $ 8,66¢
Finite-lived intangible assets consist of the faflog as of December 31, 2012:
Estimated Gross
Useful Life Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Description (in years) Value Amortization Value
Developed technology 6 $ 607/ $ 37¢ % 5,69t
Customer relationships 14 3,99: 107 3,88¢
Non-Compete agreements 2 59€ 112 484
Tradename 3 36¢ 46 322
Total $ 11,03 $ 644 $ 10,38:
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4. Intangible Assets and Goodwill — (continued)

Amortization expense related to intangible assatétfe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 lyas%and $644,
respectively. There was no related amortizatioreagp for the year ended December 31, 2011.

The estimated remaining amortization expense foh edthe five succeeding years and thereaftes felows:

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2014 $ 1,60¢
2015 1,374
2016 1,29¢
2017 1,29¢
2018 91¢
2019 and thereafter 2,17¢
Total $ 8,66¢

In connection with the acquisition of Zencoder, tlo@sideration transferred to acquire the busiegsseded the fair value
of the assets acquired and the liabilities assuiea result, the Company recorded the differerickl®,646 as goodwill
during the year ended December 31, 2012, none wiwh expected to be deductible for tax purposbsre was no change to
goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2013.

5. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is an exit price, representing the ptfizg would be received to sell an asset or patcatwsfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantethas the highest and best use of the asset ditfialds such, fair value is a
market-based measurement that should be determassal on assumptions that market participants wemédn pricing an
asset or liability. The Company uses valuation némphes to measure fair value that maximize theofisdservable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Thesettare prioritized as follows:

e Level 1: Observable inputs, such as quoted prices fottichdrassets or liabilities in active markets;

e Level 2: Inputs, other than the quoted prices in activekets, that are observable either directly or ieclily, such as
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiespuarket-corroborated inputs; and

e Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is littlenar market data which require the reporting entitdévelop its
own assumptions about how market participants wptitte the assets or liabilities.

The valuation techniques that may be used to medairrvalue are as follows:

A. Market approach— Uses prices and other relevant information gatieer by market transactions involving identical
or comparable assets or liabilities.

B. Income approach— Uses valuation techniques to convert future amsto a single present amount based on current
market expectations about those future amountkjdimg present value techniques, option-pricing eisdand excess
earnings method.

C. Cost approach— Based on the amount that currently would be ireduo replace the service capacity of an asset
(replacement cost).
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5. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

The following tables set forth the Company’s finhstruments carried at fair value using thedstievel of input as of

December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31, 2013

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Items Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Money market funds $ 13,79 $ —  $ — $ 13,79
Restricted cash — 32z — 32z
Total assets $ 13,797 $ 32z $ —  $ 14,11¢
December 31, 2012
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Items Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Money market funds $ 6,43 $ — % — $ 643¢
Restricted cash — 30z — 30z
Total assets $ 6,43: $ 305 $ —

$ 6,73¢€

Realized gains and losses from sales of the Compamnestments are included in “Other expense,.net”

The Company measures eligible assets and liabiktidair value, with changes in value recognizedarnings. Fair value
treatment may be elected either upon initial reg¢agmof an eligible asset or liability or, for axisting asset or liability, if an
event triggers a new basis of accounting. The Compa not elect to remeasure any of its existingricial assets or
liabilities, and did not elect the fair value optifor any financial assets and liabilities transddh the years ended December

31, 2013 or 2012.
6. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company leases its facilities under non-cabtéelaperating leases. These operating leases eatpiaggious dates
through March 2022. Future minimum rental committeemder operating leases at December 31, 201a&sdm@lows:

Year Ending December 31,

Operating Lease
Commitments

2014 $ 4,57(C
2015 3,63(
2016 3,36¢
2017 3,57¢
2018 3,59¢

2019 and thereafter

11,48:
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6. Commitments and Contingencies — (continued)

Certain amounts included in the table above rajatinco-location leases for the Company’s serverkide usage based
charges in addition to base rent.

The Company'’s primary office lease has the optiorehew the lease for two successive periods efyfaars each. In
connection with the office lease, the Company euténto a letter of credit in the amount of $2,404.

Certain of the Company’s operating leases inclsdalating payment amounts and lease incentivesCohgpany is
recognizing the related rent expense on a stradiighthasis over the term of the lease. The leasentives are considered an
inseparable part of the lease agreement, and @sgnized as a reduction of rent expense on a ktrlige basis over the term
of the lease. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012Ctmpany had deferred rent and rent incentived (F®! and $759,
respectively, of which $1,261 and $735, respeativielclassified as a long-term liability in thecampanying consolidated
balance sheets. Rent expense for the years endediriber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $5,328, $4/1@%2,396,
respectively. Income from sublease rental actigityounted to $0, $88 and $158 for the years endedrbieer 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011.

In addition to the operating lease commitmentsudised above, as of December 31, 2013, the Comp@hgdn-cancelable
commitments of $5,262 payable in 2014 and $19 fdayial2015, primarily for content delivery netwaakd storage services.

Legal Matters

The Company, from time to time, is party to litigait arising in the ordinary course of its businddanagement does not
believe that the outcome of these claims will haveaterial adverse effect on the consolidated @irgposition, results of
operations or cash flows of the Company based @sttitus of proceedings at this time.

On August 27, 2012, a complaint was filed by Blypé&8, LLC naming the Company in a patent infringainease (Blue
Spike, LLC v. Audible Magic Corporation, et al., ithd States District Court for the Eastern DistdtTexas). The complaint
alleges that the Company has infringed U.S. P&ent,346,472 with a listed issue date of March2l#)8, entitled “Method
and Device for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,’3J Patent No. 7,660,700 with a listed issue dakebruary 9, 2010,
entitled “Method and Device for Monitoring and Apaing Signals,” U.S. Patent No. 7,949,494 withséelil issue date of May
24, 2011, entitled “Method and Device for Monitgriand Analyzing Signals” and U.S. Patent No. 8,278 with a listed issue
date of July 3, 2012, entitled “Method and DevioeNlonitoring and Analyzing Signals.” The complaggeks an injunction
enjoining infringement, damages and pre- and pafginent costs and interest. The Company answeckfllath counterclaims
against Blue Spike on December 3, 2012. The Compamgnded its answer and counterclaims on JulydB3.2This complaint
is subject to indemnification by one of the Compamendors. The Company cannot yet determine whéthgeprobable that a
loss will be incurred in connection with this comiptt, nor can the Company reasonably estimatedtenpal loss, if any.

On September 10, 2013, a complaint was filed byg&ijrinc. naming the Company in a patent infringensase (Cinsay
Inc. v. Brightcove Inc. and Joyus Inc., United 8saDistrict Court for the Northern District of TeyaThe complaint alleges
that the Company has infringed U.S. Patent No.B4Bb with a listed issue date of November 13, 2@bfitled “Interactive
Product Placement and Method Therefor” and U.S&o. 8,533,753 with a listed issue date of Saptr 10, 2013, entitled
“Interactive Product Placement and Method Theréfon October 1, 2013, Cinsay filed an amended camphgainst the
Company in which it reasserted the allegationsfifigement of U.S. Patent No. 8,312,486 and Udeft No. 8,533,753 and
added allegations that the Company infringed UdBeft No. 8,549,555 with a listed issue date obBet 1, 2013, entitled
“Interactive Product Placement and Method Theréfine amended
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6. Commitments and Contingencies — (continued)

complaint seeks an injunction enjoining infringemeamages and pre- and post-judgment costs agre et The Company
answered the amended complaint on November 12, ZBE3Company cannot yet determine whether itabgble that a loss
will be incurred in connection with this complaingr can the Company reasonably estimate the pgaltérgs or range of a
possible loss, if any.

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

The Company typically enters into indemnificatiggr@ements in the ordinary course of business. Batga these
agreements, the Company indemnifies and agreesnburse the indemnified party for losses and dostsred by the
indemnified party, generally the Company’s custasnar connection with patent, copyright, trade egar other intellectual
property or personal right infringement claim birdrparties with respect to the Company’s techngpldde term of these
indemnification agreements is generally perpetttal xecution of the agreement. Based on wheromests first subscribe for
the Company’s service, the maximum potential amo@ifiiture payments the Company could be requiveddke under
certain of these indemnification agreements ismitdid, however, more recently the Company has afiyitimited the
maximum potential value of such potential futurgrpants in relation to the value of the contracts&hon historical
experience and information known as of Decembef813, the Company has not incurred any costhabove guarantees
and indemnities. The Company has received reqémsitsdemnification from customers in connectiorttwpatent infringement
suits brought against the customer by a third pditydate, the Company has not agreed that theesteg indemnification is
required by the Company’s contract with any sucttamer.

In certain circumstances, the Company warrantsitharoducts and services will perform in all makrespects in
accordance with its standard published specifinadiccumentation in effect at the time of delivefyte licensed products and
services to the customer for the warranty periothefproduct or service. To date, the Company baguourred significant
expense under its warranties and, as a resul€ahgpany believes the estimated fair value of tlaggeements is immaterial.

7. Stockholders’ Equity

On February 23, 2012, the Company closed its IP@hich the Company sold and issued 5,750,000 sluduigsmmon
stock, including 750,000 shares of common stoc#t palsuant to the exercise of the underwritersioopto purchase additional
shares, which were sold to the public at a pricgldf.00 per share. The Company received aggregatequs of approximately
$58.8 million from the IPO, including the exercisfethe underwriters’ overallotment option, net ofderwriters’ discounts and
commissions, but before deducting offering expen$epproximately $4.3 million. Upon the closingtbé IPO, all shares of
the Company’s outstanding redeemable convertildéeped stock automatically converted into 16,168,5hares of common
stock and all outstanding warrants to purchaseeradble convertible preferred stock automaticallyvested into warrants to
purchase 46,713 shares of common stock at $3.24hpee.

Common Stock

Common stockholders are entitled to one vote parestHolders of common stock are entitled to rex€ividends, when
and if declared by the Board.
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7. Stockholders’ Equity — (continued)

Equity Incentive Plans

At December 31, 2013, the Company had three staskdbcompensation plans, the Amended and Rest@dd2ock
Option and Incentive Plan (the 2004 Plan), the 28thzk Incentive Plan (the 2012 Plan) and the Beigve Inc. 2012 RSU
Inducement Plan (the RSU Plan). Additionally, dgriviarch 2009, Brightcove KK adopted the Brightcéi€ Stock Option
Plan (the Brightcove KK Plan). As discussed in Nbten January 8, 2013 the Company acquired thaireng 37% of
Brightcove KK. The Brightcove KK Plan was termindia conjunction with the acquisition. As discussedlote 2, on January
31, 2014 the Company acquired Unicorn. In connaatiith the Unicorn acquisition, the Company adoptexiBrightcove Inc.
2014 Stock Inducement Plan and made awards ofraptm61 new employees. The awards of options caveiggregate of
578,350 shares of the Company’s common stock iffioitme of options to purchase shares of the Com@aoginmon stock as
an inducement to the employees entering into enmpdoy with the Company.

The 2004 Plan provided for the issuance of incerdid non-qualified stock options, restricted stacld other equity
awards to the Company’s employees, officers, dirsgconsultants and advisors, up to an aggredati@97,843 shares of the
Company’s common stock. The Company also estalliaHgK Sub-Plan of the 2004 Plan under which then@any was
permitted to make grants of options to employedégesti to tax in the United Kingdom. In conjunctiaith the effectiveness of
the 2012 Plan, the Board voted that no furtherkstgtions or other equity-based awards may be gdambder the 2004 Plan.

In 2012, the Board and stockholders adopted th@ Bldn, which became effective on February 16, 20h2 2012 Plan
provides for the issuance of incentive and nonitjedlstock options, restricted stock and otheclkstbased awards to the
Company’s officers, employees, non-employee dirschand certain other key persons of the Compamyeselected by the
Board or the compensation committee thereof. Imeotion with the approval of the 2012 Plan, the @any reserved
1,700,000 shares of common stock for issuance uhdet012 Plan, and 124,703 shares were transfeoedthe 2004 Plan.
The number of shares reserved and available foamns under the 2012 Plan automatically increasefs ganuary 1, beginning
in 2013, by 4% of the outstanding number of shafédke Company’s common stock on the immediateéceding December
31 or such lesser number of shares as determindteompany’s compensation committee subject tovenall overhang
limit of 30%. This number is subject to adjustmienthe event of a stock split, stock dividend drestchange in the Company’s
capitalization. At December 31, 2013, 1,046,018ahavere available for issuance under all stocletb@®mpensation plans.

The Brightcove KK Plan provided for the issuancestotk options to employees, officers, directons] advisors of
Brightcove KK and to employees of the Company. Bwmations granted under the Brightcove KK Plan weseexchangeable
for either options or shares of the Company.

In 2012, the Company adopted the RSU Plan and @aeeds of restricted stock units pursuant to the) R&n to fifteen
new employees in connection with the acquisitiodefcoder. The awards of restricted stock unitecaw aggregate of
77,100 shares of the Company’s common stock and meade as a material inducement to the employdesreninto
employment with the Company in connection with dleguisition of Zencoder. The restricted stock uwitkbe settled in
shares of the Company’s common stock upon vesting.
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7. Stockholders’ Equity — (continued)

The following is a summary of the status of the @amy’s stock options as of December 31, 2013 aadtibck option
activity for all stock options plans (excluding tBaghtcove KK Plan) during the year ended Decen#igr2013:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Weighted- Contractual Aggregate
Average Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (In Years) value @
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 343787 $ 5.4¢
Granted 761,16. $ 10.0¢
Exercised (785,52 $ 2.3¢: $ 7,10¢
Canceled (352,93) $ 11.31
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 3,060,58 $ 6.7¢€ 6.61 $ 23,13
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 198755 $ 4.6 5.8 $ 19,09
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, -
@ 2,82951. $ 6.4z 6.47 $ 22,30(

(1) This represents the number of vested optiord Becember 31, 2013 plus the number of unveghtidres expected to vest
as of December 31, 2013, based on the unvestashspiutstanding at December 31, 2013 and adjustatid estimated
forfeiture rate.

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculatextan the positive difference between the estiitfaie value of the
Company’s common stock on December 31, 2013 ofi¥lder share, or the date of exercise, as apptepand the
exercise price of the underlying options.

The aggregate intrinsic value for options exerciadng the years ended December 31, 2012 and 283 18,594 and
$3,108, respectively.

The Company has entered into restricted stock(®8tJ) agreements with certain of its employees.ddtide terms of the
agreement, the Company grants RSUs to its emplgy@ssiant to the 2012 Plan and the RSU Plan. \@esticurs periodically
at specified time intervals, ranging from three tharto four years, and in specified percentagesnUesting, the holder will
receive one share of the Company’s common stockdoh unit vested.

The following table summarizes the restricted stawit award activity during the year ended Decen8igr2013:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested by December 31, 2012 1,26542. $ 11.72
Granted 407,51¢ 6.8¢
Vested and issued (284,46 12.9¢
Canceled (210,75) 10.6¢

Unvested by December 31, 2013 1,177,711 $ 10.2¢




During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyngiamted 156,292 shares of restricted common stmak employee
under the 2004 Plan. Under the terms of the agregniee Company had a repurchase provision whetebZ ompany had the
right to repurchase any unvested shares when/déithygoyee
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7. Stockholders’ Equity — (continued)

terminates, at a price equal to the original esergrice. Accordingly, the Company recorded thaygayt received for the
purchase of the restricted shares as a liabilith@time of purchase and subsequently, recladsifieh amounts to additional
paid-in capital upon vesting of the award. Durihg year ended December 31, 2013, the Company séi@ds$8 of this
amount to additional-paid-in-capital upon final theg of a portion of this award. The Company did gant any shares of
restricted common stock during the years ended idbee 31, 2013 or 2012.

The following table summarizes the restricted stawiard activity during the year ended Decembe2813:

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
Unvested by December 31, 2012 4,88 $ 9.31
Granted —
Vested 4,88) $ 9.31
Repurchased —
Unvested by December 31, 2013 — $ =

Warrants

In September 2006, the Company issued fully vesttants to purchase an aggregate of 46,713 sbhRevies B
Preferred Stock, at a purchase price of $3.21hmmes to two lenders in connection with a line &fdit agreement. The
warrants are exercisable at any time up until #eration date of August 31, 2016. The fair valdieh® warrants was recorded
as a discount on the related debt, and was amatiizimterest expense over the life of the debe débt was fully repaid in
March 2007. The warrant liability was reportedait falue until completion of the Company’s IPCHebruary 2012,
whereupon the warrants automatically convertedwdaants to purchase shares of the Company’s constock. At the time
of conversion of the warrants in connection wite @ompany’s IPO, the fair value of the warrants $285, which was
reclassified as a component of additional paidaipital.

During 2012, 18,685 shares exercisable under theants were exercised pursuant to a net exercsgagon, which
resulted in the issuance of 15,781 common shateseThave been no additional exercises throughrbleee31, 2013. For the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 aimp#&hy recorded other expense of $0, $28 and $&8pectively, in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiefeged to the increase in the fair value of tlagrants, which was
determined utilizing the Black-Scholes option-prgimodel, during each respective year.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

At December 31, 2013, the Company has reservefbllogring shares of common stock for future issuanc

December 31,

2013
Common stock options outstanding 3,060,58:
Restricted stock unit awards outstanding 1,177,711
Shares available for issuance under all stock-besegbensation plans 1,046,01!
Common Stock warrants 28,02¢

Total shares of authorized common stock reserveflifore issuance 5,312,34!
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8. Non-controlling Interest

On May 30, 2008, the Company formed Brightcove EKyholly owned subsidiary of Brightcove Inc. Onyu8, 2008, the
Company entered into a joint venture agreement dvfiitream Inc. (J-Stream), Dentsu, Inc. (Dentsylpe€ Communications,
Inc. and Transcosmos Investments & Business Deredop Inc. (collectively, the minority stockholdgrghe minority
stockholders invested cash of approximately $418amiin Brightcove KK such that their cumulativevoership interest in the
entity was 37%, while the Company retained a 63%eyghip interest in the entity. The Company deteedithat it had a
controlling interest and was the primary benefigiaf the entity. As such, the Company consolid&edhtcove KK for
financial reporting purposes, and a non-controllinigrest was recorded for the third parties’ iegtiin the net assets and
operations of Brightcove KK to the extent of thenramntrolling partners’ individual investments.

On January 8, 2013, the Company acquired the rénga8Y% interest in Brightcove KK and, as a redBitghtcove KK is
now 100% owned by the Company. The purchase pfiteeaemaining equity interest was approximatelyldmillion and was
funded by cash on hand. The Company continuesrtsotidate Brightcove KK for financial reporting pases, however,
commencing on January 8, 2013, the Company no tamegerds a non-controlling interest in the cordatiéd financial
statements. The purchase was accounted for asuéty gnsaction in accordance with ASC 80@nsolidation Accordingly,
the non-controlling interest in the consolidatedssdiary on the accompanying consolidated balaheetsvas reduced to zero
on the transaction date to reflect the Companycesimsed ownership percentage, with the exces® afah-controlling interest
balance on the date of the acquisition over thé &fillion purchase price recorded as additionatipaicapital.

Non-controlling interest represents the minoritar&holders’ proportionate share of the Company’®ritg owned
subsidiary, Brightcove KK. The following table sétsth the changes in non-controlling interesttfue years ended December
31, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Balance at beginning of period $184: $ 1,10¢
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in consolidated
subsidiary 20 734
Purchase of non-controlling interest in consolidegabsidiary (1,862) —
Balance at end of period $ — $ 1,84

9. Related Party Transactions

Two of the former non-controlling interest holdarBrightcove KK, J-Stream and Dentsu, acted aslgpebdistributors for
the Company in Japan. As disclosed in Note 1 tetimsolidated financial statements, on Januar@832the Company
acquired the remaining 37% interest in Brightcowe dhd, as a result, Brightcove KK is now 100% owbgdhe Company. As
such, J-Stream and Dentsu are no longer considelaéd parties effective January 8, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 uatsoeceivable from related parties was:

December 31,

2013 2012
J-Stream — 432
Dentsu — 19
Total related party accounts receivable $ — $ 451
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9. Related Party Transactions — (continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid #i(d Company recorded revenue from related gaofie
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
J-Stream 36 3,24( 2,871
Dentsu 6 27¢ 602
Total related party revenue $

42 $ 3,51¢ $ 3,47¢

The Company believes that all related party tratimas have been negotiated at arm’s length.

(1) Represents related party revenue for the period ffanuary 1, 2013 through January 7, 2013, whitteiperiod prior to tt
Company’s acquisition of the remaining 37% intemedBrightcove KK on January 8, 2013.

10. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before the provision for income tas@ssists of the following:
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Domestic $(10,740  $(18,139) $(18,55)
Foreign 71C 2,19¢ 1,367
Total $(10,030  $(15,94) $ (17,189

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes ie ticcompanying consolidated financial statemenisists of the
following:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current provision:
Federal $ — $ — 3 =
State 22 1€ —
Foreign 12¢ 95 90
Total current 15C 111 9
Deferred benefit:
Federal — (2,937 —
State — 470) —
Foreign 62 (199 —
Total deferred 62 (3,600 —

Total provision (benefit) $ 21z $(3.489) ¢ 90
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10. Income Taxes — (continued)

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory redghe Company'’s effective tax rate is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Tax at statutory rates B4.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State income taxes 3.3 (3.9 (0.9
Change in tax rate 5.C 0.4 5.t
Permanent differences (12.9) 9.€ .7
Foreign rate differential (0.9 0.2 0.2
Research and development credits (9.5 — (4.5
Change in valuation allowance 56.C 5.2 36.4
Effective tax rate 2.1% (21.9% 0.5%

The approximate income tax effect of each typepfdorary difference and carryforward as of Decen3fie2013 and
2012 is as follows:

As of December 31,

2013 2012
Net operating loss carryforwar $30,76: $ 30,16(
Tax credit carryforwards 5,211 3,57¢
Stock-based compensation 3,50z 2,19t
Intangible assets (3,469 (4,029¢)
Fixed assets 85 (464)
Account receivable reserves 96€ 50€
Accrued compensation 53 414
Capitalized research and development costs 47 97
Capitalized start-up costs 481 57C
Other temporary differences 1,121 417
Deferred tax assets 38,76( 33,44
Valuation allowance (38,635 (33,259
Net deferred tax asse $ 128 % 187

The Company is required to compute income tax esgp@meach jurisdiction in which it operates. Tjtiecess requires the
Company to project its current tax liability andiemte its deferred tax assets and liabilitiesluding net operating loss (NOL)
and tax credit carryforwards. In assessing thetgltd realize the net deferred tax assets, managenonsiders whether it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of tiet deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Upon the closing of the Zencoder acquisition, tleenpany assumed $3.4 million of net deferred tabiliiées which created
a future source of taxable income for which the @any’s net deferred tax assets can be realize@siadesult the Company
reduced the valuation allowance by approximately $illion during the year ended December 31, 2012 Company has
provided a valuation allowance against its rem@ninS. net deferred tax assets as of December03B, &nd 2012, as based
upon the level of historical U.S. losses and fupngections over the period in which the net deféitax assets are deductible,



at this time, management believes it is more likbn not that the Company will not realize thedfis of these deductible
differences. The increase in the valuation allovesinam 2012 to 2013 principally relates to the eatryear taxable loss.
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10. Income Taxes — (continued)

The Company has historically provided a valuatibtomeance against its net deferred tax assets iarlaépased upon the
level of historical income in Japan and future pctipns, the Company determined in the fourth guart 2012 that it was
probable it will realize the benefits of its futudeductible differences. As such, the Company selédhe valuation allowance
related to the remaining deferred tax assets iardapd recorded a $193 income tax benefit in theaalated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2012018 a portion of the Company’s profits in Japamenoffset by losses in
Japan. Accordingly, the Company’s deferred taxtdas#gapan decreased in 2013.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had fededhktate net operating losses of approximately $8ifllion and $43.4
million, respectively, which are available to offeture taxable income, if any, through 2033. Twmpany also had federal
and state research and development tax credit3.6frillion and $2.5 million, respectively, whickgére in various amounts
through 2033. The net operating loss and tax ceeddunts are subject to annual limitations undeti®® 382 change of
ownership rules under the U.S. Internal Revenuee@d 986, as amended. Through April 30, 2013CQbmpany completed
an assessment to determine whether there may le@veadbSection 382 ownership change and deterntia¢d ts more-likely-
than-not that the Company’s net operating and tedicamounts as disclosed are not subject to atgnal Section 382
limitations.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the poovisr uncertain tax positions under ASC 7H@ome TaxesThe
adoption did not have an impact on the Companyanmed earnings balance. At December 31, 2013 @hd,2he Company
had no recorded liabilities for uncertain tax posis.

Interest and penalty charges, if any, related tertain tax positions would be classified as incaaxeexpense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatitridecember 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company haatoed interest or
penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal tax jurisdiction, various state and variom®ign jurisdictions.
Since the Company is in a loss carryforward pasjttbe Company is generally subject to examinabipthe U.S. federal, state
and local income tax authorities for all tax yeiarsvhich a loss carryforward is available.

The Company’s current intention is to reinvestttital amount of its unremitted earnings in the lacgernational tax
jurisdiction or to repatriate the earnings only whax effective. As such, the Company has not piexvifor U.S. taxes on the
unremitted earnings of its international subsi@iariJpon repatriation of those earnings, in thenfof dividends or otherwise,
the Company may be subject to U.S. income taxdggsuto an adjustment for foreign tax credits) aitthholding taxes
payable to the various foreign countries. Detertidmaof the amount of the unrecognized deferred. th&me tax liability is
not practical due to the complexity associated Witk hypothetical calculation.

11. Debt

The Company has an amended loan and security agné€hine of Credit) with a lender providing for asset based line of
credit. Under the Line of Credit, the Company carrdw up to the lesser of (i) $10.0 million or @P% of the Company’s
eligible accounts receivable. Borrowing availagilinder the Line of Credit changes based uponniuat of eligible
receivables, concentration of eligible receivalaled other factors. The Company has the abilitybtaio letters of credit, which
reduce the borrowing availability of the Line ofe@it. Borrowings under the Line of Credit are secuby substantially all of
the Company'’s assets. Outstanding amounts undesirieeof Credit accrue interest at a rate equathéoprime rate plus 1.5%.
Advances under the Line of Credit are due on M&@h2015, and interest and related finance chagepayable monthly. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had noramoutstanding under the Line of Credit.
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11. Debt — (continued)

On June 24, 2011, the Company entered into thé [Eoen Modification Agreement (Modification Agreentgto the Line
of Credit. Pursuant to the terms of the Modificatigreement, during the year ended December 311,,28& Company drew
$7.0 million in term loan advances. In February2ahe Company repaid the $7.0 million balance utitke Modification
Agreement and made a final payment of $140,000esgmting 2% of the outstanding balance, pursuwettiet terms of the
Modification Agreement. As such, the Company haduistanding borrowings under the Modification Agreent at December
31, 2013.

12. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
Accrued payroll and related benefits $ 7600 $ 7,07(
Accrued sales and other taxes 1,367 1,38¢
Accrued professional fees and outside contractors 1,56¢ 65€
Accrued content delivery 2,31: 1,415
Accrued other liabilities 1,67 1,11¢

Total $ 14,52¢ $ 11,63¢

13. Segment Information

Disclosure requirements about segments of an eigergnd related information establishes standard®porting
information regarding operating segments in anfinahcial statements and requires selected infaomatf those segments to
be presented in interim financial reports issuestéakholders. Operating segments are identifiecbagonents of an
enterprise about which separate discrete finaindi@mation is available for evaluation by the dtoperating decision-maker,
or decision-making group, in making decisions ow ho allocate resources and assess performanceCdingany’s chief
decision maker is its chief executive officer. T@mpany and the chief decision maker view the Catygaoperations and
manage its business as one operating segment.

Geographic Data

Total revenue to unaffiliated customers by geogiaphea, based on the location of the customer asdsliows:
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Revenue:
North America $ 65,33t $ 55,83t $ 41,95:
Europe 27,18( 20,31« 14,48¢
Japan 6,491 5,94¢ 4,764
Asia Pacific 10,09t 5,17¢ 2,21¢
Other 787 70C 13€

Total revenue $109,89F $ 87,97 $ 63,56:¢

North America is comprised of revenue from the BadiStates, Canada and Mexico. During the yearsdeDdeember 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, revenue from customers lodatée United States was $60,195, $51,695 andB®B8respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@bd, no other country contributed more than 10%efCompany’s total



revenue.
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13. Segment Information — (continued)
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, property andpegemt at locations outside the United States wasnaderial.
14. 401(k) Savings Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution savijsign covering all eligible U.S. employees undecti®n 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Company contributions tqptae may be made at the discretion of the Boaoddate, the Company
has not made any contributions to the plan.

15. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

For the three months ended:

Dec. 31, Sept.30, June 30, March3l, Dec.31, Sept.30, June 30, March 31,

2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012

Revenue $29,74¢ $28,527 26,90 $24,727 $24,33¢ $22,07. 21,62( $19,94«
Gross profit 19,79C 19,27¢ 17,72¢ 16,307 16,73¢ 15,09¢ 15,17¢ 13,58(
Loss from operations (2,009 (1,319 (3,302 (3,872 (4,606 (3,719 (3,886) (3,24
Net loss attributable t

Brightcove Inc. (1,249 (1,268 (3,527 (4,229 (4,65)) (611) (4,33f) (3,58¢)
Basic and diluted net loss |

share $ (0.0H $ (0.0 (0.12 $ (0.1 $ (0.17) $ (0.09 (0.1¢) $ (0.29)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our ppatexecutive officer and principal financial aféir, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praocesl (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{@¢nuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchang®)Aas of the end of the period covered by this:Aal Report on Form
10-K. Based on such evaluation, our principal ekeewfficer and principal financial officer havertcluded that as of such
date, our disclosure controls and procedures wézetive.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Ovéiinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Anternal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaficial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles, and includes those policies pratedures that: (i)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaealsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thenactions and dispositions of
our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurancdrdratactions are recorded as necessary to perepiagation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepteauating principles, and that our receipts and esjiares are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of our mamagnt and directors; and (iii) provide reasonabiieance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use or disposition of our assets that ddwdve a material effect on
our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutiufe periods are subject to the risk that contmdy become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the éegfreompliance with the policies or procedures mietgriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det@mn31, 2013 using
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponspidrganizations of the Treadway Commission (COB@} Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (1992). Based ondkisessment and those criteria, management concdhuatenlur internal
control over financial reporting was effective dbecember 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealby Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrfirm, as stated in their report which is inohadherein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportmn

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting during our most recent fiscahger that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantreporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountifigm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Brightcove Inc.

We have audited Brightcove Inc.’s internal conteér financial reporting as of December 31, 205360l on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framéwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway
Commission (1992 framework) (the COSO criteriajgBicove Inc.’s management is responsible for nadmirig effective
internal control over financial reporting, and fsrassessment of the effectiveness of internaraobaver financial reporting
included in the accompanying Management’s AnnugldReon Internal Control Over Financial Reporti@yur responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s internatrobover financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d&nited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatiwether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. Our audit includbthining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assiag the risk that a material weakness existsngsind evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal controkldasn the assessed risk, and performing such ptheedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audit provides a reasonable basisupopinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacsi of the financial statements for external pugsom accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comjsaimgernal control over financial reporting inckeslthose policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenanceadrds that, in reasonable detail, accurately amly freflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactionse@eded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princj@ad that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediaggrrevention or timely detection of unauthorizedjuisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢tmisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutiufe periods are subject to the risk that contmdy become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the éegfreompliance with the policies or procedures mietgriorate.

In our opinion, Brightcove Inc. maintained, in mlhterial respects, effective internal control deancial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States),
the consolidated balance sheets as of Decemb@033,and 2012, and the related consolidated statsméoperations,
comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible prefaticeck and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and clistvs for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2DB&ghtcove Inc. and our report dated March 10l2@xpressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 10, 2014

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporée Governance

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting tafcBholders, which
we will file with the SEC within 120 days of thecepf the fiscal year to which this Annual Reportform 10-K relates.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting tafcBholders, which
we will file with the SEC within 120 days of thecepf the fiscal year to which this Annual Reportform 10-K relates.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting tafcBholders, which
we will file with the SEC within 120 days of thedepf the fiscal year to which this Annual Reportfeorm 10-K relates.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans and Director Independence

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting tafcBholders, which
we will file with the SEC within 120 days of thedepf the fiscal year to which this Annual Reportfeorm 10-K relates.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting tafcBholders, which
we will file with the SEC within 120 days of thecepf the fiscal year to which this Annual Reportform 10-K relates.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements and Schedes
(a)(1) Financial Statements.

The response to this portion of Iltem 15 is setfartder Item 8 above.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules have been omitted because they daneqoired or because the required informatiorivergin the
Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thexettéorth under Item 8 above.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index immediately following thersidure page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. &kleibits listed in
the Exhibit Index below are filed or incorporatedriference as part of this Annual Report on FofaK1
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usidered, thereunto duly authorized.

BRIGHTCOVE INC.
By:/s/ David Mendels

David Mendels
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose individual signature appearswbleémeby constitutes and appoints Christopher Meaad Andrew
Feinberg, and each of them, with full power of ditbbson and resubstitution and full power to adtheut the other, as his or
her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agentdbim his or her name, place and stead and to éxétthe name and on behalf
of each person, individually and in each capadayes! below, and to file any and all amendmenthioAnnual Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhiliiereto, and other documents in connection thehewith the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfadt and agents, and each of them, full powerantority to do and
perform each and every act and thing, ratifying emafirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and @igeor any of them or their
or his substitute or substitutes may lawfully daause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in theatipa and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ David Mendels Chief Executive Officer and Director March 10, 2014
(Principal Executive Officer)

David Mendels

/sl Christopher Menard Chief Financial Officer March 10, 2014
(Principal Financial Officer)

Christopher Menard

/sl Christopher Stagno Chief Accounting Officer March 10, 2014
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Christopher Stagno
/sl Jeremy Allaire Chairman of the Board of Directors March 10, 2014

Jeremy Allaire
/s/ Deborah Besemer Director March 10, 2014

Deborah Besemer
/s/ Derek Harrar Director March 10, 2014

Derek Harrar
/sl Scott Kurnit Director March 10, 2014

Scott Kurnit
/s/ Elizabeth Nelson Director March 10, 2014




Elizabeth Nelsol
/s/ David Orfao Director March 10, 2014

David Orfao
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibits
21*@® Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@62, by and among the Registrant, Zebra
Acquisition Corporation, Zencoder Inc. and the Si¢glolders’ Representative named therein.
3.1*@ Eleventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Inm@fion.
3.2%(3) Amended and Restated By-Laws.
4.1* @) Form of Common Stock certificate of the Registrant.
4.2* (5) Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agmetetaged January 17, 2007, by and an
the Registrant, the investors listed therein, ardrdy Allaire, as amended.
4.3*(6) Warrant to Purchase Stock dated August 31, 200@dsby the Registrant to GE Capital CFE,
Inc.
4.4% (1) Warrant to Purchase Stock dated August 31, 200@dsby the Registrant to TriplePoint Capital
LLC.
4.5+ (8) Brightcove Inc. RSU Inducement Plan.
4.6* ) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement unither Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSU
Inducement Plan.
10.1* (10) Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and its directors and executive
officers.
10.21*11)  Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option and IneeRiian of the Registrant, together with
forms of award agreement.
10.31*(12 2012 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant.
10.41*(13)  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2B&2 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.51(14) Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement formany Employees under the 2012 Stock
Incentive Plan.
10.6* (15) Lease dated February 28, 2007 between MortimemuBk&man, Edward H. Linde and Michael
A. Cantalupa, as Trustees of One Cambridge Cemtest &nd Brightcove Inc., as amended.
10.7* (16) Lease dated June 15, 2011 between BP Russia Wh@rahd Brightcove Inc.
10.8*(7) Loan and Security Agreement dated March 30, 20hiiden Silicon Valley Bank and
Brightcove Inc., as amended.
10.9*(18) Second Loan Modification Agreement dated April 2013 between Silicon Valley Bank and

10.101*(19)
10.111*(20)
10.12+*(21)
10.131*(22)
10.141*(23)
10.151*(24)

10.16*(29)

10.174*()
10.181*@7
10.191+(28)

Brightcove Inc.

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betwleemRegistrant and Jeremy Allaire.
Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betwleemRegistrant and David Mendels.
Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betwleemRegistrant and Edward Godin.
Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betwleemRegistrant and Christopher Menard.
Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betwleeRegistrant and Andrew Feinberg.

Employment Separation Agreement dated Januaryl® Bétween the Registrant and Edward
Godin.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datgd23uR013 between Brightcove Inc. ¢
Jeremy Allaire

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.
Senior Executive Incentive Bonus Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under2B&2 Stock Incentive Plan.
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Exhibits

10.201*(29)  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement fan@any Employees under the 2012 St
Incentive Plan.

10.211*39  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement farNEmployee Directors under the 2012
Stock Incentive Plan.

10.22*B1)  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement forrNEmployee Directors under the 2012
Stock Incentive Plan.

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firm.

24.1** Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

31.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1%*%e Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chieinancial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS+ XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docute
101.DEF+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
101.LAB+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Dogenin

(1) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s CutrBeport on Form 8-K filed with the Securities d&xthange Commission on
July 26, 2012.

(2) Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 5 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Forrh f8ed with the Securities ar
Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(3) Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 5 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Forrh f8ed with the Securities ar
Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(4) Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 5 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Forrh fsed with the Securities ar
Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(5) Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Regisbn Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Se@siand Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(6) Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Regisbn Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Se@siand Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(7) Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Regisbn Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Se@siand Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(8) Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Regisbn Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Se@siand Exchange
Commission on August 14, 2012.

(9) Filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Regisbn Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Se@siand Exchange
Commission on August 14, 2012.

(10)Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRggnt's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéth the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(11)Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s RegigtraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Securiied Exchange



Commission on August 24, 2011.

(12)Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRegnt's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéth the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(13)Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRegnt's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéth the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.
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(14)Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRggnt's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéth the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(15)Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s RegigtraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Securiied Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(16)Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s RegigtraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Securiied Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(17)Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s RegigtraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Securiied Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(18)Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s CurreepBrt on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and BExage Commission on
April 30, 2013.

(19)Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s RegigtraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Securiied Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(20)Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s RegtsraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Secwitiad Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(21)Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s RegisraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Secwitiad Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(22)Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s RegttraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Secwitiad Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(23)Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s RegitraStatement on Form S-1 filed with the Secwsitiaad Exchange
Commission on August 24, 2011.

(24)Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s AnnuapBrt on Form 10-K filed with the Securities anccBEange Commission
on March 5, 2013.

(25)Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s CurreapBrt on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and BExege Commission on
July 25, 2013.

(26)Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(27)Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRgant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(28)Filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRgant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(29)Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRgant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(30)Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRgant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

(31)Filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRgant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filéith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 6, 2012.

* Incorporated herein by reference.
** Filed herewith.

» The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hierare deemed to accompany this Annual Report omB®-K and will not
be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of $eeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Setifications will
not be deemed to be incorporated by referenceaimydilings under the Securities Act of 1933, agaded, or the Securiti
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to thenettiat the Registrant specifically incorporatdsyireference.

+ In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation SHEse XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Langudgeuments are
furnished and not filed or a part of a registrattaitement or prospectus for purposes of Sectibrs 12 of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of the SiEsiExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otseraiie not subject to
liability under these sections.



t Indicates a management contract or any compeamggaiam, contract or arrangement.




Name

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Organization

Brightcove UK Ltd

Brightcove Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Brightcove K.K.

Brightcove Korea
Brightcove Australia Pty Ltd
Brightcove Holdings, Inc.
Bright Bay Co. Ltd.
Zencoder Inc.

Brightcove FZ-LLC

Cacti Acquisition LLC

UK

Singapore

Japan

Korea
Australia
Delaware

China
Delaware

United Arab Emirates

Delaware




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifolewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1799@8taining to the Amended and Restated 2004 Sigtlon and
Incentive Plan of Brightcove Inc. and the Brighteduc. 2012 Stock Incentive Plan,

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-183®#5taining to the Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSU Indueat Plan,
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-18F@®&ttaining to the Brightcove Inc. 2012 Stock Imidee Plan,

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3®3701) pertaining to the Brightcove Inc. 2014 &@ption Inducement Ple
and the Brightcove Inc. 2012 Stock Incentive P&ard

(5) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-192b3Brightcove Inc.;

of our reports dated March 10, 2014, with respethé consolidated financial statements of Brighcmc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting of Brightcove Inc. included in this AnniRéport (Form 10-K) of
Brightcove Inc. for the year ended December 313201

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 10, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David Mendels, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiBrightcove Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact or eonditate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvwesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the registesmnof, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedot®s designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinéion relating to the registrant, including itmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financiplaring, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegiig’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during th:
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to Brélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorgldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s/ David Mendels

David Mendels
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christopher Menard, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiBrightcove Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact or eonditate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvwesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the registesmnof, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedot®s designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinéion relating to the registrant, including itmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financiplaring, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegiig’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during th:
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to Brélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorgldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardicéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s/ Christopher Menard

Christopher Menard
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fkBadghtcove Inc. for the year ended December 31,2as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetgatof (the “Report”), David Mendels, as Chief Bxtaee Officer of
Brightcove Inc., hereby certifies, pursuant to 18.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge Report fully complies with the requirements of &t 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the infornmationtained in the Report fairly presents, in altenial respects, the
financial condition and results of operations oigBtcove Inc.

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s/ David Mendels

David Mendels
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fkBadghtcove Inc. for the year ended December 31,2as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetgatof (the “Report”), Christopher Menard, as Clrigfancial Officer of
Brightcove Inc., hereby certifies, pursuant to 18.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge Report fully complies with the requirements of &t 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the infornmationtained in the Report fairly presents, in altenial respects, the
financial condition and results of operations oigBtcove Inc.

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s/ Christopher Menard

Christopher Menard
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




